# Contribution of the Big 5 personality traits to the mental health of Canadian adults and youth during the COVID-19 pandemic

by

Anahita Shokrkon

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Psychology University of Alberta

© Anahita Shokrkon, 2023

#### Abstract:

The Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) epidemic was first detected in China in December 2019 and spread to other countries quickly. Many studies have shown that the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected mental health. Individual differences such as personality could influence people's responses to the pandemic. In our first study, we examined how personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion (using the Five-Factor Model as our framework) were related to the mental health of Canadians during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic. Using data from an online survey with 1096 responses and controlling for demographic variables, we found that personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion are associated with the current mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic, with Extraversion positively related to mental health and Neuroticism negatively related to it. In our second study, we tried to replicate the results of our first study, a year later, in the second year of the pandemic. Our results were similar to our first study and we found that Extraversion was positively and Neuroticism negatively was associated with the mental health of Canadians. We also extended our first study by including all 5 personality traits in our analysis and controlling for coping and response to COVID-19 stress (in addition to demographic variables) and found that Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness were positively and significantly related to the mental health of Canadians. In our third study, we examined how personality traits (using the Five-Factor Model as our framework and controlling for coping and response to COVID-19 stress and demographic variables) and coping and response to COVID-19 stress were related to the mental health of Canadian children and adolescents during the second year of the pandemic. Using parent reports of 100 preschoolers and 607 7–18-year-old children, we found that the big 5 personality traits were associated with the mental health of Canadian youth during COVID-19 pandemic. In preschoolers,

Neuroticism and Agreeableness predicted the most mental health problems, and in 6-18-year-old children, Extraversion negatively predicted the most mental health problems. Also, Openness to Experience was the weakest predictor of mental health status in Canadian youth. Furthermore, we conducted a moderated hierarchical regression analysis to determine whether the relationship between personality traits and SDQ variables is moderated by age in 7–18-year-old children. Our results indicated that age did not moderate the relationship between personality traits and SDQ variables with the exception of a negative interaction effect between age and Extraversion on Hyperactivity/Inattention and a very weak positive interaction effect between age and Conscientiousness on Total Difficulty score.

The results of this study could have important implications for mental health research, prevention, and treatment of mental health issues in adults and children. For instance, since the results of our study showed that different individuals with different personality traits are experiencing the pandemic differently, thus, they may need mental health services that are more specifically tailored to their personality type. Also, our findings could help healthcare providers to develop more targeted interventions for prevention or treatment. Moreover, by identifying personality traits that could put children at risk for mental health problems, healthcare professionals and caregivers can take steps to intervene early and prevent the development of more severe mental health problems and also tailor treatment plans for children with mental health issues.

#### Preface

This thesis is an original work by Anahita Shokrkon. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "How personality predicts the effects of COVID-19 epidemic on mental health of Canadians", No. Pro00100751, May 15, 2020.

Chapter 2 of this thesis has been published by A. Shokrkon, and E. Nicoladis, "How personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion predict the effects of COVID-19 on the mental health of Canadians" PLOS ONE, vol. 16, issue 5, e0251097. I was responsible for the conceptualization, data collection, and analysis as well as the manuscript composition. E. Nicoladis was responsible for the supervision, reviewing, and editing. To my husband Saman, my parents, Nahid and Mohammadkazem and my brother Arya For all their love, support, and companionship.

#### Acknowledgments

My sincere gratitude goes out to my supervisor, Dr. Elena Nicoladis, for her unending encouragement, support, and mentorship throughout my graduate studies. Thank you for being an excellent supervisor and source of positive energy. I would like to also thank my cosupervisor, Dr. Sandra Wiebe, for her support and encouragement, and my committee member, Dr. Kyle Nash, for his valuable feedback on my thesis. I would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to my dear friend, Farzaneh, whose willingness to listen and support me during this challenging journey have been an immense source of comfort and encouragement. I am also grateful for all her help with formatting my dissertation.

My heartfelt thanks go out to my family and friends, my husband Saman, my family, and my friend Shervin, who have always inspired my courage and kept me going.

Lastly, I would like to thank all participants who took the time and energy to participate in my study. Without your participation, this study would not have been possible.

Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
What is Mental Health?	2
COVID-19 History across the world and in Canada	4
COVID-19 pandemic and mental health	6
Personality	
Personality and Mental Health	
Current Research	
Hypotheses	
Chapter 2	
Study 1: How personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion predict the effect 19 on the mental health of Canadians	ets of COVID- 15
Abstract:	
Introduction	
The present study	
Materials and methods	
Participants	
Measures	
Mental Health	
Extraversion and Neuroticism Traits	
Demographics	
Analyses	
Results	
Discussion	
Neuroticism	
Extraversion	
Limitations and future directions	
Conclusion	
Chapter 3	

### Table of Contents

the COVID-19 pandemic: A Replication and Extension Study	
Abstract:	
Introduction:	
Method	
Participants	
Procedure	
Measures	
Mental Health	
Personality	
Responses to Stress Questionnaire (RSQ) COVID-19	
Demographics	
Statistical Analyses	
Results	
Discussion	
Neuroticism	
Extraversion	
Agreeableness	59
Openness to Experience	59
Conscientiousness	60
Conclusion	61
Chapter 4	
Study 3: Mental Health in Canadian Children and Adolescents during COVI Role of Personality and, Coping and Stress Responses	D-19 Pandemic: The63
Abstract:	
Introduction	
The Present Study	
Participants	69
Measures	
Mental Health	

	Personality	. 71
	Preschoolers' Measurement	. 71
	7–18-year-olds Measurement	. 71
	Coping and Response to Stress	. 72
	Demographic Variables	. 73
	Statistical Analyses	. 76
	Results	. 77
	Preschool Children	. 77
	7–18-year-old children	. 82
	Moderating effect of age among 7–18-year-old children	. 87
	Preschool Children	. 87
	Mental Health and Personality Traits in Preschoolers	. 88
	Neuroticism	88
	Agreeableness	. 89
	Conscientiousness	. 90
	Extraversion	. 90
	Openness to Experience	. 91
	7–18-year-old children	. 91
	Mental Health and Personality Traits in 7–18-year-old children	. 93
	Extraversion	93
	Conscientiousness	. 95
	Neuroticism	95
	Agreeableness	. 96
	Openness to Experience	. 96
	General Conclusion	. 97
C	hapter 5	100
Ľ	viscussion, Implications, and Recommendations	100
	Summary of the Results	101
	Hypothesis 1 and 2	102
	Hypothesis 3	103

Hypothesis 4	103
Hypothesis 5	
Implications	
Limitations and future directions	
Conclusion	
References	

List of Tables

Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3.	
Table 4	
Table 5	
Table 6	
Table 7	74
Table 8	
Table 9	
Table 10	
Table 11	
Table 12	

Chapter 1

Introduction

#### Introduction

The Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) first emerged in Wuhan, China, in late 2019 and rapidly spread worldwide (Wang et al., 2020). The COVID-19 outbreak was listed as a global public health emergency on January 30, 2020, by the World Health Organization (WHO) (WHO, 2020). The effects of the pandemic and its consequences (such as social distancing measures, increased unemployment, financial insecurity, school closures, and daily routine disruptions) have been extensive and far-reaching, impacting almost every aspect of life, including mental health. Many studies have shown that mental health has been adversely affected due to the pandemic, resulting in increased stress, anxiety, and depression reported across the globe (Cullen et al., 2020; Moreno et al., 2020; Usher et al., 2020).

However, not all individuals experienced the psychological effects of changes caused by COVID-19 similarly (Williams et al., 2020). For instance, previous research suggested that individual differences, such as genetics, life experiences, and personality, could significantly contribute to how individuals experience a crisis, therefore, affecting their mental health (Kotov et al., 2010; Tiet et al., 2001).

In this dissertation, I specifically explore the contribution of personality traits to the mental health of Canadians (youth and adults) during the COVID-19 pandemic. This dissertation will begin with an overview of mental health and the novel Coronavirus, the changes it caused, and its impact on mental health. Then, I will elaborate more on personality traits and how they could affect mental health.

#### What is Mental Health?

Mental health is defined as "a state of well-being in which the individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community" (WHO, 2005a). Mental health also involves the integration of the individual's mental state, functioning in a social context, and the individual's psychological functioning (Lamars et al., 2011; WHO, 2005b). Furthermore, it influences how we deal with stress, interact with others, and make healthy decisions (WHO, 2018). Mental health is not only referred to as an absence of psychopathological symptoms, it is also defined as the experience of feelings of well-being (Westerhof & Keyes, 2010).

The most recent research on positive mental health is based on two long-standing theories: the hedonic and the eudaimonic concepts (Keyes et al., 2002). The hedonic tradition refers to feelings of happiness, and satisfaction and defines well-being in terms of attaining pleasure and avoiding pain (Keyes et al., 2007). Hedonic well-being is a multidimensional construct, encompassing general evaluations of life on an emotional level (e.g., life satisfaction), and the experience of positive affect and the absence of negative affect (Diener, 2000; Diener et al., 1999). Researchers who focus on emotional well-being are working in accordance with the hedonic tradition (Diener et al., 1999).

The eudaimonic tradition places emphasis on individual strivings and self-realization and defines well-being in terms of how optimally a person functions (Deci & Ryan, 2008). Ryff's conceptual and empirical work has had the greatest influence as she identified six basic elements of positive functioning that together make up psychological well-being (Ryff, 1989; Ryff & Keyes, 1995). These six elements are *Self-acceptance* (the acceptance of past and present aspects of oneself), *Purpose in life* (life goals and beliefs that provide direction and meaning), *Autonomy* (self-direction determined by internal standards that are socially accepted), *Positive relationships with others* (maintaining fulfilling personal relationships expressing empathy and intimacy),

*Environmental mastery* (managing a complex environment in accordance with one's needs), and *Personal growth* (knowledge of one's potential for growth).

Ryff's research is primarily concerned with optimal functioning with regard to individual fulfillment. Another researcher, Keyes (1998), has suggested that it is also important to examine the optimal social functioning of individuals with regard to social involvement and embeddednesss in society. He identified the following five dimensions of an optimally functioning individual in society: *Social coherence*: being able to make meaning of what is happening in society; *Social acceptance*: being positive towards others as well as understanding their challenges), *Social actualization* (believing that the community is capable of evolving positively), *Social contribution* (one's sense of contributing to society and being valued by it), and *Social integration* (a feeling of community membership). Hedonic well-being (emotional well-being) and the psychological and societal aspects of eudaimonic well-being together constitute the definition of positive mental health (Keyes, 2005). These are the aspects of mental health we focused on in the present studies, particularly in our studies on adults.

The mental health of an individual could be affected by a variety of factors, including genetics, life experiences, stress, physical health, social relationships and support, and cultural and societal factors. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, all aspects of life were affected, which could, in turn, have an adverse effect on mental health. In the next sections of this dissertation, we will focus on the history of COVID-19 and how it could affect mental health.

#### COVID-19 History across the world and in Canada

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a viral illness caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). The first known case was detected in Wuhan, China, in

December 2019 (Page et al., 2021). The illness spread rapidly throughout the world, causing the COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 outbreak was declared a global health emergency on January 30, 2020, by the WHO (WHO, 2020). The COVID-19 virus causes a number of physical symptoms, such as fever, cough, headache, fatigue, difficulty breathing, olfactory loss, and loss of taste (Kooraki et al., 2020; Saniasiaya et al., 2021).

In Canada, the first COVID-19 case was identified on January 25, 2020 (Canadian Institute of Health Information, 2022). So far, there have been more than 4.5 million cases of the disease, and more than 50 thousand people lost their lives in Canada (Government of Canada, 2023). Since the beginning of the pandemic, governments and public health authorities across Canada introduced many public health measures including\_non-medical mask use, physical distancing, isolation, and quarantine.

The data from the first round of our study (adults) was gathered during the first and second waves of the pandemic (June and July 2020). During that period, many changes occurred in Canada for example, a state of emergency was declared, social restriction measures were introduced, lockdown rules were implemented, schools and universities were closed and unemployment rates significantly increased (Statistics Canada, 2021). Moreover, a profound decline in the mental health of Canadians was also reported. For instance, Statistics Canada reported declines in mental health: in 2020 48% of Canadians reported having excellent or very good mental health compared to 68% in 2019.

The data of the second round of our study (children and adults) was gathered during the third wave of the pandemic (June and July 2021). At that time, provinces entered and exited lockdown, many social restrictions were still in place, and vaccinations had been started in November 2020 in Canada. According to the Public Health Agency of Canada positive mental

health continued to decline in 2021 and the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected more than seven out of ten Canadians (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2021). Also, results of a survey on COVID-19 and Mental Health revealed that one in four (25%) Canadians over the age of 18 displayed symptoms of depression, anxiety, or posttraumatic stress disorder in spring 2021, an increase from one in five (21%) in fall 2020 (Stats Canada, 2021).

#### **COVID-19** pandemic and mental health

The COVID-19 pandemic and the associated changes to how people live their lives have contributed to a significant increase in risk factors associated with mental health problems. For instance, lockdown rules and social distancing measures have contributed to feelings of loneliness and isolation, in particular among seniors and individuals who were living alone (Hwang et al., 2020). Due to the downturn in the economy, many people have faced financial insecurity and stress, particularly those who lost their jobs or had their hours reduced (Statistics Canada, 2022). The closure of schools and universities disrupted education for millions of students and caused widespread learning loss (Viner et al., 2020). The pandemic has forced many small and mediumsized businesses to close, resulting in substantial economic losses (Gostin & Wiley, 2020). As a result of the pandemic, daily routines have been disrupted, such as work, school, and social activities, resulting in feelings of uncertainty and instability (Murray et al., 2021). Due to the pandemic, stress and workload have increased among those who care for children, sick family members, or aging relatives (Wade et al., 2021). Also, the pandemic has caused traumatic experiences that may have a lasting effect on the mental health of affected individuals, such as healthcare workers and those who have lost loved ones (Carson et al., 2021; d'Ettorre et al., 2021). The pandemic has also disrupted access to mental health services and resources, preventing some people from getting the help they need (Brunier & Drysdale, 2020). Moreover, confinement at home has led to more tension and violence in some relationships and along with disruptions to support systems, this could be a contributing factor to the increased psychological distress and mental health issues (Kourti et al., 2021). Lastly, fear of the disease, becoming infected, or spreading the virus to loved ones could also result in constant worry and stress, impacting the mental health of individuals during the pandemic (Fitzpatrick et al., 2021).

Numerous studies during the pandemic showed that many people were experiencing increased symptoms of depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, and stress due to the psychosocial stressors caused by the pandemic (Chamaa et al., 2021; Lei et al., 2020; Cullen et al., 2020; Moreno et al., 2020; Usher et al., 2020). Moreover, stress, anxiety, and isolation caused by the pandemic, along with the disruption of treatment and recovery services, could raise the possibility of substance abuse, addiction, and relapse (Hulsey et al., 2020). Other types of behavioral addiction such as gaming and gambling, as a result of lockdowns and self-quarantine, and food addiction, as a distraction or escape from the pandemic isolation, have also significantly increased (Balhara et al., 2020; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021). Studies have also found that the prevalence of insomnia has also increased during the pandemic which could be the result of stressful life events and concerns about finances and employment (Morin et al., 2021).

Nevertheless, individuals did not experience similar psychological effects as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic (Williams et al., 2020). For example, it is suggested that individual differences, such as genetics, life experiences, and personality, affect how an individual experiences a crisis, ultimately affecting their mental health (Kotov et al., 2010; Tiet et al., 2001). In this dissertation, we are studying how *personality traits* contribute to people's mental health during the pandemic. In the following section, I will provide a more detailed explanation of personality and theories.

#### Personality

Personality refers to people's unique and fundamental characteristic patterns of thoughts, feelings, and behaviors that distinguish people from one another (Diener et al., 2019; Matthews et al., 2003). It determines how a person views the world and communicates with others, and it tends to remain fairly stable throughout one's lifetime (Diener et al., 2019). Personality psychologists have developed taxonomies and various trait models have been proposed over the years, and there has been controversy over which is the most appropriate model (John & Srivastava, 1999; McCrae & Costa, 2013). Among the previous prominent models were Eysenck's Personality Inventory (Eysenck & Eysenck, 1964) and Cattell's 16 Personality Factors (Cattell, 1988).

The Five-Factor Model (FFM) is currently the most widely accepted and consensual personality model, the main personality domains consist of Extraversion, Neuroticism, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness (McCrae & Costa, 2008). Each personality trait represents a continuum, and individuals can fall anywhere on the continuum (Goldberg, 1993). These traits are clusters of a number of distinct traits; thus, they encompass many different facets of personality (Goldberg, 1993). There are also many researchers examining the applicability of the FFM of personality to children (Halverson et al., 1994; Kohnstamm et al., 1998). The FFM framework has been shown to be valid and applicable to children as young as preschool age and several studies have identified five factors comparable to the FFM traits in adults (Asendorpf & Denissen, 2006; Grist & McCord, 2010; Halverson et al., 1994; Mervielde & Asendorpf, 2000).

Extraversion (vs. Introversion) describes individuals who enjoy socializing, and are energetic, enthusiastic, and action-oriented (Taylor & Broffman, 2011) They tend to experience more positive emotions and they tend to get stimulation from being in the company of others

resulting in increasing their level of positive emotions (Watson et al., 1992). Extraversion trait has shown to be stable throughout adulthood and has shown strong cross-cultural generality (Walker, 2020). Extraversion is usually associated with higher positive mental health and higher levels of subjective well-being (Carver & Scheier, 2014; Diener et al., 1999) since individuals who score high on Extraversion tend to engage in social activities that increase their level of positive emotions (Pavot et al., 1990; Watson et al., 1992).

Neuroticism (or Emotional instability vs. Stability) corresponds to persons who tend to be pervasively sensitive to negative cues, worry or ruminate constantly and experience negative emotions (such as anger, anxiety, depression, or vulnerability) more often (Borders, 2020; Costa and McCrae 1985). Also, individuals who score high on Neuroticism are more likely to avoid social interactions, be reserved, and prefer solitary activities over social activities (McCrae & Costa, 1991). A high level of Neuroticism has been associated with a variety of psychological disorders, such as anxiety disorders, mood disorders, substance abuse disorders, eating disorders, personality and conduct disorders, somatoform disorders, and schizophrenia (Jylhä et al., 2009; Kotov et al., 2010; Rosmalen et al., 2007; Widiger & Oltmanns, 2017).

Agreeableness (vs. Antagonism) represents the tendency to concur and agree with others, especially authority figures (Ellis et al., 2018). It characterizes the tendency to be kind, cooperative, considerate, friendly, flexible, generous, and helpful (Graziano & Tobin, 2009). Agreeableness also describes an individual's tendency to build and maintain prosocial relationships (Nguyen et al., 2013). Agreeableness is associated with positive affect, psychological well-being, and mental health (DeNeve & Cooper, 1998; Schmutte & Ryff, 1997).

Openness to Experience (or Unconventionality) refers to being creative, inventive, open to novel ideas, and having a willingness to try new things (LePine, 2003). Individuals who score high on Openness to Experience usually exhibit a strong aesthetic sense and are willing to take on new challenges even though they could involve some risk (McCrae, 1987). Openness to Experience has been associated with overall well-being (Ahmad Marzuki, 2013; Dong & Ni, 2020; Keyes et al., 2002) and positive concepts such as positive emotions, individual growth, autonomy, life purpose, and independence (Anglim & Horwood, 2020; Anglim et al., 2020; Dong & Ni, 2020; Keyes, 2005).

Conscientiousness (or Constraint vs. Disinhibition) denotes a tendency to be careful, efficient, and organized, to show self-discipline, to be on time and to be goal-oriented, and to favor planned over spontaneous behavior (Roberts et al., 2005). Conscientiousness refers to the level of responsibility, and organization that people exhibit and the qualities of being prudent, and dependable (Barrick & Mount, 1991). Individuals with high Conscientiousness scores are less susceptible to adverse effects of anxiety, depression, and stress (Kotov et al., 2010; Tran et al., 2020).

#### **Personality and Mental Health**

Studies have demonstrated that personality plays an important part in well-being and mental health (e.g., Costa & McCrae, 1980; Diener, 1984; Diener & Larsen, 1993; Diener & Lucas, 1999; Myers & Diener, 1995). Of the five personality traits, Extraversion and Neuroticism have been studied the most. A study by Costa and McCrae (1980) demonstrated that personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion explained variance in well-being and that personality significantly predicts well-being after 20 years (Costa & McCrae, 1984). Other more recent studies

have also found that there is a strong negative relationship between Neuroticism and well-being and mental health and a strong positive relationship between Extraversion and well-being and mental health (Anglim et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2008). McCrae & Costa (1991) also discovered that in addition to Neuroticism and Extraversion being associated with well-being, Conscientiousness, and Agreeableness are also associated with well-being. Openness to experience has also been found to be associated with well-being (Dong & Ni, 2020; Keyes et al., 2002).

There is no established model to explain how personality traits could contribute to mental health. Nevertheless, various mechanisms have been suggested as explanations for the associations between personality traits with mental health. These suggested mechanisms incorporate both biological and behavioral pathways.

For instance, mental health and personality may share biological components. According to Gray's (1990) Reinforcement Sensitivity theory, the Behavioral Inhibition System (linked to anxiety and related to avoidance and inhibition when encountering danger and conflict) and the Behavioral Approach System (regulating positive approach behavior by motivating actions toward accomplishing goals and achieving positive emotional rewards) are comprised of multiple brain regions and circuits that are linked to both personality and well-being (Elliot & Thrash, 2002). There is also some evidence showing that Neuroticism and psychopathology and Extraversion and positive mental health share a similar physiological basis (Smits & Boeck, 2006). For instance, serotonin, a neurotransmitter related to both Behavioral Inhibition System and the Behavioral Approach System) is associated with both Neuroticism and psychopathology, while dopamine is associated with both Extraversion and positive affect (Costa & McCrae, 2008; Lasky-Su et al., 2005).

Moreover, personality may provide opportunities for life events and foster environments that contribute to mental health via behavioral pathways (Ozer & Benet-Martínez, 2006). For instance, people who score higher in Neuroticism are more susceptible to negative affect, are more likely to experience negative life events, are more likely to interpret them negatively, and are more likely to maintain the negative affect for a long period of time (Widiger & Oltmanns, 2017). On the other hand, people who score higher in Extraversion are more likely to experience positive life events (Magnus et al., 1993), experience greater amounts of positive emotions during social interactions (Pavot et al., 1990), and participate more actively in social settings, which could contribute to more positive emotions (Watson et al., 1992).

#### **Current Research**

In our current study, we investigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Canadian youth and adults, considering their personality traits. Our first study is a cross-sectional study conducted in 2020, we recruited 1096 participants and investigated how Neuroticism and Extraversion personality traits are related to the mental health of Canadians during the pandemic. Our second study is a cross-sectional study, for this study we recruited 1392 new adult participants to see if we can replicate the pattern, we found in our first study a year later (using the same mental health and personality questionnaires). We also extended the first study by including all Big 5 personality traits in our analysis. For our third study, in 2021, 100 parents of preschool children and 607 parents of 6-18-year-old children were recruited to complete mental health, personality, and response to stress questionnaires to determine how the personality traits of children and adolescents influence their well-being during the pandemic.

Understanding the relationships between personality traits and mental health variables enables an understanding that the pandemic and its consequences might affect individuals with different personalities differently and it could contribute to the growing body of evidence that interventions with mental health would be more effective if they were tailored to the individual's personality.

#### Hypotheses

- Hypothesis 1 (Study 1): Personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion are associated with the well-being of Canadian adults during the first year of the pandemic (after controlling for demographic variables). Neuroticism negatively contributes to positive mental health and Extraversion Positively contributes to positive mental health.
- 2. Hypothesis 2 (Study 2; replication of study 1): The results of the first study will be replicated. Neuroticism is negatively associated with positive mental health and Extraversion is positively associated with the positive mental health of Canadian adults a year later in the pandemic (after controlling for demographic variables and Coping and Response to Stress variables).
- 3. Hypothesis 3 (Study 2; Expansion of study 1): Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are positively associated with the mental health of Canadians during the pandemic (after controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to stress variables).
- 4. Hypothesis 4 (Study 3): Personality traits are associated with the mental health of Canadian preschoolers during the COVID-19 pandemic with Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness negatively associated with Total Difficulty score, Emotional Symptoms, Conduct Problems, Hyperactivity/Inattention, Peer Relationship Problems (using SDQ measure) and Neuroticism positively related to them (after

controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to stress variables). Also, Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are positively associated with Prosocial Behaviour and Neuroticism is negatively associated with it in preschoolers.

- 5. Hypothesis 5 (Study 3): Personality traits are associated with the mental health of 7–18year-old children during the COVID-19 pandemic with Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness negatively associated with Total Difficulty score, Emotional Symptoms, Conduct Problems, Hyperactivity/Inattention, Peer Relationship Problems (using SDQ measure) and Neuroticism positively related to them (after controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to stress variables). Also, Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are positively associated with Prosocial Behaviour and Neuroticism is negatively associated with it in 7–18-year-old children.
- 6. Hypothesis 6 (Study 3): Age does not moderate the relationship between personality traits (Neuroticism, Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness) and SDQ variables (Total Difficulty score, Emotional Symptoms, Conduct Problems, Hyperactivity/Inattention, Peer Relationship Problems and Prosocial Behavior) in 7–18-year-old children, after controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to stress variables.

### Chapter 2

## Study 1: How personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion predict the effects of COVID-19 on the mental health of Canadians

Shokrkon, A., & Nicoladis, E. (2021). How personality traits of neuroticism and extroversion predict the effects of the COVID-19 on the mental health of Canadians. *Plos one*, *16*(5), e0251097.

#### Abstract:

The Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) epidemic was first detected in China in December 2019 and spread to other countries quickly. Some studies have found that the COVID-19 pandemic has had adverse mental health consequences. Individual differences such as personality could contribute to people's behaviors during a pandemic. In the current study, we examine how personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion (using the Five-Factor Model as our framework) are related to the mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic. Using data from an online survey with 1096 responses, this study performed multiple regression analyses to explore how personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion predict the effects of COVID-19 on the mental health of Canadians. The results showed that personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion are associated with the current mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic, with Extraversion positively related to mental health and Neuroticism negatively related to it. Results contribute to the management of individual responses to the COVID-19 pandemic and could help public health services provide personality-appropriate mental health services during this pandemic.

#### Introduction

The Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) epidemic was first detected in China in December 2019 and spread to other countries, including Canada, in early 2020. In Canada, the first case of respiratory infection by COVID-19 was reported on 23 January 2020 (Marchand-Senécal et al., 2020). The World Health Organization (WHO) classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic in March 2020 (WHO 2020a) and as a result, in many countries including Canada, serious public restriction measures were announced. For instance, in March 2020, a state of emergency was declared in Canada, travel restrictions were announced and non-essential businesses closure was mandated (Government of Canada, 2020a, 2020b).

Previous outbreaks, such as the outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) in 2003 and Ebola in 2014 showed that social restrictions had great and long-lasting negative effects on the mental health of people and the consequences included acute stress disorders, anxiety, irritability, poor concentration, deteriorating work performance, post-traumatic stress disorders, high psychological distress, depressive symptoms and insomnia (Brooks et al., 2020). The new COVID-19 disease and the consequences including worries over health, financial issues, job losses, working from home, home-schooling of children, lack of physical contact with other family members, friends and colleagues, and unpredictability have also caused severe psychological stress for many individuals around the world according to researchers (Bao et al., 2020; Wanget al., 2020) and international organizations such as WHO (WHO, 2020a).

However, some individuals experienced the psychological effects of COVID-19-related life changes more severely than others (Williams et al., 2020). The results of a poll in April 2020 by Angus Reid Institute showed that while 40% of Canadians reported that their mental health has worsened, another 10% reported that their mental health had worsened "a lot" (Angus Reid Institute, 2020a). Angus Reid Institute later published another study showing that as many Canadians have become more isolated, they announced that they are more worried about their mental health. Their results showed that, in 2019, two-thirds (67%) of Canadians rated their mental health as good or very good but this year just 53% said the same. One in five (19%) now rated their mental health as either poor or very poor (Angus Reid Institute, 2020b).

Individual differences in characteristic patterns of thinking, feelings, behaviors, and emotions could contribute to people's behaviors during a pandemic. For instance, individual differences (such as personality traits) could significantly impact the risk perception of a pandemic (Khosravi, 2020). Also, in non-pandemic times, people who score higher in Extraversion trait, tend to have greater mental health and neurotics do not (Albuquerque et al., 2012; Buecker et al., 2020; Kotov et al., 2010; Lahey, 2009; Otonari et al., 2012) and with the pandemic-related social isolation, this pattern could change. The present study tested how personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion, from the Five-Factor Model (FFM), are related to the mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic. For the sake of coherence and in order to address our research hypothesis, in the present study we focused only on personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion. The FFM is the most well-known model of personality consisting of the five broad domains of Neuroticism (or emotional instability vs. stability), Extraversion (vs. introversion), Openness to experience (or unconventionality), Agreeableness (vs. antagonism), and Conscientiousness (or constraint vs. disinhibition) (Goldberg, 1993). Understanding how personality contributes to people's mental health status during the COVID-19 pandemic could provide guidance for public health services to develop personality-tailored advice and help construct evidence-based recommendations for future infectious disease outbreaks. I will elaborate more on the connection between personality and mental health below.

In pre-pandemic time, out of the five-factor model of personality (FFM), Neuroticism and Extraversion tend to show the strongest links to mental health (Albuquerque et al., 2012; Buecker et al., 2020; Kotov et al., 2010; Lahey, 2009; Otonari et al., 2012). People who score high on the Neuroticism trait usually experience more negative affectivity (i.e. anxiety, anger, selfconsciousness, irritability, and fear), respond worse to stressors leaving them vulnerable to adverse outcomes in the context of stressful experiences, are more anxious and insecure (Barrick et al., 2001), predisposing them to psychological distress (Costa & McCrae, 1992), and act more impulsively in comparison to individuals who score low on Neuroticism (Mitchell et al., 2020; Thompson, 2008). High Neuroticism is associated with a range of detrimental health outcomes, including lower subjective well-being (Diener et al., 1999), depressive symptoms, anxiety, mood, and substance abuse disorders (Hakulinen et al., 2015; Kotov et al., 2010; Malouff et al., 2005; Ruiz et al., 2008). Particularly in the context of a pandemic, people who score high on the Neuroticism trait are more likely to experience more stress, not only in response to the threat of the disease but also in reaction to social restrictions (Liu et al., 2020). Recent studies during the COVID-19 pandemic have also shown that individuals who score higher on Neuroticism experienced more generalized anxiety and depressive symptoms (Lee et al., 2020), more worrying and negative affect in their daily lives (Kroencke et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020), found work/study restrictions and hygiene measures more restricting and experienced lower subjective well-being (Modersitzki et al., 2020), had more concerns about finances and relationships and were less optimistic about the duration estimates related to the COVID-19 pandemic (Aschwanden et al. 2020). Also, some researchers proposed that it is probable that people who score high in the Neuroticism trait might concentrate more on COVID-19-related information and pandemic consequences than people who score lower in this trait (Khosravi, 2020). As a result, those high in

Neuroticism can adopt social distancing to avoid COVID-19 infection (Abdelrahman, 2020; Zajenkowski et al., 2020), which can lead to experiencing even more mental health issues.

Extraversion is another trait that has shown strong correlations with mental health outcomes. As introverts and extroverts demonstrate substantially different attitudes toward social life (Smillie et al., 2019; Zelenski et al., 2014), the effects of social distancing might vary depending on individuals' Extraversion levels. Individuals who score high in Extraversion tend to experience positive emotions, activity, assertiveness, need for stimulation, and gregariousness compared to people with low on Extraversion (John et al., 2008; McCabe, & Fleeson, 2012). Individuals who score higher in Extraversion trait are energized and flourish by being around other people, and enjoy activities involving social interactions which is helpful in increasing their level of positive emotions (Watson et al., 1992). A higher score in the Extraversion trait has been associated with better-perceived health (Goodwin & Engstrom, 2002), well-being (Anglim et al., 2020; Steel et al., 2008; Diener et al., 1999; Lee et al., 2008), resilience (Brajša-Žganec et al., 2011; Oshio et al., 2018), positive affect (Lucas et al., 2008; Watson & Clark, 1997; Watson et al., 1988), and positive mental health (Lamers et al., 2012). In contrast, individuals who score high in introversion typically tend to have fewer social interactions than extroverts, experience more psychological problems in general, experience more intense emotions and more struggles in regulating their emotions, and have more adjustment problems (Fadda & Scalas, 2016; Janowsky, 2001; Jylha et al., 2009; Lucas et al., 2008).

There is controversy regarding the association between the Extraversion trait and mental health during a pandemic. One group of researchers claim that the lifestyle associated with social distancing during the pandemic might feel more unusual to extroverts than to people who score lower in Extraversion, as individuals who score higher in Extraversion trait are energized by crowds and social interactions, and seek the company of others when stressed (Woodcock et al., 2013). Therefore, social isolation by inhibiting their need for social engagement might have more deleterious effects on the mental health of individuals who score higher in Extraversion compared to people who score lower in Extraversion, who continue to enjoy spending time in their solitude like the time before social distancing (Wijngaards et al., 2020). Many articles published on widelyvisited popular websites such as Bloomberg (2020), Reuters (2020), The Conversation (2020), and the psychology website Psychology Today (2020) have introduced introversion as an asset for flourishing during social isolation related to COVID-19. Conversely, some researchers proposed that extroverts are more capable of adjusting to life-changing events, experiencing more positive affect, and keeping their positive affect longer than people who score lower in Extraversion, especially in more emotionally distressing situations (Steel et al. 2008). Moreover, extroverts usually have stronger social relationships which might have a buffering effect during the pandemic crisis (Folk et al., 2020). For instance, compared to people who score lower in Extraversion, people who score higher in Extraversion have more extended social networks (Harris et al., 2017; Lang et al., 1998), consequently, more support would be available to them during a difficult time. They also have higher quality relationships (Harris et al., 2017), experience more friendships satisfaction (Wilson et al., 2015), and perceive their social support higher (Swickert et al., 2002; Tan et al., 2017). Therefore, it is possible they only experience small declines in their mental health compared to people who score lower in Extraversion. Some recent research findings during the COVID-19 pandemic confirmed this possibility, showing negative outcomes for people who score lower in Extraversion and more positive outcomes for individuals who score higher in Extraversion. Studies have found negative associations between higher Extraversion and loneliness, anxiety, and

depression experienced as a result of COVID-19 changes (Nikčević et al., 2020; Wei, 2020), and associations between experiencing more optimism, psychological adjustment, and optimal functioning such as creative thinking with Extraversion (Aschwanden et al., 2020; Michinov & Michinov, 2020).

#### The present study

For this study, online questionnaires were sent to adults living across Canada using Qualtrics, a survey platform, distributed through social networks and from the email listings of the University of Alberta. Before participating in the study, all participants gave their consent through Qualtrics in a question asking "Do you wish to continue the survey, if you do your consent to participate is implied, with two options of "I consent" and "I do not wish to continue". This study was reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta (Pro00102974). Participation in the study was voluntary and ten random participants received a \$50 gift card of their choice.

The primary aim of this study was to examine how personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion are related to the mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic. As many previous studies have shown associations between personality traits and mental health (Lamers et al., 2012), it is important to investigate how personality traits are associated with mental health during the Covid-19 pandemic, in which the "new normal" is introduced due to imposed social and public life restrictions. Based on the literature presented above we hypothesize that the mental health status of Canadians during the COVID-19 epidemic is associated with personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion. We hypothesized that people who score higher in Neuroticism are experiencing more difficulties adjusting to the new situation, therefore experiencing more mental health issues, as Neuroticism is associated with increased vulnerability

to stress and changes in life circumstances. Our expectations regarding Extraversion were less clear. On the one hand, the lifestyle of social distancing during the pandemic might feel more difficult to people who score higher in Extraversion than to people who score lower in Extraversion, as people who score higher in Extraversion seek the company of others when stressed (Woodcock et al., 2013), therefore social isolation could have more deleterious effects on their mental health compared to people who score lower in Extraversion. On the other hand, many studies have indicated that people who score higher in Extraversion perform better in adjusting to life-changing events, showing more positive affect, and keeping their positive affect longer than people who score lower in Extraversion, especially in more emotionally ambivalent situations (Steel et al., 2008). This study contributes to our understanding of the relationship between personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion and the mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic. In particular, as there are various predictions regarding the effects of the pandemic (such as social isolation) on mental health among extroverts, this study could be enlightening.

We also hypothesized that both demographic characteristics specific to the COVID-19 situation (age, gender, and job status) and the ones specific to the COVID-19 situation (change in income, domestic conflict, social interaction loss, and child care loss variables) contribute to the mental health of Canadians.

To assess mental health, we examined the relation of the personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion to emotional, psychological, and social well-being. We hypothesized that Neuroticism and Extraversion have stronger associations with emotional well-being. Also, we expected associations with psychological and social well-being, as the new circumstances related to the COVID-19 pandemic had imposed many social restrictions on people's lives which is detrimental to their social well-being and also limited the opportunities for people to experience self-acceptance, personal growth, autonomy, purpose in life, a sense of mastery, and positive relations with important others which is how Ryff (1989) defines psychological mental health (Ryff, 1989).

#### Materials and methods

#### **Participants**

A sample of 1429 initiated our survey, after removing the incomplete data, 1096 participants (880 females, 202 males, and 14 other genders; mean age = 26.47 years [SD = 9.5; range 18 to 86 years]) were recruited for this study who completed a battery of questionnaires during June and July 2020. Participants were required to: (1) be at least 18 years of age; (2) reside in Canada; and (3) consent to participate.

#### Measures

#### **Mental Health**

The short form of the Mental Health Continuum (MHC-SF) is derived from the long-form (MHC-LF) and consists of 14 items representing theoretically derived feelings of well-being (MHC-SF; Keyes et al., 2008; Lamers et al., 2012). Participants rated the frequency of each feeling during the past month on a 6-point Likert scale from never (1) to every day (6), which means that the total score on the scale could range from 14 to 84 points. MHC-SF is a multidimensional test and contains three items representing emotional well-being (eg., during the past month, how often did you feel interested in life), six items representing psychological well-being (one item from

each of the 6 dimensions of Ryff's (1989) model of psychological well-being; eg., during the past month, how often did you feel that you had warm and trusting relationships with others), and five items represent social well-being (one item from each of the 5 dimensions of Keyes' (1998) model of social well-being; eg., during the past month, how often did you feel that you had something important to contribute to society) (Keyes, 1998). Emotional well-being represents a balance of positive over negative emotions and the existence of life satisfaction, following the hedonic tradition in this area of research (Diener et al., 1999). Psychological well-being is in accordance with the eudaimonic tradition of well-being and defines people as mentally healthy when they experience self-acceptance, personal growth, autonomy, purpose in life, a sense of mastery, and positive relations with important others (Ryff, 1989). Social well-being is also in accordance with the eudaimonic tradition. According to this approach, optimal functioning in a community is vital for understanding effective functioning and well-being (Keyes, 1998), and individuals are defined as mentally healthy when they feel that they fit in and contribute to the society so that they understand how society operates, and acknowledge that society develops in a positive direction (Keyes, 1998). Together, emotional, psychological, and social well-being construct the definition of positive mental health which is in line with the definition of the World Health Organization (2005) defining mental health as when an individual experiences a feeling of well-being (emotional well-being), and when functioning effectively in both private (psychological well-being) and social life (social well-being) (Lamers et al., 2012; WHO, 2005).

We computed a mean score, with higher scores indicating higher levels of emotional wellbeing, psychological well-being, and social well-being. In the current study, Cronbach's alpha was .86 for emotional well-being, .81 for social well-being, and .86 for psychological well-being.
#### **Extraversion and Neuroticism Traits**

We used the two Extraversion and Neuroticism scales from Goldberg's IPIP Big-Five Factor Markers, which is a self-report measure of personality traits based on the FFM and is based on the most commonly used model of personality (Goldberg, 1992). Extraversion (e.g. "I don't mind being the center of attention") and Neuroticism (e.g. "I am easily disturbed") consist of 10 items that are answered on a 5-point Likert scale, where 1 = Disagree, 3 = Neutral, and 5 = Agree. A total score was computed for each personality trait (10–50), with higher scores showing higher levels of that personality trait. Cronbach's alpha in the current study was .92 for Extraversion and .89 for Neuroticism.

### **Demographics**

The following demographic characteristics of all participants were collected: 1) age, 2) gender, 3) their current job status and if there has been a change in their income over the last 2 months, and 4) pre-existing mental health issues. We believe the mentioned characteristics could have important contributions to the well-being of participants as some of these characteristics had changed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, many Canadians lost their job and income as a result of the pandemic which could impact their well-being (Panchal et al., 2020). Also, age and gender have been shown to make significant differences in the mental health status of people during the COVID-19 pandemic (Thibaut et al., 2020; Vahia et al., 2020). Also, we asked our participants some specific questions regarding their personal experience with the COVID-19 pandemic such as, if they or anyone living in their household were diagnosed with COVID-19, if they experienced any kind of domestic conflicts as a result of the pandemic and staying more at home, to what extent the pandemic has affected their social interactions, and if losing childcare

services affected them in some way. We believe the people's experiences with the COVID-19 pandemic could impact their mental health. Further demographic information is provided in Table 1.

# Table 1.

# Sample demographics characteristics

Demographics	Options	(%)
Current Job status		
	Not employed	16.7%
	Temporary/ Part-time Employment	20.9%
	Full-time Employment	21.5%
	Pursuing Further Studies (student)	40.9%
Change in income		
	Decrease in income	35.2%
	Increase in income	21.4%
	No change	43.3%
COVID-19 diagnosis		
	The person him/herself	.2%
	Someone in their household	.5%
	No one	99.3%
Experience of domestic conflict		
	Yes	25.1%
	No	74.9%
Experience of childcare service loss		
	Yes	5.3%

Social interaction loss		
		2.287
	It has not affected my social interactions.	2.3%
	It has somewhat affected my social interactions.	33.5%
	It has largely affected my social interactions.	64.3%
Prior mental health issues		
	Yes	22.5%
	No	77.5%

No

## Analyses

All analyses described as follows were conducted with IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 26). To study the association of personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion with positive mental health, we first computed Pearson correlation coefficients between Neuroticism and Extraversion on the one hand, and emotional, psychological, and social well-being on the other hand, as well as the demographic characteristics. Then, hierarchical multivariate regression models were used to assess the relationship between independent variables and the outcome variable. Those demographic characteristics with significant association with the dependent variables (emotional, psychological, and social well-being) during bivariate analyses were entered into the hierarchical regression models (the first and the second models).

94.7%

In the regression model, gender, age, prior mental health history, and job status were entered in the first block in order to control for potential confounding variables (the final block of the three hierarchical regression analyses is shown in Table 3). We chose to enter these variables first because these demographic variables were not specific to the COVID-19 situation (controls). In the second block, change in income, domestic conflict, social interaction loss and, child care loss variables (variables specific to the COVID-19 situation) were entered into the model. Finally, after controlling for demographic variables independent of the COVID-19 situation and specific to the COVID-19 situation, personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion were entered into the model.

#### Results

Table 2 shows the means, standard deviations, and correlations between Neuroticism and Extraversion personality traits, and positive mental health subscales. The Neuroticism and Extraversion personality traits were significantly and negatively correlated at r(1095) = -.19. Also, Neuroticism and Extraversion were significantly related to positive mental health subscales

# Table 2

# Means, standard deviations, and correlations between positive mental health, Neuroticism and Extraversion personality traits.

			Demograph	ics															Personal	ity traits
						4		5		6			8	_						
	Mean (SD)	1	2.1	3. 1	4.1	4.2	4.3	5.1	5.2	6.1	6.2	7	8.1	8.2	9	10	11	12	13	14
1.Age	26.47 (9.35)	-																		
2.Gender			-																	
2.1.Female		10**																		
Male		REF																		
3.Mental health issues				-																
3.1.Yes		06*	.08**																	
No		REF																		
4.Job status																				
4.1.Full-time		.35**	-0.02	-0.07	-	-	-													
4.2.Part-time		11**	.06*	00																
4.3.Student		17**	-0.04	.07*																
No Job		REF																		
5.Income Change								-	-											
5.1.Increase		18**	0.03	0.01	0.05	.14**	09**													
5.2.Decrease		0.04	0.05	0.04	11**	.08**	-0.04													
No change		REF																		

6.COVID-19 Diagnosis										-	-									
6.1.The Person		0.02	-0.03	-0.02	-0.02	0.03	0	-0.02	0.01											
6.2.Household		0.05	-0.25	-0.04	0.02	0	0.01	0	0	-										
No One		REF																		
7.Domestic Conflict																				
7.1.Yes		12**	0.01	.10**	-0.02	0.05	0	0	0.05	-0.02	.10**	-								
No		REF																		
8.Social in Change	nteractions												-	-						
8.1.Somewhat		0.02	-0.03	-0.04	0.04	0	-0.01	.08**	07*	-0.03	0.05	-0.02								
8.2.Largely		-0.01	0.05	0.05	-0.04	-0.01	0.03	06*	.07*	0.03	-0.04	02								
No change		REF																		
9.Childcare Loss																				
9.1.Yes		.15**	0	0	.07*	0.01	08**	0	0.03	-0.1	0.03	.06*	0.02	-0.01	-					
No		REF																		
10.Emotional WB	9.32 (3.25)	.08**	0.04	15**	.10**	-0.02	-0.03	0.05	10**	0	-0.04	20**	.13**	15**	-0.03	-				
11.Psychologica l WB	17.68 (6.52)	.12**	-0.02	17**	.11**	-0.04	0	0.01	08**	0.02	-0.01	20**	.14**	16**	05*	.71**	-			
12.Social WB	10.61 (5.65)	.17**	06*	16**	.16**	07*	-0.02	0	07**	0.04	0.01	20**	.12**	12**	-0.03	.58**	.67**	-		
13.Neuroticism	16.91 (8.47)	.19**	.20**	.33**	12**	0.03	.05*	0.02	.08**	-0.01	-0.01	.17**	08**	-0.01	0.04	39**	41**	46**	-	
14.Extraversion	19.20 (9.12)	0.05	0	0	.07*	-0.02	-0.03	0.02	0.01	.00	.00	0.02	07*	0.05	0.03	.20**	.28**	.35**	19**	-

WB: well-being \* p < .005, \*\* p < .001.

# Table 3.

Hierarchical regression analysis (standardized beta weights) of personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion in relation to emotional, psychological and social well-being, controlled for demographics.

	Social well	-being		Emotional	well-being		Psycholo	gical well-be	eing
	Beta	95% C	Ί	Beta	95% (	CI	Beta	95% (	CI
Age	.06*	.00	.07	01	02	.01	.02	02	.05
Gender				N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Female Male	.01 REF	51	.98						
Prior mental health issues									
Yes No	03 REF	-1.18	.29	-02 REF	61	.26	01	-1.10	.52
Job status									
Full-time	.06*	.11	1.68	.04	12	.77	.03	36	1.36
Part time	02	-1.11	.37	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
No	REF			REF					
Change in income									
Decrease in income	04	-1.10	12	05*	75	02	02	99	.36
No change	REF			REF			REF		
Domestic conflict									
Yes	13**	-2.45	-1.09	15**	-1.52	71	13**	-2.80	-1.31
No	REF			REF			REF		
Social interaction loss	04	1 41	2.55	10	1.90	45	05	2 97	1.50
Somewnat affected	.04	-1.41	2.55	10	-1.89	.45	05	-2.8/	1.50
Not affected	REF	-2./1	1.22	25	-2.75	40	19*	-4.01	40
Child Care	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Yes No							04 REF	-2.86	.02
Neuroticism	30**	24	16	30**	13	09	34**	30	22
Extraversion	.23**	.11	.18	.16**	.04	.08	.30**	.18	.25

N/A: not applicable \* p < .005, \*\* p < .001.

*Note.* Social well-being:  $R^2=.06$  for block 1 (F(3, 1091)= 16.25; p <.001);  $\Delta R^2=.04$  for Block 2 (F<sub>change</sub>(8, 1086)= 13.52; p <.001);  $\Delta R^2=.15$  for Block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(2, 1092)= 113.79; p <.001). Emotional well-being:  $R^2=.03$  for block 1 (F(3, 1091)= 12.54; p <.001);  $\Delta R^2=.06$  for Block 2 (F<sub>change</sub>(8, 1086)= 18.66; p <.001).  $\Delta R^2=.12$  for Block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(2, 1092)=86.10; p <.001). Psychological well-being:  $R^2=.04$  for block 1 (F(2, 1092)= 16.94; p <.001);  $\Delta R^2=.05$  for Block 2 (F<sub>change</sub>(5, 1089)= 14.30; p <.001);  $\Delta R^2=.23$  for Block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(2, 1092)= 186.71; p <.001).

In agreement with our expectations, Neuroticism was negatively and significantly related to all subscales of emotional and psychological, and social well-being when controlling for demographics, and the Extraversion trait (see Table 3). Moreover, Extraversion was also positively and significantly related to all three scales of emotional well-being, psychological and social wellbeing (see Table 3). Over and above the contribution of demographics, the two personality traits over and above the contribution of the demographic characteristics, explained 22% of emotional well-being, 33% of psychological well-being, and 26% of the social well-being of the variance. These results showed Neuroticism and Extraversion personality traits were both related to all three subscales of mental health.

## Discussion

This study examined how personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion (using the Five-Factor Model (FFM) as our framework) are related to the current mental health of Canadians (emotional, psychological, and social well-being) during the COVID-19 pandemic. Our main finding was that personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion are associated with the current mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic, with Extraversion positively related to the three subscales and Neuroticism negatively related to the three subscales. The two measured personality traits, over and above the contribution of demographics, explained 22% of emotional well-being, 33% of psychological well-being, and 26% of the social well-being of the variance. In support of our hypothesis, both Neuroticism and Extraversion were related to all three subscales of positive mental health, with a stronger association with psychological and social well-being.

Also, our results show that demographic characteristics specific to the COVID-19 pandemic have impacted the mental health status of Canadians. For instance, age was positively correlated with the emotional, psychological, and social well-being of our participants. This is in line with previous studies showing the association between age and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic (Vahia et al., 2020; Pieh et al., 2020). Also, the existence of domestic conflicts negatively affected the emotional, psychological, and social well-being of our participants. This is also in line with previous studies during the COVID-19 pandemic indicating that domestic conflicts during the pandemic have resulted in deteriorated mental health (Gadermann et al., 2021).

### Neuroticism

In line with our expectations, Neuroticism is negatively and significantly associated with emotional, psychological, and social well-being. Our findings are in line with earlier studies indicating that Neuroticism is associated with more mental health issues in general (Diener et al., 1999; Hakulinen et al., 2015; Kotov et al., 2010; Malouff et al., 2005), and also with recent studies during the COVID-19 pandemic showing that individuals who score higher on Neuroticism are experiencing more mental health problems (Aschwanden et al. 2020; Kroencke et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020; Modersitzki et al., 2020). According to previous research individuals who score high on the Neuroticism trait often experience more negative affectivity and respond worse to stressors that leave them susceptible to unfavorable outcomes in the context of a stressful experience such as the COVID-19 pandemic (Barrick et al., 2001), predisposing them to psychological distress (Costa & McCrae, 1992). High Neuroticism is associated with a range of detrimental health outcomes, including lower subjective well-being (Diener et al., 1999), depressive symptoms, anxiety, mood, and substance use disorders (Clark et al., 1994; Hakulinen et al., 2015; Kotov et al., 2010; Malouff et al., 2005).

### Extraversion

Overall, higher Extraversion was associated with higher emotional, psychological, and social well-being. The finding that extroverts are experiencing less mental health issues as a result of social distancing and lockdown measures is in line with previous studies demonstrating that Extraversion is associated with better mental health in general (Costa & McCrae, 1980; Gale et al., 2013; Lamers et al., 2010), and during the COVID-19 pandemic (Nikčević et al., 2020; Wei, 2020). A possible explanation could be that according to previous research, compared to people

who score lower in Extraversion, extroverts are more capable of adjusting to life changing events, such as the new circumstances the world is currently experiencing as they use adaptive strategies such as reappraisal, problem solving, or acceptance more than people who score lower in Extraversion (Barańczuk, 2019). Individuals who score higher in Extraversion also experience more positive affect, and keep their positive affect longer, especially in more emotionally stressful situations (Steel et al., 2008), are less susceptible to mental illnesses (Malouff et al., 2005; Spinhoven et al., 2014), and are generally happier (Steel et al., 2008; Anglim et al., 2020). Moreover, as people who score higher in Extraversion have more friends and social networks, higher perceived social support, and higher quality relationships (Harris et al., 2017; Lang et al., 1998; Swickert et al., 2002; Tan et al., 2017), they may rely on their social support to maintain their positive mental health.

#### Limitations and future directions

The current study has some limitations that need to be considered. First, while the current study covered a wide age range, the sample was not completely representative of the general population, as around 41% of our participants were students with a mean age of 26.47 years and about 80% were female. The second limitation of this study is that although we aimed for participants from all over Canada, most of our sample reside in Alberta (the place the study was conducted). The third limitation of this study is that our data were gathered only at one point in time during the first wave of COVID-19 and as it was summer, people could spend more time outside. At this time, the participants had experienced few (if any) effects of COVID-19 (see Table 1). For example, 99% of the participants neither themselves were diagnosed with COVID-19, nor anyone in their household were. The effects of personality on mental health could change as the

personal relevance changes. Another limitation of the present study is that the measurements used to assess personality and well-being were the short version of the measurements. We chose the short version of the tests in order to collect data from a large group of participants who completed the tests online. Around 79% of people who started answering the questions answered all the questions and we believe if we used the longer versions, a lot of our participants wouldn't have finished all the questions. However, we made sure our measurements had acceptable psychometric properties, for instance, MHC-SF had shown great internal consistency (> .80) and discriminant validity in different countries (Fadda et al., 2016; Lamers et al., 2012). It has also been reported that the IPIP scale has great construct, criterion, convergent, and discriminant validity (Gow et al., 2005; Guenole & Chernyshenko, 2005; Lim & Ployhart, 2006).

Regardless of these limitations, the current study makes important contributions to understanding the associations between personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion, and the mental health of Canadians during a global health crisis and could lead to a revelatory direction for future research into personality and mental health. Future research should investigate the impacts of personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion on the mental health of Canadians during the second wave of COVID-19 in winter when people had to stay at home more than in summer due to the cold weather. Also investigating the impacts of other personality traits on mental health could be informative and help public health services provide personality-appropriate mental health services during this pandemic.

### Conclusion

These findings, taken together, confirm previous research findings demonstrating Neuroticism and Extraversion are impactful on mental health (Jylhä et al., 2009). Our results indicated that individuals who scored higher on Neuroticism were experiencing more mental health issues and in contrast, individuals who scored higher on Extraversion were experiencing fewer mental health issues. These relationships are similar to the pre-pandemic times, we believe the reason that the pandemic has not changed the relationship between the Extraversion trait and mental health is that people who score higher in Extraversion generally experience more positive affect, and keep their positive affect longer, especially in more emotionally stressful situations (Steel et al., 2008), they also have more friends and social networks, higher perceived social support, and higher quality relationships (Harris et al., 2017; Lang et al., 1998; Swickert et al., 2002; Tan et al., 2017), they may rely on their social support to maintain their positive mental health. Moreover, we believe that the reason that the pandemic has not changed the relationship between the Neuroticism trait and mental health is that Neuroticism is associated with more mental health issues in general (Diener et al., 1999; Kotov et al., 2010; Hakulinen et al., 2015; Malouff et al., 2005).

This study has important implications for understanding how different individuals are experiencing the pandemic. Public health messages can be tailored to consider these differences. Also, since individuals have had different mental health effects during the pandemic, they may also cope with the post-pandemic world differently.

# Chapter 3

Study 2: The impact of personality traits on the positive mental health of Canadian adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: A Replication and Extension Study

### Abstract:

The COVID-19 epidemic was first reported in 2019 and rapidly spread across the globe. Many studies have shown that the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected mental health. Individual differences such as personality could influence people's responses to the pandemic. For example, the results of a previous study by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021) showed that the personality trait of Extraversion positively and Neuroticism negatively contributed to the mental health of Canadians. The goal of our study was to replicate this study using the same tasks and a similar population and extend it by including all 5 personality traits in our analysis and also controlling for the variable of Response to COVID-19 Stress (in addition to demographic variables). Our results were similar to Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021) and we also found that Extraversion positively and Neuroticism negatively are associated with the mental health of Canadians. We also found that Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are positively and significantly related to the mental health of Canadians. Our results could provide a guide for the screening of people more at risk for mental health issues based on personality traits.

# Introduction:

The Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) pandemic was first reported in 2019 and was declared a global public health emergency in January 2020, by the World Health Organization (WHO) (WHO, 2020a). The consequences of the pandemic such as contagion and lockdown have had many psychological effects throughout the world (Gan et al., 2022; Grover et al., 2020; Holingue et al., 2020; Prati & Mancini, 2021). The WHO also stated global concerns regarding the pandemic's impact on mental health and psychosocial well-being (WHO, 2020b).

In Canada, concerns about health, lockdown, unemployment, instability, as well as interruptions in daily routines during the pandemic influenced Canadians' mental health (Capaldi et al., 2021). It is reported that in the fall of 2020, the prevalence of positive mental health outcomes of Canadians dropped significantly compared to levels prior to the pandemic in 2019, 59.95% in 2020 compared to 66.71% in 2019 (Capaldi et al., 2021). According to the Public Health Agency of Canada positive mental health continued to decline in 2021 and the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected more than seven out of ten Canadians (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2021). Also, results of a later survey on COVID-19 and Mental Health revealed that one in four (25%) Canadians over the age of 18 displayed symptoms of depression, anxiety, or posttraumatic stress disorder in spring 2021, an increase from one in five (21%) in fall 2020 (Statistics Canada, 2021).

It is possible that individual differences in thinking processes, feelings, behaviors, and emotions could lead people to respond differently during a public health crisis. For example, people with certain personality traits may respond to such public health crises in different ways (Sutin et al., 2020). Unfamiliar and uncertain situations are particularly likely to expose the influence of dispositional tendencies on people's daily experiences and actions (Caspi & Moffitt, 1993). Dynamic theories of personality support this argument, positing that differences in personality are more pronounced in situations that activate the traits (Denissen & Penke, 2008, Tett & Guterman, 2000). Therefore, since the COVID-19 pandemic has been associated with many stressors such as uncertainty, it is important to study the associations of personality with mental health.

Throughout the past decades, the five-factor model (FFM) has become widely accepted as a framework for explaining and describing personality characteristics. FFM consists of the dimensions of Neuroticism, Extraversion, Openness to Experience, Agreeableness, and Conscientiousness (Goldberg, 1992). Pre-pandemic research has shown that individuals' personalities are associated with well-being and contribute to the likelihood of developing mental health issues (Diener & Lucas, 1999; Steel et al., 2008), with Neuroticism and Extraversion having the strongest associations with mental health (Kotov et al., 2010; Otonari et al., 2012), influencing the affective aspects of mental health, via biological and behavioral mechanisms (Lamers et al., 2012).

Neuroticism is characterized by irritability, anger, sadness, anxiety, worry, hostility, and vulnerability (Lahey, 2009) and is shown to be associated with multiple mental health problems (Friedman et al., 2011; Hudek-Knezević & Kardum, 2009). Individuals who score higher on Neuroticism are more prone to experience negative emotions (Costa & McCrae, 1980, Emmons & Diener, 1985, Steel et al., 2008) and mental health disorders such as depression, anxiety, somatic symptom, eating disorders, and substance use disorders (Jorm et al., 2000; Jylhä, & Isometsä, 2006; Kotov et al., 2010; Leary & Hoyle, 2009; Malouff et al., 2005). In contrast, Extraversion is usually associated with more positive mental health (Carver & Scheier, 2014). For instance, individuals who score higher on Extraversion are more likely to engage in social activities that enhance and maintain their level of positive emotions (Pavot et al., 1990; Watson et al., 1992) and report higher levels of subjective well-being (Costa, & McCrae, 1980; Diener et al., 1999, Lee et al., 2008). Openness to Experience is defined as an individual's tolerance for ambiguity and

Openness to new ideas (McCrae & Costa Jr, 1997). It has also been linked with creativity, curiosity, adaptability, appreciation, and independence (McCrae, 1993; Kaufman, 2013). Previous studies found that Openness to Experience was connected to overall well-being (Ahmad Marzuki, 2013; Dong & Ni, 2020; Keyes et al., 2002), and also other positive constructs such as positive emotions, personal growth, autonomy, purpose in life and independence (Anglim & Horwood, 2020; Anglim et al., 2020; Dong & Ni, 2020; Keyes, 2005). Conscientiousness refers to the level of responsibility, and organization that people exhibit and the qualities of being prudent, and dependable (Barrick & Mount, 1991). Conscientiousness has also been associated with active and functional problem-solving strategies under challenging situations, including seeking support, positive psychological adjustment, positive reinterpretation, and acceptance (Afshar et al., 2015). Research has shown that individuals who score high in Conscientiousness are less vulnerable to adverse effects of anxiety, depression, and stress (Kotov et al., 2010; Tran et al., 2020). Agreeableness refers to the qualities of being warm, friendly, empathic, straightforward, trustworthy, and having a tendency toward prosocial behavior (Lynam & Miller, 2019). Agreeableness also captures patience, forgiveness, and a degree of tolerance for anger (Anglim et al, 2020). Agreeableness has been shown to be associated with positive affect, psychological wellbeing, and mental health (DeNeve & Cooper, 1998; Schmutte & Ryff, 1997).

Literature regarding the pandemic's adverse mental health outcomes has been growing since its onset. Several studies have shown that people's personality traits are associated with their mental health (Anglim, & Horwood, 2021; Anglim et al., 2020) with Neuroticism and Extraversion being most strongly associated with mental health and well-being during the pandemic (Buecker et al., 2020; Modersitzki et al., 2021; Shokrkon & Nicoladis, 2021). For instance, Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021) gathered data from 1096 Canadian adults (880 females, 202 males, and 14 other genders; mean age = 26.47 years [SD = 9.5; range 18 to 86 years]) in the first summer of the

pandemic in 2020. They measured Mental health using the short form of the Mental Health Continuum (MHC-SF) and personality traits using Goldberg's PIP Big-Five Factor Markers and also some demographic factors that are known to impact mental health (including age, gender, changes in social interactions during COVID-19, mental health history). They used the hierarchical multivariate regression method to analyze their data. After controlling for demographic variables, their results showed a significant association between the personality traits of Extraversion and Neuroticism with the positive mental health of Canadians (emotional, social, and psychological). Extraversion was positively associated with mental health and Neuroticism was negatively associated with mental health. The primary purpose of the present study was to replicate their study with a very similar population from the same country and using the same measures, only with data gathered a year later in the second summer of the pandemic in 2021. The reason we decided to replicate our first study is that it was conducted in the first year of the pandemic which differed substantially from the second year in several ways. First, by the second year of the pandemic, a number of vaccines were developed and distributed around the globe. This has resulted in increased vaccination rates and a reduced risk of severe illness, death, and other consequences of COVID-19. Second, there have been differences between the public health policies implemented in the first and second year of the pandemic. In the first year, many countries including Canada imposed strict lockdowns and restrictions on social gatherings to prevent the spread of the virus. By the second year, many of these restrictions were relaxed in Canada. Third, societal responses may also have varied between years one and two. In the first year, there may have been more fear and uncertainty about the virus and its effects on daily life. By the second year, people may have grown accustomed to living with the pandemic and adapting to the changes it brought. Therefore, by replicating our first study we wanted to investigate the generalizability of our findings to a

different context, where the pandemic was at a different stage. Moreover, in addition to demographic variables, we decided to control for the variable of Coping and Responses to COVID-19 Stress since it could be a contributing factor to well-being during the pandemic.

#### **Present Study**

The main objective of the present study is to replicate previous work by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), using the same measures and with a very similar population. In their study, they tested how Neuroticism and Extraversion impacted the mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic using the data gathered in the summer of 2020. We gathered our data, a year later in the summer of 2021 using the same demographic questions, mental health, and personality measures. We expected to replicate their results and find that Extraversion is positively and Neuroticism is negatively associated with the mental health of Canadians

Moreover, we aimed to extend their study by investigating the impacts of all big 5 personality traits (instead of only Extraversion and Neuroticism) on the mental health of Canadians during the pandemic. Furthermore, among the psychological variables that contribute to the relationship between stressors and mental health outcomes during pandemics, coping and response to stress are likely to play an important role (Serafini et al., 2020), therefore we also gathered data on coping and response to COVID-19 stress to control for the effects of these variables on the relationship between personality traits and mental health.

#### Method

#### **Participants**

A sample of 1392 participants (1030 female-identifying people, 334 male-identifying people, and 27 other genders; mean age = 24.02 years [SD = 6.42 range 18 to 62 years]) were

recruited for this study who completed a battery of questionnaires during June and July 2021. For this study, all participants were at least 18 years old, residing in Canada, and consented to participate.

#### Procedure

This study was reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta (Pro00100751). To conduct this study, Qualtrics, a survey platform, was used to collect data from adults living across Canada. The surveys were distributed through social media channels and via the University of Alberta's email listings.

All participants gave their consent to participate in the study through Qualtrics answering a question "Do you wish to continue the survey? If you choose to continue, your consent to participate is implied". There are two options: "I consent" and "I do not wish to continue". Participation in the study was voluntary and ten randomly selected participants received a \$50 gift card.

#### Measures

#### **Mental Health**

We used the short form of the Mental Health Continuum (MHC-SF), the same mental health scale used by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021). The short form is derived from the long form (MHC-LF) and includes 14 items reflecting the construct definition of each well-being domain (MHC-SF; Keyes et al., 2008; Lamers et al., 2012). This test is theory-driven and encompasses all the theoretical facets of mental health (Yeo, & Suárez, 2022). Out of 14 items, three items represent emotional well-being (happy, interested in life, and satisfied) six items represent psychological well-being including one item from each of the 6 dimensions of Ryff's (1989), (eg., during the

past month, how often did you feel that you liked most parts of your personality), and five items represent social well-being including one item from each of the 5 dimensions of Keyes' (1998) model of social well-being (eg., during the past month, how often did you feel that you belonged to a community like a social group, or your neighborhood). A six-point Likert scale is used by participants, ranging from 1 (Never) to 6 (Everyday) thus the total score on the scale could range from 14 to 84 points. MHC-SF demonstrated excellent internal consistency (> .80) in adults in several countries (Keyes, 2005; Lamers et al., 2011; Westerhof & Keyes, 2008). The MHC-SF has also shown good convergent validity (Keyes et al., 2008) and good discriminant validity (Doré et al., 2011; Lamers et al., 2011; Perugini et all, 2017).

#### Personality

To measure personality traits, the same test used by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), Goldberg's IPIP Big-Five Factor Markers, was used. This test is a self-report, 50-item questionnaire measuring personality traits based on the FFM (Goldberg, 1992). This test measures the five personality dimensions of Openness to Experience (eg., I have a vivid imagination), Conscientiousness (eg., I get chores done right away), Extraversion (eg., I am the life of the party), Agreeableness (eg., I sympathize with others' feelings), and Neuroticism (eg., I get stressed out easily). The IPIP items were administered with a five-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 ("Disagree") to 5 ("Agree"). For each trait, a total score was calculated (10–50), with higher scores indicating higher levels. This scale has been widely used and reported to have good construct, criterion, convergent, and discriminant validity (Gow et al., 2005; Guenole & Chernyshenko, 2005; Lim & Ployhart, 2006).

#### **Responses to Stress Questionnaire (RSQ) COVID-19**

RSQ is a multidimensional questionnaire designed for particular stressors, in this case, the COVID-19 pandemic (Connor-Smith et al., 2000). There are 57 items categorized into five factors (Connor-Smith et al., 2000). For each item, participants are asked: How much do you do this? and rated based on a scale of 1 to 4: 1 (Not at All), 2 (A Little), 3 (Some), and 4 (A lot). The five total factors include three types of coping: Primary Control Engagement Coping: (eg., emotional expression, emotion regulation, and problem-solving); Secondary Control Engagement Coping (eg., acceptance, cognitive restructuring, distraction, and positive thinking); and Disengagement Coping (eg., avoidance, denial, and wishful thinking). The RSQ also measures two types of involuntary responses to stress: Involuntary Engagement (eg., emotional arousal, impulse action, intrusive thoughts, physiological arousal, and rumination) and Involuntary Disengagement (eg., cognitive interference, emotional numbing, escape, and inaction). Each of the five factors is calculated as a ratio score of the total stress response items scored. This test has reports of good reliability and validity, for instance, internal consistency ranging from  $\alpha = 0.73$  to 0.85 (Connor-Smith et al., 2000).

We used this test as an extension to the tests Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021) used. We used this measure to control for the impacts of this variable on the association\_between personality traits and mental health.

# **Demographics**

In this study, we collected similar demographic characteristics as Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021) did, including age, gender, current job status, if there has been a change in participants' income over the last 2 months and mental health history. As mentioned by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021) these demographic characteristics may play an important role in participants' well-being

during a pandemic. For instance, job loss and income loss has shown to be associated with mental health issues such as anxiety, depression, and panic attacks (de Miquel et al., 2021). Also, age and gender have been demonstrated to be significant determinants of the well-being of individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic (Thibaut & van Wijngaarden-Cremers, 2020; Vahia et al., 2020).

Also, similar to Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), our participants were asked specific questions about how they experienced COVID-19, including whether they or anyone living in their households were affected by COVID-19, whether they had domestic conflicts due to staying at home more as a result of the pandemic, how the pandemic affected their social interactions, as well as whether losing childcare services affected them. We also believe the experiences people had with the COVID-19 pandemic might have an impact on their mental health. Table 4 provides additional demographic information.

# Table 4

# Sample demographics characteristics

Demographics	Options	Percentage
COVID-19 Diagnosis		
	Yes	12%
	No	88%
Change in Income	Deemees in income	250/
	Decrease in income	2570
	Increase in income	28%
	No change	46%
Experience of domestic conflict		
	Yes	30%
	No	70%
Experience of child care loss		
	Yes	5%
	No	95%
Job Status		
	Not employed	10%
	Temporary/Part-time Employment	29%
	Full-time Employment	20%
	Student	41%
Social interactions		
	Not Affected	2%
	Somewhat Affected	30%
	Largely Affected	68%

Prior mental health Issue

Yes	23%
No	76%

#### **Statistical Analyses**

The analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 28). A Pearson correlation coefficient was computed between personality traits and emotional, psychological, and social well-being variables, as well as demographic characteristics, in order to determine the association between personality traits and positive mental health. The variables with at least one significant correlation with outcome variables are presented in Table 5. After that, hierarchical multivariate regression models were used to examine the relationship between the predictor variables and the outcome variables. As Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021) did, hierarchical regression models were constructed using only those demographic characteristics that were significantly associated with the dependent variables (emotional, psychological, and social wellbeing) during bivariate analyses (the first model). We entered gender, age, prior mental health history, job status, changes in income, domestic conflict, social interaction changes, and childcare loss into the first block of the regression model to control for possible confounding factors. Then, as an extension to Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables were entered into the second block of our regression models to control for them, as we reasoned that coping and response to COVID-19 stress play an important role in predicting mental health outcomes during the pandemic. In the end, after controlling for demographics and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables, we entered the five personality traits into the model. The final block of the three hierarchical regression analyses is shown in Table 6.

#### Results

The means, standard deviations, and correlations between all personality traits, coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables, and demographic variables are presented in Table 5. All five personality traits are significantly correlated with positive mental health subscales. Extraversion, Openness to Experience, Agreeableness, and Conscientiousness were positively correlated with all three subscales of mental health, while Neuroticism was negatively correlated with them.

As expected, and in line with the study of Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), Neuroticism was negatively and significantly associated with emotional, psychological, and social well-being after controlling for demographics and Response to COVID-19 Stress variables (see Table 6). Furthermore, Extraversion was also positively and significantly associated with emotional, psychological, and social well-being (see Table 6). Our results were similar to those reported by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021).

As an extension to Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), we also investigated the contribution of Openness to Experience, Agreeableness, and Conscientiousness to positive mental health controlling for demographic and Response to COVID-19 Stress variables. Agreeableness was positively and significantly associated with all three scales of emotional, psychological, and social well-being while Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness were positively and significantly related to emotional and psychological well-being.

In addition to the demographic and Response to COVID-19 Stress variables, personality traits accounted for 30% of the variance in emotional well-being, 40% of psychological well-being, and 25% of social well-being.

# Table 5

The means, standard deviations, and correlations between personality traits, Response to COVID-19 Stress variables positive mental health subscales.

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23

3.1 3.2 3.3 5.1 5.2 6.1 6.2

1-Age	24.2	-																
5	(( 12)																	
	(6.42)																	
2- Gender	-																	
Male		01	-															
Female		REF																
2 Job Status																		
5-JOD Status	-																	
3.1 Part-time		03	-	-														
3.2 Full-time		.00	.12**	30**	-													
3.3 Student		.00	.06*	54**	40**	-												
No job		REF	.02															
4-Covid	-																	
Yes		01	00	.05*	08**	.02	-											
No		REF																
110		ICL1																
5-Income	_																	
S-Income																		
Change																		
5.1. Increase		03	06	.20**	.16**	19**	.00	-										
5.2. Decrease		.06**	00	.06*	15**	.00	.06	35**										
No change		REF																
6-Social	-																	
Interaction																		
Change																		
6.1. Somewhat		.02	.01	00	.03	01	02	06**	03	-								
		.02					2											

6.2. Largely		01	02	.01	02	.00	.03	.07**	.03	95**	-										
No Change		REF																			
7- Domestic	-																				
Yes		03	05*	01	01	02	.11**	03	.13**	05*	.08**	-									
No		REF																			
9 Marial Harleh																					
8-Mental Health	-																				
Issue		01		02	0.0	00	00	02	12**	0.(**	00**	12**									
Yes		01	-	.02	00	.00	00	.03	.12**	06***	.08**	.13**	-								
No		REF	.19**																		
9-Childcare Loss	-																				
Yes																					
No		.00	.02	04	.03	00	.02	05*	.08**	02	.03	.07**	00	_							
		REF																			
10-Covid	-																				
Vaccine																					
Yes		06*	.04	.05	.02	01	10**	.04	05*	05*	.06**	.00	.03	02	-						
No		REF																			
11- PCC	.18	.04	03	02	.03	.00	.00	.00	07**	.11**	10**	09**	10**	03	.01	-					
	(.04)																				
12-SCD	.26	.01	.17**	01	.05*	01	.00	.03	09**	.17**	19**	13**	29**	06*	.02	.34**	-				
	(.05)																				
13 DC	14	01	00	05	05*	01	02	00	02	00**	09	05*	06*	02	00**	5/**	36**				
15- DC	(02)	.01	00	.05	05	01	.02	.00	.02	09	.09	.05	.00	.02	09		50				
	(.02)																				
14-IEC	.22	03	-	00	00	00	.00	00	.09**	15**	.17**	.13**	.25**	.08**	.01	46**	80**	.10**			
	(.04)		.13**																		
15- IDC	.17	04	05*	.01	05*	.01	04	05*	.10**	12**	.11**	.11**	.19**	.02	.01	68**	64**	.30**	.44**	-	
	(.03)																				

54

+

16-Extraversion	18.85	.04	.00	.02	.06**	06*	.03	.03	.03	06*	.09**	02	.02	.04	02	.22**	.07**	08**	07**	21**	-							
	(8.94)																											
17-	30.58	.01	-	.07**	.06**	08**	02	.02	.01	08**	.12**	00	.08**	.01	.00	.23**	07**	11**	.03	13**	.29**	-						
Agreeableness	(5.91)		.19**																									
19	26.26	00	01	02	05*	01	01	07**	05*	00**	00**	10**	10**	02	02	22**	16**	12**	12**	75**	05	02**						
Conscientiousne	(6.74)	.00	.01	03	.05	.01	01	.07**	05	.09**	09**	10	19	02	02	.22	.10	15**	15	2.5	.05	.08**	-					
SS	(01) 1)																											
19-Openness	28.34	00	03	05	.10**	02	03	.03	.02	02	.03	.02	.13**	.03	01	.24**	.08**	20**	07**	16**	.26**	.25**	.10**	-				
	(6.23)																											
20-Neuroticism	16.40	.03	.25**	04	.06	.02	00	.01	07**	.12**	13**	.16**	.33**	.02	.02	33**	49**	27**	44**	37	15**	02	25**	03	-			
	(8.63)																											
21-Emotional	12.49	.02	.00	.00	.08**	00	.01	.08**	12**	.09**	10**	15**	15**	04	05	.39**	.33**	25**	31**	40**	.22**	.16**	.24**	.17**	42**	-		
WB	(3.19)																											
22-Social WB	15.11	.01	.08**	02	.09**	00	.05*	.06*	06*	06*	.11**	09**	13**	.02	00	.36**	.25**	25**	22**	33**	.27**	.19**	.18**	.17**	36**	.62**	-	
	(5.73)																											
23-	23.61	.02	.04	02	.11**	00	.02	.10**	05*	.05*	05*	11**	13**	02	03	.46**	.31**	28**	29**	42**	.36**	.23**	.32**	.28**	40**	.70**	.66*	-
Psychological	(6.77)																										*	
wB																												

PCD:Primary Control Coping, SCD: Secondary Control Coping, DC: Disengagement Coping, IEC: Involuntary Engagement Coping, and IDC: Involuntary Disengagement Coping. \* p < .005, \*\* p < .001.

# Table 6

Hierarchical regression analysis of personality traits in relation to emotional, psychological and social well-being, controlled for demographics and Response to COVID-19 Stress variables

	Emotio	nal WB		Social	WB		Psycho	logical WE	3
	Beta	95% CI		Beta	95% CI		Beta	95% CI	
Gender	N/A			.05*	.01	1.35	N/A		
Male									
Full Time Job Status	.01	27	.46	.03	14	1.27	.04	01	1.43
Covid	N/A			.05*	.11	1.79	N/A		
Yes									
Income Change Increase Decrease	.02 05*	13 78	.53 06	.04 00	09 78	1.79 .59	.07* .01	.38 45	1.70 .96
Social Interaction Change									
Somewhat	15	-2.16	.01	02	-2.32	1.75	08	-3.38	.89
Largely	19*	-2.39	23	09	-3.21	.83	08	-3.38	.85
Domestic Conflict	04	61	.02	01	90	.31	01	85	.38
Mental Health Issue	00	39	.33	04	-1.23	.16	01	89	.53
Primary Control Coping	.15	-14.59	39.43	.21	-28.67	89.55	.29	-3.27	102.81
Secondary Control Coping	.06	-22.84	30.48	.13	-45.47	71.24	.16	-32.51	72.17
Disengagement Coping	.01	-25.77	28.60	.01	-57.40	61.70	.06	-37.46	69.29
Involuntary Engagement Coping	.05	-25.79	27.93	.12	-43.90	73.80	.10	-37.79	67.69

Involuntary Disengagement Coping	09	-35.24	18.43	.00	-57.61	59.40	.01	-49.77	55.61
Extraversion	.07**	.01	.04	.13**	.05	.12	.19**	.11	.18
Agreeableness	.08**	.02	.07	.11**	.05	.15	.06**	.02	.12
Conscientiousness	.07**	.01	.05	.03	01	.07	.16**	.11	.20
Openness to Experience	.05**	.00	.05	.04	00	.09	.12**	.08	.18
Neuroticism	26**	.07	.11	20**	.09	.17	20**	.12	.20

N/A: Not Applicable \* p < .005, \*\* p < .001.

*Note:* Emotional Well-being:  $R^2$ =.06 for block 1(F(6,1386)=15.67; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .16 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(11,1381)=57.94; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ =.08 for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(16,1376)=31.73; p<.001). Social Well-being:  $R^2$ =.05 for block 1(F(6,1386)=10.33; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .11 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(11,1381)=38.56; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ =.07 for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(16,1376)= 27.76; p<.001). Psychological well-being:  $R^2$ =.05 for block 1(F(6,1386)=12.71; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .21 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(11,1381)=80.38; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ =.13 for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(16,1376)= 64.04; p<.001).

#### Discussion

The purpose of the present study was to replicate and extend a study by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021). They found that personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion were associated with the positive mental health of Canadians during the first summer of the COVID-19 pandemic. As the COVID-19 pandemic has extensive mental health consequences around the world and it is important to have appropriate mental health services delivered to people, we decided to replicate Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021) study a year later to see if the results remained the same.

## Neuroticism

In line with Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), we also found that Neuroticism was negatively and significantly associated with emotional, psychological, and social well-being. Our results also support other studies suggesting that Neuroticism is linked to an increased number of mental health issues in general before (Kotov et al., 2010; Lahey, 2009; Widiger & Oltmanns, 2017), and during the pandemic (Aschwanden et al., 2021; Kroencke et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2021; Ng & Kang, 2022; Shokrkon & Nicoladis, 2021).

There are a number of possible explanations for our result, for instance, generally, individuals who score higher on Neuroticism are more likely to experience negative emotional responses and distress during stressful and uncertain situations such as the COVID-19 pandemic (Kroencke et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2021). They are also more likely to engage in risky behaviors such as smoking cigarettes, drinking alcohol, having unprotected sex, and participating in delinquent activities, in an attempt to relieve stress which could be detrimental to their mental health (Mõttus et al., 2012). Furthermore, people who score high in Neuroticism tend to be less interested in contributing to their social environment (Keyes, 2002), which could lead to these individuals be less able to integrate socially, contribute, and adjust to the changed environmental circumstances (Petrillo et al., 2015) happening during the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### Extraversion

Also as found by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), our results indicated that Extraversion was positively and significantly associated with all three subscales of positive mental health. Our results are in line with pre-pandemic findings (Lamers et al., 2012; Steel et al., 2008) and also studies during the pandemic (Anglim et al., 2020; Shokrkon & Nicoladis, 2021; Wei et al., 2020) showing a positive association between Extraversion and positive mental health.

An explanation for this may be that generally, people who score higher in Extraversion engage more in social situations, including virtual interactions during the pandemic, therefore, they feel a greater sense of social connection (Lee et al., 2008), which help to boost their level of positive emotions (Watson et al., 1992). People who score high in Extraversion even maintain positive emotions for a longer period of time compared to people who score low in Extraversion, particularly during a crisis (Steel et al., 2008). Moreover, as people who score high in Extraversion have more friends and social networks, they may be more likely to seek social–emotional support to cope with the stress caused by the COVID-19 pandemic (Swickert et al., 2002).

#### Agreeableness

Our results indicated that Agreeableness was positively and significantly associated with all three subscales of positive mental health. This is in line with previous pre-pandemic research (Lamers et al., 2012; Schmutte & Ryff, 1997; Steel et al., 2008) and research conducted during the pandemic (Gupta & Parimal, 2020; Proto & Zhang, 2021) showing a positive relationship between Agreeableness and positive mental health.

A possible explanation of our results is that individuals who score high in Agreeableness are generally friendly and warm, which allows them to receive more social support during the time of crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic (Li et al., 2020). Also, generally, Agreeableness is a reflection of social conformity, and compliance (Barrick & Mount, 1991) which could mean individuals who score high in Agreeableness could be less affected by the COVID-19 pandemic since they are better able to get along with others in stressful situations (Zhang et al., 2021).

## **Openness to Experience**

We found that Openness to Experience was significantly and positively associated with psychological and emotional subscales of mental health. This finding is in line with previous studies showing a relationship between Openness to Experience and positive mental health before (Ahmad Marzuki, 2013; Dong & Ni, 2020; Keyes et al., 2002) and during the pandemic (Anglim et al., 2020; Hölscher, 2021).

A possible explanation could be that during the pandemic, the Openness to Experience trait might be an effective personal characteristic resource for dealing with the challenges associated with COVID-19. Since individuals who score higher on Openness to Experience are more likely to be able to adapt to new situations and constructively change them (Asselmann et al., 2020), they might be more accepting of the changes and be more open to new protocols for day-to-day living resulting from COVID-19 pandemic, and therefore may be more resilient to the mental threat of the disease (Zhang et al., 2021). They could also explore new things and consequently have a greater resistance to boredom during the pandemic (Zhang et al., 2021). Moreover, individuals who score higher on Openness to Experience are generally more likely to experience higher positive emotions, stimulation, novelty, diversity, growth, personal growth, and purpose in life (Anglim & Horwood, 2020; Roberti, 2004), which could have positive impacts on their overall well-being.

# Conscientiousness

Our results showed that Conscientiousness was significantly and positively associated with psychological and emotional mental health. This finding supports previous research before (Kotov et al., 2010; Schmutte & Ryff, 1997; Steel et al., 2008) and during the pandemic (Anglim et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2022), showing a positive relationship between Conscientiousness and positive mental health.

A possible explanation could be that Conscientiousness has been indicated to be a personal characteristic resource in coping with stress because individuals who score high in Conscientiousness are more likely to plan and avoid maladaptive responses to stress (Vollrath & Torgersen, 2000). Thus, individuals who score high in Conscientiousness may be more prepared to cope with COVID-19 stress, thereby being less negatively affected. Furthermore, individuals

who score high in Conscientiousness tend to be more engaged in their work which allows them to devote themselves to their work as well as a variety of other meaningful activities (Barrick & Mount, 1991) which could enable them to be less psychologically affected by the pandemic. Also, individuals who score higher in Conscientiousness generally exhibit better emotional regulation skills (Friedman & Kern, 2014), which could result in improving their mental health (Berking & Wupperman, 2012).

#### Conclusion

The present study replicated the results of the study by Shokrkon and Nicoladis (2021), as we found that Extraversion was positively and Neuroticism was negatively associated with all three subscales of positive mental health, even after controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress. We extended their study by testing whether Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness were also related to mental health outcomes. We found that all three of these personality variables were positively related to positive mental health, even after controlling demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress.

Our findings are in line with studies conducted before the pandemic and it is likely that the pandemic has not changed the relationship between personality traits and mental health. For instance, Neuroticism is associated with more mental health issues in general (Diener et al., 1999; Kotov et al., 2010). Furthermore, individuals who score higher in Extraversion are in general more likely to experience higher positive emotions and maintain them (Watson et al., 1992; Steel et al., 2008). Agreeableness is associated with being generally friendly and warm, which makes more Agreeable individuals receive support during times of crisis (Li et al., 2020) Individuals who score higher in Openness to Experience tend to adapt better to new circumstances and make constructive
62

changes to them (Asselmann et al., 2020). Individuals who score high in Conscientiousness are more likely to develop a plan and respond constructively to crises (Vollrath & Torgersen, 2000).

While the pandemic may not have changed the relationship between personality variables and mental health outcomes, the present results contribute to the growing evidence that interventions with mental health could benefit from taking personality into account. Our results are important for understanding that the pandemic and the consequences might affect individuals with different personalities differently (Shokrkon & Nicoladis, 2021). As the COVID-19 pandemic has affected the world since 2019 and is constantly mutating and showing no signs of ending soon, mental health professionals should develop personality-appropriate intervention programs to enhance mental health around the world. These personality-appropriate intervention strategies to promote mental health could prepare individuals for dealing with the pandemic consequences developed by the pandemic's persistent long-term nature. Also, our results may provide a guide for the screening of individuals more susceptible to mental health issues based on personality traits.

Chapter 4

Study 3: Mental Health in Canadian Children and Adolescents during COVID-19 Pandemic: The Role of Personality and, Coping and Stress Responses

# Abstract:

In December 2019, the Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) pandemic first emerged in China and quickly spread to other countries. Previous studies have shown that the COVID-19 pandemic and the consequences have negatively impacted the mental health of adults. Individual differences such as personality could contribute to mental health. Furthermore, coping and responses to stress may affect an individual's response to the pandemic. In the past, studies have only investigated this relationship in adults. In the current study, we examine how personality traits (using the Five-Factor Model as our framework) and coping and response to COVID-19 stress are related to the mental health of Canadian children and adolescents during the pandemic. Using parent reports of 100 2–6-year-old preschool children and 607 7–18-year-old children, we performed multiple regression analysis to explore how personality traits predict the effects of COVID-19 on mental health. The results showed that personality traits are associated with the mental health of Canadian youth during the COVID-19 pandemic. In preschoolers, Neuroticism and Agreeableness predicted the most mental health problems, and in 6-18-year-old children, Extraversion negatively predicted the least mental health problems. Also, Openness to Experience was the weakest predictor of mental health status in Canadian youth. We also conducted a moderated hierarchical regression analysis to explore whether age moderates the relationship between personality traits and SDQ variables in 7–18-year-old children. Our results showed that age did not moderate the relationship between personality traits and SDQ variables except for a negative interaction effect between age and Extraversion on Hyperactivity/Inattention and a very weak positive interaction effect between age and Conscientiousness on Total Difficulty score. Our findings could be useful in understanding children's responses to the COVID-19 pandemic and could assist public health services in delivering mental health services specifically tailored to children's personalities during and after this pandemic.

### Introduction

The Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic started in China in December 2019 and was declared a global pandemic in early 2020, by World Health Organization (WHO, 2020). Several studies have documented that the public's mental health has deteriorated since the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 (Gadermann et al., 2021; Hossain et al., 2021; Jiao, et al., 2020; Kumar, & Nayar, 2021). According to Statistics Canada, based on a Survey on COVID-19 and Mental Health, one in four (25%) Canadians expressed symptoms of depression, anxiety, or post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in spring 2021, compared with one in five (21%) in fall 2020 (Statistics Canada, 2021).

At the beginning of the pandemic, only a relatively small number of children have been physically affected by the disease (She et al., 2020), with most showing only mild symptoms compared to adults (Patel, 2020). However, during the second and third wave of the pandemic (when our study was conducted), the number of the children infected with COVID-19 increased, (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2022), and at the same time vaccines were also becoming available for children.

The existing public health policies, like containment measures, could negatively affect children's mental health. The COVID-19 pandemic has brought significant educational and social disruptions to children around the world. For instance, in Canada, school closures affected 5.7 million children and youth attending elementary and secondary school (Statistics Canada, 2021). Even when schools remained open, students' experiences of schooling changed dramatically. For instance, in order to prevent the spread of COVID-19, curriculum delivery methods have changed, social distancing measures have been implemented during classes and recess and mask-wearing has been mandated across Canada (Vaillancourt et al., 2021). Moreover, many parents were forced to work from home due to the pandemic and although some children could benefit from increased

interactions with them, many have experienced increased levels of emotional distress (Sprang and Silman, 2013; Xie et al., 2020). Having to stay at home could also disturb children's sleep/wake cycles, and physical exercise activities, and lead to excessive use of technology (Xie et al., 2020). The pandemic has also been associated with an increase in family economic stressors and parental unemployment, which could result in short- and long-term mental health effects in children (Costello et al., 2003). Furthermore, domestic violence and emotional, physical, or sexual abuse are more likely to occur in a situation like the pandemic since stress and anxiety could trigger abusive behaviors, victims of abuse have limited access to resources during lockdowns, and many individuals have been forced to spend more time at home with their abusers, which could increase the risk of abuse or exacerbate the severity of abuse (Ali et al., 2021; Ramaswamy & Seshadri, 2020).

Children's development has also been impacted by the drastic changes in all aspects, particularly the interruptions to the development of skills that are fundamental for optimum growth and wellness (Araújo et al., 2021). For instance, children and youth are spending less time interacting with peers and adults compared with before the pandemic (McNamara, 2021), resulting in immediate adverse consequences (Moore et al., 2020), such as negative effects on cognitive development (Deoni et al., 2022), socio-emotional development (Egan et al., 2021), academic performance (Davies & Aurini, 2021) and mental health (Kang et al., 2021).

Not all individuals have been equally affected by the pandemic. Several studies have shown that individual differences such as personality traits could predict differences in psychosocial and mental health outcomes, and the well-being of adults before the pandemic (Albuquerque et al., 2012; Bucher et al., 2019; Strickhouser et al., 2017) and also during the pandemic (Proto, & Zhang, 2021; Shokrkon, & Nicoladis, 2021). Moreover, personality traits could influence the coping style individuals select in different stressful situations (van Berkel, 2009) as coping is a dynamic process

that changes with time as a consequence of varying demands and perceptions of the situation (Moos & Holahan, 2003). Nonetheless, a limited number of studies have explored the contribution of personality and coping to the impacts of the pandemic on the well-being of children and adolescents. Personality is defined as a set of mental structures and adaptive strategies acquired throughout life via socialization and the further expression of temperament within individuals (Rothbart et al., 2000). In this study, we are testing how personality traits, using the Five-Factor Model (FFM; McCrae & Costa, 1987), are associated with the mental health of children and adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada. The FFM is one of the most widely recognized summaries of human personality traits (Eysenck, 1992; Goldberg, 1993) consisting of the five dimensions of Neuroticism (or Emotional Instability vs. Stability), Extraversion (vs. Introversion), Openness to Experience (or unconventionality), Agreeableness (vs. Antagonism), and Conscientiousness (or Constraint vs. Disinhibition) (Goldberg, 1992). The FFM framework has been shown to be valid and applicable to children as young as preschool age (Abe & Izard, 1999; Asendorpf & Denissen, 2006; Grist & McCord, 2010; Halverson et al., 2003). Understanding how personality affects children's mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic may assist public health services to implement services tailored to each child's personality.

Also, alongside the personality traits, we are interested in examining the contribution of Coping and Response to Stress on the mental health of Canadian youth as coping could have a central role in determining the impact of the pandemic (Buheji et al., 2020), as how one responds to stress could have significant long-term and immediate consequences (Corbett et al., 2021). Coping consists of cognitive and behavioural strategies used to manage stress (Biggs et al., 2017). There are two types of coping strategies: adaptive and maladaptive (Compas et al., 2017). Adaptive strategies including primary control engagement coping (in which one attempts to modify the stressor directly or modify one's response to the stressor, for example, by solving problems) and secondary control engagement coping (which focuses on adjusting to the problem, for example, using cognitive reorganization) have been found to significantly reduce the risk of negative mental health outcomes (Carver et al., 1989; Connor-Smith et al., 2000; Rosenberg et al., 2011). In contrast, maladaptive strategies including disengagement coping (which involves attempts to suppress arousal, for example, using avoidance), involuntary engagement coping (which involves involuntary emotional and physiological stress, for example, using distracting thoughts and sympathetic arousal), and involuntary disengagement coping (which involves attempts to disengage from one's emotions, for example using through emotional numbing) have been linked to adverse mental health outcomes (Compas et al., 1997; Connor-Smith et al., 2000; Matthews et al., 2016). Therefore, the coping behaviors and strategies used by children and adolescents play an important role in maintaining an appropriate mental health adjustment in a situation like the current pandemic (Idoiaga et al., 2020), therefore, we will investigate their contribution to children's mental health.

### **The Present Study**

In this study, we are interested in seeing how personality traits contribute to mental health of children from preschool to adolescence. We also wanted to see if the relationship between personality traits and mental health variables (SDQ measures) are the same for older and younger children. Online questionnaires were sent to parents of 2–18-year-old children living across Canada using Qualtrics, a survey platform, distributed via social networks and from the email listings of the University of Alberta. Prior to participating in the study, parents consented through Qualtrics to a question asking "Do you wish to continue the survey, if you do your consent to participate is implied", with two options of "I consent" and "I do not wish to continue". The study was approved by the Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta (Pro00100751). The data

used in this study is available in the Figshare repository for other researchers to use. Participation in our study was voluntary and ten random participants received a \$50 gift card of their choice.

In our study, we analyzed the data of children under 6 and over 6 separately for two reasons: 1) the personality measurement we used differed for the two groups and 2) we believe children being in school vs. out of school could have various impacts. For instance, containment measures and policies (such as mask wearing, and social distancing measures) were different for daycares and schools. In addition, school-aged children are more likely to be more comfortable using technology and social media platforms independently to connect with peers. However, the lack of in-person social interactions may still negatively impact their mental health. Younger children usually do not have access to social media platforms, which may make them more isolated as a result of being unable to connect with their peers. Moreover, children of different ages might have a different online-learning experience during the pandemic. For example, as mentioned before, older children might find it easier to use technology for online learning, and they may be more capable of engaging in online learning activities independently since they have more advanced cognitive skills. In our study, we conducted a moderation regression analysis in order to understand how the relationship between personality traits and mental health variables (SDQ variables) might change over the age range of 7-18 years, and to see whether any differences in this relationship could be explained by age.

### **Materials and Methods**

### **Participants**

A sample of 100 parents of preschool children (80 mothers, 18 fathers, and 2 other caregivers; mean age = 33.75 years [SD = 5.73; range 18 to 48 years]) were recruited for this study who completed parent reports of questionnaires during June and July 2021. The children of

participants were 52 males, and 48 females; mean age = 3.52 years [SD = 1.14; range 2 to 6 years]. To make sure our preschooler's study is not underpowered, we used the GPower software application. This power analysis is undertaken to determine the minimum sample size required. The required power was set at  $1-\beta = 0.80$ . The level of significance was set at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The effect size was kept at the range value of 0.15 (medium effect size) and the number of predictors is taken as 12. Power analysis revealed that in order to achieve, power of 0.80, a total sample size of n = 44 is needed for our study.

Also, 607 parents of 7-18-year-old children participated in our study (350 mothers, 257 fathers; mean age = 37.56 years [SD = 3.47; range 21 to 58 years]) and completed parent reports of questionnaires. The children of participants were 307 males, and 300 females; mean age =12.55 years [SD = 3.47; range 6 to 18 years]. All participants were required to: (1) reside in Canada; and (2) consent to participate.

### Measures

# **Mental Health**

Mental health was assessed using parents' reports on the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ; Goodman, 1997).We used the age-appropriate versions of SDQ for parents of preschoolers and 7–18-year-old children. The SDQ asks questions about positive and negative characteristics displayed by the child in the past 6 months in five categories: Emotional Symptoms (e.g., often unhappy, downhearted), Conduct Problems (e.g., fights with other children), Hyperactivity/Inattention (e.g., constantly fidgeting or squirming), Peer Relationship Problems (e.g., tends to play alone) and Prosocial Behavior (e.g., considerate of other people's feelings). There are five items in each subscale, and the parent/caregiver rates each item as either: Never = 0, Somewhat True = 1, or Certainly True = 2. The Total Difficulties score is generated by adding up the values of the first four scales, leading to a possible score between 0 and 40, where higher scores indicate an increasing level of behavioral difficulties. A total SDQ score of 17 or higher is considered abnormal. In a study by Croft et al. (2015), all sub-scales showed acceptable internal reliability of subscales ranging from  $\omega = 0.66$  (Peer Relationship Problems) to  $\omega = 0.83$ (Hyperactivity/Inattention) in preschool children. Another study on 6-17-year-old Canadian children found evidence for the factorial validity and reliability of the parent-rated SDQ and acceptable internal consistency ranging from 0.79 to 0.88 for the subscales (Hoffman et al., 2020).

### Personality

### **Preschoolers' Measurement**

The M5–PS–35 is a five-factor personality questionnaire that has been validated for use in preschool populations (Grist et al., 2012). The M5-PS-35 includes items such as "is friendly towards peers" (Extraversion), "loves to help people" (Agreeableness), "completes tasks successfully" (Conscientiousness), "is afraid of many things" (Neuroticism), and "adapts to new activities" (Openness to Experience). Each question uses a 5-point Likert-type scale, ranging from Inaccurate to Accurate. Grist et al. (2012) showed that the revised and shortened version shows strong construct validity and improved internal reliability, internal consistency values are E = .77; A = .90; C = .87; N = .79; O = .71.

### 7-18-year-olds Measurement

Personality of 7–18-year-old children was measured by parents' reports on the Big Five Questionnaire for Children (BFQ-C) which is a 65-item questionnaire that measures the Big Five in children and adolescents (Barbaranelli et al., 2003). The traits are Extraversion (e.g., "I easily make friends"), Agreeableness (e.g., "I trust in others"), Conscientiousness (e.g., "I like to keep all my school things in order"), Neuroticism/Emotional instability (e.g., "I easily get angry") and Openness/Intellect (e.g., "I easily learn what I study at school"). Items are scored on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = almost never to 5 = almost always. For each factor, individual item scores are combined to yield a total score. A study by Vreeke and Muris (2012) found that parent report on the BFQ-C was found to have good alphas for Extraversion (.79), Agreeableness (.87), Conscientiousness (.88), Neuroticism (.86), and Openness (.86).

### **Coping and Response to Stress**

Coping and Responses to Stress Questionnaire (RSQ) COVID-19 (Connor-Smith et al., 2000), a multidimensional questionnaire, is adapted to specific stressors or domains of stress, in this case, the COVID-19 pandemic. There are 57 items categorized into five factors (Connor-Smith et al., 2000). For each item, participants are asked: *How much do you do this?* On a scale of 1 to 4: 1 (Not at All), 2 (A Little), 3 (Some), and 4 (A lot). The five total factors include three types of *coping*: Primary Control Engagement Coping: (i.e., emotional expression, emotion regulation, and problem-solving); Secondary Control Engagement Coping (i.e., acceptance, cognitive restructuring, distraction, and positive thinking); and Disengagement Coping (i.e., avoidance, denial, and wishful thinking). The RSQ includes two types of involuntary responses to stress: Involuntary Engagement (i.e., emotional arousal, impulse action, intrusive thoughts, physiological arousal, and rumination) and Involuntary Disengagement (i.e., cognitive interference, emotional numbing, escape, and inaction). Each of the five factors—Primary Coping, Secondary Coping, Disengagement Coping, Involuntary Engagement, and Involuntary Disengagement—is calculated as a ratio score of the total stress response items endorsed. Therefore, Primary Coping, for example, represents the propensity of an individual to use this coping style relative to the four other factors. The RSQ has demonstrated excellent internal

consistency, test-retest reliability, and convergent and construct validity (Coiro et al., 2021; Compas et al., 2017).

## **Demographic Variables**

All participants (parents of 2–18-year-old children) were asked to provide the following demographic information: parents' age, their current job status and if there has been a change in their income over the last 2 months if they had pre-existing mental health issues, children's age and gender, and the number of children in the family and birth order of children.

All parents were also asked specific questions about their experiences with the COVID-19 pandemic, for example, if they or anyone living in their household were diagnosed with COVID-19, whether they experienced domestic conflicts as a consequence of the pandemic, how the pandemic interfered with their social interactions, if the loss of childcare services affected them and if the children experienced any issues with their siblings. We reasoned that children's mental health could be affected by the personal experiences people have with the COVID-19 pandemic. Table 7 (preschoolers) and table 8 (7–18-year-old children) provide additional demographic information.

# Table 7

Demographics	Options	Percentage
Child's gender		
	Male	52%
	Female	48%
Parents' Job Status		
	Not employed	14%
	Temporary/Part-time Employment	13%
	Full-time Employment	30%
	Student	43%
Social interactions		
	Not Affected	10%
	Somewhat Affected	50%
	Largely Affected	40%
Sibling Issues		
	Did not have sibling issues	89%
	Did have sibling issues	11%

# Preschool sample demographics characteristics

# Table 8

# 7–18-year-olds sample demographics characteristics

Demographics	Options	Percentage
Income Change		
	Yes, it has decreased	51.7%
	Yes, it has increased	39.5%
	No change	8.7%
Job Status		
	Not employed	31.6%
	Temporary/Part-time Employment	28.7%
	Full-time Employment	33.9%
	Student	5.8%
Domestic conflict		
	Yes	85.5%
	No	14.5%
Social interactions		
	Not Affected	69.5%
	Affected	30.5%
Sibling Issues		
	Did not have sibling issues	53.2%
	Did have sibling issues	46.8%

## **Statistical Analyses**

Following are the results of all analyses conducted in IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 28). In order to investigate the relationship between personality traits with mental health (positive and negative attributes), first, we calculated Pearson correlation coefficients between personality traits on one hand and Total Difficulty scores, Emotional Symptoms, Hyperactivity/Inattention, Peer Relationship Problems, and Prosocial Behaviors on the other, as well as demographic factors. The variables with at least one significant association with outcome variables are presented in Table 2 (preschoolers) and table 5 (7–18-year-old children).

A hierarchical multivariate regression model was then used to assess the relationship between independent variables and outcome variables. Among demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress factors, those significantly associated with the dependent variables (Total Difficulty scores, Conduct Problems, Emotional Symptoms, Hyperactivity/Inattention, Peer Relationship Problems, and Prosocial Behaviors) during bivariate analyses were entered into the first and the second models of the hierarchical regression models. The five coping and response to COVID-19 stress factors, Primary Coping, Secondary Coping, Disengagement Coping, Involuntary Engagement, and Involuntary Disengagement were entered in the second block in order to control for potential confounding variables (Table 9 for preschoolers and table 11 for 7–18-year-old children show the final block of the three hierarchical regression analyses).

We entered the (correlated) demographic variables and Coping and Response to COVID-19 Stress variables into the first and second blocks to control for them, as we reasoned that those demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress play a critical role in determining the impact of the pandemic on children. Finally, after controlling for demographics and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables, the five personality traits were entered into the model.

Additionally, we examined whether children's age moderated the relationship between personality traits and mental health variables among 7–18-year-olds, using moderated hierarchical multivariate regression analysis. We first mean-centered our continuous predictor variables. Following previous analyses, we first entered the demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress factors (those significantly associated with the dependent variables) into the first and the second blocks of the hierarchical regression models. Following that, we entered personality traits variables into the third block, and the interaction effects between age and personality traits into the fourth block of our regression model. The final block of the moderated hierarchical multivariate regression analysis (personality traits and age interaction effects) is shown in Table 12.

# Results

### **Preschool Children**

The means, standard deviations, and correlations between personality traits, coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables, and SDQ subscales are presented in Table 9. Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are all positively correlated with each other and negatively correlated with Neuroticism, except for Extraversion and Agreeableness.

As can be seen in Table 10, Openness to Experience is not related to any of the SDQ subscales when controlling for demographic factors and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables. Extraversion is positively and significantly related to Hyperactivity/Inattention

and Prosocial Behavior. Neuroticism is positively and significantly related to Total Difficulties score, Emotional Symptoms, and Conduct Problems. Agreeableness was negatively and significantly related to Total Difficulties score, Conduct problems, and Hyperactivity/Inattention. Conscientiousness is negatively and significantly related to Total Difficulties score, and Hyperactivity/Inattention.

Over and above the contribution of demographics and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables, the personality traits, explain 60% of the variance of total difficulty score, 51% of Emotional Symptoms, 54% of Conduct Problems, 54% of Hyperactivity/Inattention, 22% of Peer Relationship Problems, and 39% Prosocial Behavior.

# Table 9

Means, standard deviations, and correlations between demographics variables, coping and stress responses, and personality traits in preschoolers.

	MEAN (SD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
1 Child Gender 1.1 Male Female	-	- REF																			
2.Job Status 2.1.Part-time No Job	-	-02 REF	-																		
3.Social Interactions 3.1.Largely No Change	-	-11 REF	.02	-																	
4.Sibling Issue 4.1 No Yes	-	.08 REF	.05	21**	-																
5.PCC	.31	.20	.06	.07	.23*	-															
6.SCD	(.14) .32	01	.07	06	.11	.02	-														
7.DC	.13	10	08	09	21*	46**	43**	-													
8.IEC	(.12) .10	05	14	.01	13	42**	47**	.04	-												
9.IDC	(.10) .09	03	04	01	00	54**	39**	.14	.49**	-											
10.Openness	(.07) 4.17	.10	.03	06	.13	.17	.39**	05	32**	29**	-										
11.Extraversion	(.03) 4.29	.14	.05	.03	.00	.17	.42**	15	39**	42**	.52**	-									
12.Neuroticism	(.73) 2.84	11	03	.12	16	21*	23*	01	.41**	.23*	34**	36**	-								
13.Agreeableness	(.85) 3.28 (.66)	.01	.20*	16	.30**	.27**	.15	14	26*	18	.24*	00	38**	-							
14.Conscientiousnes	3.66	.16	.12	04	.19*	.26*	.18	12	26*	31**	.41**	.26**	40**	.58**	-						
s 15.Emotional	(.03) 2.58	18	01	01	03	28**	24*	.01	.48*	.32*.	31**	42**	.65**	20*	37**	-					
16.Conduct	(2.55) 2.31	01	10	.20*	36**	21*	23*	.05	.30**	.24*	22*	12	.49**	62**	42**	.39**	-				
Problems 17.hyperactivity/ inattention	(1.44) 5.65 (2.43)	04	25*	.10	.17	14	08	.05	.25*	.06	14	.13	.23*	58**	58**	.20*	.42**	-			
18.Peer relationship	4.12	19*	01	04	05	10	17	.01	.27*	.21*	25*	32**	30**	19	30**	.50**	.27**	.13	-		
19.Prosocial Behaviour	7.74	.11	.07	.08	.33**	.23*	.24*	27**	17	24*	.33**	.37**	17	.24*	.39**	15	22*	21*	22*	-	
20.Total Difficulties	14.66 (5.68)	16	14	.07	21*	27*	25*	.04	.47**	.29**	33**	25**	.60**	55**	61**	.78**	.69**	.66**	.64**	28**	

PCD:Primary Control Coping, SCD: Secondary Control Coping, DC: Disengagement Coping, IEC: Involuntary Engagement Coping, and IDC: Involuntary Disengagement Coping.

\*\* p< 0.01 \* P<0.05

# Table 10

Hierarchical regression analysis (standardized beta weights) of personality traits in relation to SDQ subscales, controlled for demographics and coping and stress responses variables for preschoolers.

	Total Difficu Beta	Ilty 95% CI		Emotiona Beta	05% CI		Conduct Beta			Hyperacti	vity 95% CI		Peer	95% CI		Prosocial Beta	95% CI			
<b>Gender</b> Male Female	N/A	9570 CI		N/A	9576 CI		N/A			N/A	9576 CI		09 REF	97	.37	N/A	9570 CI			
<b>Job Status</b> Part-time No Job	N/A			N/A			N/A			10 REF	-1.92	.40	N/A			N/A				
Social Interactions Largely No Change	N/A			N/A			.11 REF	16	.93	N/A			N/A			N/A				
<b>Sibling Issue</b> No Yes	.09 REF	73	2.86	N/A			20* REF	-1.76	14	N/A			N/A			02 REF	-1.03	.77		
PCC	.01	-7.16	8.39	05	-4.70	2.83	.05	-1.64	2.80	N/A			N/A			.21	74	7.06		
SCC	00	-8.76	8.62	.01	-3.93	4.44	04	-2.88	1.93	N/A			IN/A			.15	-2.10	0.01		
DC	N/A			N/A			N/A			N/A			N/A			N/A				
IEC	.20*	.27	23.76	.18	87	10.50	.01	-3.02	3.45	.18*	.14	8.67	.08	-2.75	5.37	.16	-2.21	9.55		
IDC	00	-15.80	15.58	.02	-6.86	8.35	.14	1.68	7.19	N/A			.00	-5.15	5.28	.09	-5.13	10.61		
Openness	.02	-1.53	2.05	.06	62	1.18	00	51	.47	.02	64	.84	06	-8.17	.49	.08	60	1.19		
Extraversion	.02	-1.36	1.78	10	-1.11	.41	.04	34	.52	.30**	.35	1.67	18	-1.01	.19	.34*	.23	1.81		
Neuroticism	.32**	1.02	3.58	.54**	1.07	2.30	.21*	.03	.74	03	64	.45	.12	23	.74	.07	43	.84		
Agreeableness	21*	-3.61	16	.15	23	1.43	47**	-1.53	56	27**	-1.78	25	01	71	.62	.16	30	1.42		
Conscientiousness	- 30**	-4 63	- 88	- 18	-1.62	15	03	- 42	59	- 47**	-26	-1.04	- 12	-1.03	38	16	- 36	1.61		

PCD:Primary Control Coping, SCD: Secondary Control Coping, DC: Disengagement Coping, IEC: Involuntary Engagement Coping, and IDC: Involuntary Disengagement Coping. N/A: not applicable

\*\* p< 0.01\* P<0.05

*Note:* Total difficulty:  $R^2$ =.06 for block 1(F(1,99)=5.40; p>.05);  $\Delta R^2$ : .20 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(5,95)=5.54; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ =.33 for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(10,90)=12.68; p<.001). Emotional Problems:  $R^2$ =.23 for block 1(F(4,96)=6.04; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .28 for block

 $2(F_{change}(9,91)=8.85; p<.001)$ . Conduct: R<sup>2</sup>=.20 for block 1(F(2,98)=10.78; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .08 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(6,94)=2.22; p>0.05).  $\Delta R^2$ =.25 for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(11,89)=7.07; p<.001). Hyperactivity/inattention: R<sup>2</sup>=.05 for block 1(F(1,99)=4.89; p<.01);  $\Delta R^2$ : .05 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(2,98)=4.65; p<.01).  $\Delta R^2$ =.44 for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(7,97)=15.72; p<.001). Peer problems: R<sup>2</sup>=.02 for block 1(F(1,99)=4.65; p<.01).

2.41; p>.05);  $\Delta R^2$ : .07 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(5,95)=3.77; p<.05).  $\Delta R^2$ =.09 for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(10,90)=1.99; p>.05). Prosocial: R<sup>2</sup>=.14 for block 1(F(1,99)=.16; p>0.05);  $\Delta R^2$ : .11 for block 2 (F<sub>change</sub>(5,95)=2.60; p<.05).  $\Delta R^2$ =.17 for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(10,90)=3.83; p<.05).

#### 7–18-year-old children

The means, standard deviations, and correlations between personality traits, coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables, and SDQ subscales are presented in Table 11. Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are all positively correlated with each other and negatively correlated with Neuroticism.

As can be seen in Table 12, Openness to Experience is negatively related to Hyperactivity/Inattention when controlling for demographic factors and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables. Extraversion was negatively and significantly related to Total Difficulty score, Conduct Problems, and Peer Relationship Problems and also positively related to Hyperactivity/Inattention. Neuroticism was positively and significantly related to total difficulty score and Hyperactivity/Inattention. Agreeableness was negatively and significantly related to Conduct Problems and positively related to Prosocial behaviors. Conscientiousness was negatively and significantly related to Total Difficulty score, and Hyperactivity/Inattention.

Over and above the contribution of demographics and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables, the personality traits, explained 46% of the variance of the Total Difficulty score, 17% of Emotional Symptoms, 40% of Conduct Problems, 11% of Hyperactivity/Inattention, 28% of Peer Relationship problems, and 27% Prosocial behavior.

# Table 11

Means, standard deviations and correlations between demographics variables, coping and stress responses and personality traits in 7–18-year-old children.

MI (SI	EAN D)	1	2	3	4.1	4.2	5	6	7.1	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	2 1
1.Parent's Age	37.56 (5.98)																								-
2.Child's Age 3.Income Change	12.55 (3.47) -	.11**																							
Decrease No change		06 REF	.03																						
4.Job Status 4.1.Part-time 4.2.Student No Job	-	04 .01	.01 14**	.14** 15**	- 15**																				
5.Domestic Issues Yes No	-	35** REF	.07	.25**	.14**	38**																			
6.Social Interactions Largely No Change	-	07 REF	00	.09*	.04	13**	.20**																		
7.Sibling Issue Yes No		10* REF	.07	02	00	07	.14**	.02																	
8.PCC	.16 (.03)	.17**	03	09*	04	.30**	46**	12**	14**																
9.SCC	.21 (.03)	.23**	03	13**	08*	.24**	52**	08*	14**	.30**															
10.DC	.15 (.02)	09*	.01	.01	.01	01	.12**	.03	.02	31**	26**														
11.IEC	.25 (.03)	13**	.02	.13**	.06	26**	.46**	.10*	.16**	51**	66**	07													

12.IDC	.20 (.03)	23**	.04	.08*	.05	29**	.46**	.08*	.11**	57**	56**	01	.24**											
13.Openness	40.47	.15**	11**	11**	09*	.28**	47**	12**	12**	.39**	.35**	12**	32**	36**										
14.Extravers ion	(6.34) 40.98 (6.62)	.17**	16**	13**	.06	.30**	49**	10**	13**	.37**	.33**	13**	26**	36**	.45**									
15.Neurotici sm	38.36 (5.92)	15**	.00	.03	.00	27**	.28**	.03	.12**	23**	32**	.04	.32**	.22**	13**	21**								
16.Agreeabl eness	41.22 (6.96)	.18**	09*	19**	09*	.43**	55**	16**	16**	.39**	.37**	06	34**	40**	.47**	.42**	22**	-						
17.Conscient iousness	39.91 (6.10)	.09*	00	07	08*	.15**	26**	09*	16**	.27**	.19**	06	20**	22**	.29**	.25**	15**	.33**						
18.Emotiona l Symptoms	4.64 (2.06)	14**	.02	.06	01	21**	.31**	.10*	.11**	19**	35**	.06	.30**	.22**	15**	21**	.20**	19**	15**	-				
19.Conduct Problems	4.34 (2.22)	23**	.11**	.17**	.13**	37**	.56**	.06	.12**	38**	35**	.11**	.28**	.40**	31**	42**	.22**	47**	-20**	.25**				
20.hyperacti vity/inattenti on	4.99 (2.02)	09*	00	.00	.00	13**	.11**	.02	.01	16**	17**	.06	17**	.12**	17**	05	.18**	11**	23**	.16**	.12**			
21.Peer relationship problems	4.70 (2.24)	20**	.01	.18**	.12**	28**	.49**	.11**	.03	30**	33**	.05	.30**	.30**	32**	35**	.20**	36**	14**	.23**	.33**	.09*		
22.Prosocial Behaviour	5.51 (2.11)	.16*	09*	19**	16**	.31**	41**	10*	05	.28**	.26**	01	26**	28**	.33**	.31**	14**	.44**	.16*	10*	32**	08*	- .24	-
23.Total Difficulties Score	18.66 (5.44)	26**	.05	.16**	.10**	40**	.59**	.12**	.11**	41**	47**	.11**	.42**	.42**	38**	42**	.32**	46**	28**	.64**	.69**	.52**	.67 **	- .30* *

PCD: Primary Control Coping, SCD: Secondary Control Coping, DC: Disengagement Coping, IEC: Involuntary Engagement Coping, and IDC: Involuntary Disengagement Coping. \*\* p< 0.01 \* P<0.05

-

# Table 12

Hierarchical regression analysis (standardized beta weights) of personality traits in relation to SDQ subscales, controlled for demographics and coping and stress responses variables for 7–18-year-old children

	Total Di	ifficulty	Emotional			Conduct			Hyperactivity			Peer			Prosocial				
	Beta	95% CI		Beta	95% CI		Beta	95% CI		Beta	95% CI		Beta	95% CI		Beta	95% CI		
Parent's Age	04	10	.01	02	03	.02	03	04	.01	05	04	.00	02	03	.01	.03	01	.03	
Child's Age	N/A			N/A			.04	01	.07	N/A			N/A			03	06	.02	
Income Change Decrease Increase	.01 REF	54	.85	N/A			.02	19	40	N/A			.05	09	.56	07	62	.00	
Job Status Part-time Student No Job	01 14** REF	90 -5.07	.59 -1.67	N/A 09*	-1.67	07	.02 10**	19 -1.78	.45 29	N/A 08	-1.56	.04	.03 05	19 -1.33	.51 .29	07 .08	67 01	.00 1.53	
Domestic Issues Yes No	.25** REF	2.52	5.44	.12*	.05	1.41	.28**	1.20	2.46	-09	-1.21	.15	.27**	1.09	2.48	09	-1.26	.05	
Social Interactions Largely No Change	03 REF	30	1.13	01	39	.28	N/A			N/A			.02	22	.46	.05	07	.57	
Sibling Issue Yes No	01 REF	80	.55	.04	14	.49	.03	16	.42	N/A			N/A			N/A			
PCD SCD DC IEC IDC	63* 81* 42 59 53	-223.92 -231.69 -213.67 -207.04 -206.80	95 -10.31 8.88 15.34 14.66	.01 19** N/A .08 .00	-7.013 -18.93 -3.08 -8.43	9.60 -2.77 13.36 9.20	30 30 15 30 14	-70.78 -66.24 -63.23 -67.86 -58.85	26.04 29.85 33.38 28.68 37.28	06 10 N/A .01 03	-12.89 -13.97 7.72 -11.55	4.07 2.34 8.92 6.31	01 01 N/A .06 .04	-9.18 -8.81 -4.33 -5.99	7.47 7.52 12.27 11.84	00 06 N/A 10 08	-8.71 -11.69 -14.12 -14.03	7.42 3.83 1.62 2.86	
Openness Extraversion Neuroticism Agreeableness Conscientiousness	03 08* .07* 05 09**	09 13 .00 10 14	.03 00 .13 .01 02	.04 05 .04 .05 06	01 04 01 01 05	.04 .01 .04 .04 .00	.05 13** .01 16** .00	00 07 02 08 02	.04 01 .03 02 .02	12** .10* .11** .04 19**	07 .00 .01 01 09	01 .06 .06 .04 03	05 10* .03 06 .03	05 06 01 05 01	.01 00 .04 .00 .04	.06 .08 .02 .23** 02	06 00 01 .04 03	.05 .05 .03 .10 .02	
Openness x age Extraversion x age Neuroticism x age Agreeableness x age	04 02 04 00 .06*	02 02 02 00 .00	.00 .01 .00 .00 .03	02 .06 05 .00 .07	01 00 01 00 00	.00 .01 .00 .00 .01	03 01 .00 .04 .00	01 00 00 .00 00	.00 .00 .00 .00	06 12* 03 01 .06	01 01 00 00	.00 00 .00 .00 .01	.00 .02 01 05 .03	00 00 00 00 00	.00 .01 .00 .00 .01	00 .02 .00 02 .03	00 00 00 00 00	.00 .00 .00 .00 .01	

Conscientiousness x age

PCD: Primary Control Coping, SCD: Secondary Control Coping, DC: Disengagement Coping, IEC: Involuntary Engagement Coping, and IDC: Involuntary Disengagement Coping. N/A: not applicable \*\* p< 0.01 \* P<0.05

*Note*: Total difficulty:  $R^2=.38$  for block 1(F(7,600)=53.58; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .05 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(12,595)=10.17; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2=.02$  for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(17,590)=5.5; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ : .00 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(22, 592)= 1.38; p> .05). Emotional Problems:  $R^2=.11$  for block 1(F(5,602)=15.22; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .15 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(9,598)=8.04; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2=.15$  for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(14,593)=1.33; p>0.05).  $\Delta R^2$ : .01 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(20,587)= 1.70; p> .05). Conduct:  $R^2=.34$  for block 1(F(7,600)=43.62; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .02 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(12,595)=4.67; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2=.02$  for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(17,590)=5.46; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ : .01 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(20,587)= .66; p> .05). Hyperactivity/inattention:  $R^2=.02$  for block 1(F(3,604)=5.44; p=.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .04 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(7,600)=4.00; p<.05).  $\Delta R^2=.06$  for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(12,595)=8.00; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ : .02 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(16,591)= 2.78; p< .05). Peer problems:  $R^2=.25$  for block 1(F(6,601)= 33.27; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .01 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(11,596)= 3.09; p<.05).  $\Delta R^2=.04$  for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(16,591)=7.55; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ : .00 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(21,586)= .80; p> .05). Prosocial:  $R^2=.21$  for block 1(F(7,600)=22.05; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .01 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(11,596)= 3.09; p<.05).  $\Delta R^2=.04$  for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(16,591)=7.55; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ : .00 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(21,586)= .80; p> .05). Prosocial:  $R^2=.21$  for block 1(F(7,600)=22.05; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .01 for block 2(F<sub>change</sub>(11,596)= 3.09; p<.05).  $\Delta R^2=.04$  for block 3 (F<sub>change</sub>(16,591)=7.55; p<.001).  $\Delta R^2$ : .00 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(21,586)= .80; p> .05). Prosocial:  $R^2=.21$  for block 1(F(7,600)=22.05; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .00 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(21,586)= .80; p> .05). Prosocial:  $R^2=.21$  for block 1(F(7,600)=22.05; p<.001);  $\Delta R^2$ : .00 for block 4 (F<sub>change</sub>(21,586)= .27; p> .05).

### Moderating effect of age among 7–18-year-old children

A moderated hierarchical multivariate regression analysis was conducted in order to determine whether the age of the children moderated the relationship between personality traits and SDQ variables. The final block of the moderated hierarchical multivariate regression analysis (personality traits and age interaction effects) is shown in Table 12. The results of the moderated regression analysis showed that age did not moderate the relationship between personality traits and SDQ measures except for significant age-Extraversion interaction effect on the Hyperactivity/Inattention variable ( $\beta = -.12$ , t = -2.56, p < .05) and significant age-Conscientiousness interaction effect on the Total Difficulty variable ( $\beta = .06$ , t = 1.99, p < .05).

The overall model (with personality traits- age interactions added to the last block) were not statistically significant for Total Difficulty variable (F  $_{change}(22, 585) = 1.38, p > .05$ ), Emotional Symptoms (F  $_{change}(20, 587) = 1.73, p > .05$ ), Peer Relationship problems (F  $_{change}(21, 586) = .80, p > .05$ ) and, Prosocial Behaviors (F  $_{change}(21, 586) = .27, p > .05$ ). However, the final model was statistically significant for Hyperactivity/Inattention (F  $_{change}(21, 586) = 2.78 0, p < .05$ ).

### Discussion

# **Preschool Children**

The results of preschoolers' data show that over and above the contribution of demographics and coping and response to COVID-19 stress, personality traits predicted substantial variance in the effects of COVID-19 on the mental health of preschoolers in Canada which will be discussed in greater detail in the following section.

Among the five coping and response to COVID-19 stress factors, Involuntary

Engagement Coping (or stress reactivity) was the only variable that was significantly associated with SDQ subscales of the Total Difficulties score and Hyperactivity/Inattention (see Table 10). Involuntary Engagement Coping is characterized by involuntary emotional and physiological stress for example through intrusive thoughts, rumination, impulsive actions, and physiological arousal, out of one's control. Previous studies have also shown associations between maladaptive stress response of Involuntary Engagement Coping with greater psychopathology (Singer et al., 2000) and mental issues such as anxiety, depression, internalizing problems, and aggression (Blöte et al., 2022; Dufton et al., 2010; Wolff et al., 2009). Moreover, children who are highly reactive experience greater illness rates in situations of increased stress (Boyce et al., 1995) similar to the COVID-19 situation happening now.

### Mental Health and Personality Traits in Preschoolers

### Neuroticism

Among the big 5 personality traits, Neuroticism predicted the most SDQ difficulty subscales (Total Difficulty, Emotional Symptoms, and Conduct Problems) among these preschoolers. Neuroticism is a personality trait characterized by a disposition to experience negative emotions which manifests itself through feelings of anxiety, anger, sadness, and tension (John, Naumann, & Soto, 2008). In Study 1, Neuroticism predicted the Total Difficulties score, namely the sum of Emotional Symptoms, Conduct Problems, Hyperactivity/Inattention, and Peer Relationship Problems scores. Neuroticism has long been linked to psychopathology and evidence suggests that Neuroticism reflects a common vulnerability contributing to the development and maintenance of a variety of mental illnesses (Sauer-Zavala et al., 2107). Generally, Neuroticism has been found to be a risk factor for developing emotional disorders such as depression and anxiety (Agh-Yousefi & Maleki, 2011; Andrés et al., 2016; Lahey, 2009). To explain the vulnerability to emotional problems, some studies have shown that anxiety sensitivity, intolerance of uncertainty and worry, and rumination could be vulnerability markers related to Neuroticism (Broeren et al., 2011; Sexton et al., 2003). Also, Neuroticism could also be a predictor of conduct disorder as according to Eysenck's biological theory of personality, Neuroticism is associated with higher psychobiological reactivity in the face of frustration and greater sympathetic arousal (Eysenck, 1963). Consequently, Neuroticism tends to follow a susceptibility to stress, inefficiency in dealing with frustration, and difficulty controlling impulses (Abbasi, 2016), in this case, in a situation like the COVID-19 pandemic.

### Agreeableness

Agreeableness, recognized as an important facet of mental health, showed negative associations with Total Difficulties, Conduct Problems, and Hyperactivity/Inattention among the preschoolers in this study. Children with high scores in Agreeableness tend to be cooperative, considerate, empathic, trustworthy, courteous, well-regulated, caring, friendly, and compliant, and exhibit good interpersonal skills (Kochanska, & Kim, 2020). Generally, higher scores in Agreeableness in children and adolescents have been associated with improved developmental outcomes, and lower scores in Agreeableness have been associated with multiple symptoms of psychopathology and externalizing and internalizing behavior problems (Laursen et al., 2002). Studies have also shown a negative association between high scores of Agreeableness and bullying, aggressive and delinquent behaviors, and social problems (Bollmer et al., 2006; Ehrler et al., 1999; Nigg et al., 2002). Previous studies have also shown negative associations between Agreeableness and Hyperactivity and Inattention symptoms (Gomez & Corr, 2014; Nigg et al., 2002).

## Conscientiousness

Conscientiousness negatively predicted Total difficulty and Hyperactivity among preschool children. Conscientiousness is characterized by restraining impulses, effortful attention, planned behavior, organization, and goal-oriented behavior (Krieger et al., 2020). In general, individuals who score higher in Conscientious tend to experience less stress and mental health issues when compared to individuals who score lower in Conscientiousness (Wehner et al., 2006). Previous studies have also found a link between low Conscientiousness and Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) symptoms in some children and adolescents (Cukrowicz et al., 2006; De Pauw, & Mervielde, 2011; Martel, et al., 2009; Nigg et al., 2002). The inhibitory aspect of Conscientiousness is associated with self-regulation and impulse control which could possibly be indicative of some kind of top-down regulating mechanism (DeYoung, 2010).

#### Extraversion

Extraversion, a trait that has shown strong correlations with mental health outcomes, showed positive associations with Hyperactivity/Inattention and Prosocial Behaviors. Typically, a child with a tendency to Extraversion is likely to be externally focused, and socially active and could be described as outgoing, talkative, assertive, and energetic (Smith et al., 2021). The findings on the associations between Extraversion and Hyperactivity/Inattention have been inconsistent across the literature. Even though some studies have found no significant associations between Hyperactivity/Inattention and Extraversion in children, adolescents, and adults (De Pauw, & Mervielde, 2011; Gomez, & Corr, 2014; Martel et al., 2008), some have shown strong links between hyperactive-impulsive symptoms and Extraversion (Gomez, & Corr, 2014; Martel, 2009; Tackett, et al., 2012). Moreover, a study by Gomez and Corr (2014)

indicated that positive emotionality (similar to FFM/Extraversion) was associated with inattention, but not with hyperactivity-impulsivity. A possible explanation for the inconsistency of the associations between ADHD symptoms and Extraversion could be that the relationship may be masked when hyperactive, inattention, and impulsive symptoms are not analyzed separately. Moreover, a possible explanation of the positive association between Extraversion and Hyperactivity/Inattention could be related to the COVID-19 situation and the consequences. For instance, children who score higher on Extraversion, usually enjoy social situations, like playing in groups and spending time with their friends but as a result of COVID-19 and the containment measures, they had to spend more time at home, as a result, they might display this suppressed social energy as hyperactivity and inattention symptoms. However, more research is needed to verify this speculation.

Extraversion was the only predictor of Prosocial Behavior in preschoolers. This result is in line with previous studies showing this positive association in children and adolescents (Gómez Tabares, & Narvaez Marin, 2022; Tariq, & Naqvi, 2020). A possible explanation could be that Extraversion is usually considered a very positive trait (Salmon, 2012), and individuals who score higher on Extraversion usually experience more warmness and positivity (Nguyen et al., 2103), greater social/emotional responsivity (O'Connor & Cuevas, 1982), and more positive affect (Morrone et al., 2000), which could be manifested in Prosocial Behavior in children.

### **Openness to Experience**

Openness to Experience did not predict any of the mental health domains in preschoolers.

### 7-18-year-old children

In 7-18-year-olds, the Total Difficulty score of children was predicted positively by Neuroticism and predicted positively by Extraversion and Conscientiousness. Conduct problems are negatively predicted by Extraversion and Agreeableness. Hyperactivity/Inattention was positively predicted by Extraversion and Neuroticism and negatively predicted by Openness to Experience and Conscientiousness. Peer Relationship Problems are negatively predicted by Extraversion and Prosocial Behavior was positively predicted by Agreeableness. Emotional Symptoms are not predicted by any of the personality traits.

Among the five coping and response to COVID-19 stress factors, Primary Control Coping and Secondary Control Coping are significantly associated with some SDQ subscales (see table 12). Primary Control Coping is negatively associated with Total Difficulties score, and Secondary Control Coping is negatively associated with Total Difficulties score and Emotional Symptoms. Adaptive coping responses in children include Primary Control Coping (problemsolving, emotional expression, and emotional modulation), and Secondary Control Coping (acceptance, cognitive restructuring, positive thinking, and distraction) (Connor-Smith et al. 2000). Primary Control Coping and Secondary Control Coping are associated with significantly less psychosocial problems, with Secondary Control strategies particularly beneficial for stressful situations that are beyond one's control (such as COVID-19 situation) (Compas et al., 2017). This is consistent with previous research showing that lower levels of Primary Control Coping and Secondary Control Coping are linked with higher amounts of internalizing symptoms, depression, anxiety, distress, and negative affect in youth (Bettis et al., 2016; Connor-Smith, & Compas, 2004; Evans et al., 2015).

Moreover, results of moderated regression analysis showed that children's age did not moderate the relationship between personality traits and SDQ variables except for except for a significant interaction effect between age and Extraversion on Hyperactivity/Inattention and a significant interaction effect between age and Conscientiousness on Total Difficulty Score. Our results suggest that the effect of personality traits on SDQ variables is generally consistent across 7–18-year-old children, except for two significant interaction effects.

The first significant negative interaction effect was between age and Extraversion on the Hyperactivity/Inattention variable. This may indicate that younger children who score high on Extraversion trait are more likely to exhibit Hyperactivity/Inattention behaviors compared to older children who score high on Extraversion trait. A possible explanation could be that younger children who score high on Extraversion trait might exhibit more Hyperactivity/Inattention symptoms, however as they age, they might develop more effective self-regulation skills and exhibit fewer Hyperactivity/Inattention symptoms. The second positive interaction effect was between age and Conscientiousness on the total Difficulty Score. This may indicate that older children who score high on Conscientiousness are more likely to exhibit more emotional and behavioral difficulties compared to younger children who score high on Conscientiousness. It is important to note that the interaction effect between age and conscientiousness on the Total Difficulty Score of the SDQ was very weak ( $\beta = .06$ , p = .04).

# Mental Health and Personality Traits in 7–18-year-old children

### Extraversion

Extraversion appears to be the strongest predictor of mental health variables in 6-18-yearold children, showing negative associations with Total Difficulty score, Conduct Problems, and Peer Problems and positive associations with Hyperactivity/Inattention. Extraversion is generally linked with higher states of good health (Jokela et al., 2013), as well as mental health (Carver & Scheier, 2014). In the context of the pandemic, this could be explained by the connection found between a higher level of Extraversion and active coping strategies in the form of active problem-solving (Karimzade & Besharat, 2011). Moreover, Extraversion plays a significant role in receiving social support or seeking help during difficult times, such as during the pandemic (Burešová et al., 2020).

There are mixed results regarding the relationship between Extraversion and Conduct Problems. Eysenck and Eysenck (1985) suggested that individuals who score higher on Extraversion are less likely to form conditioned responses than more Introverted individuals, therefore, they are less able to take advantage of aversive conditioning, less sensitive to conditioned stimuli for punishment and are more prone to exhibit antisocial behavior. They also suggested that children with conduct disorder score higher on Extraversion (Eysenck & Eysenck, 1985). More recent studies have also found associations between lower scores of Extraversion with antisocial delinquent behaviors (Krishna, 1993; Komulainen, 2015; Morizot, 2015). However, there are also studies showing no evidence to support Eysenck's claim that higher scores in Extraversion are associated with delinquent and antisocial behaviors (Cale, 2006; Fonseca & Yule, 1995; Homann, 2019). A possible explanation for the negative association of Conduct Problems and Extraversion in our participants could be related to the COVID-19 situation. For instance, more introverted children who had a few friends at school lost connection with them during the pandemic due to school closures and more Introverted children usually do not reach out to other people (such as siblings and other family members) to fulfill their social needs. It is possible that they manifest their loneliness as aggressive behavior and fighting with others. In contrast, more extroverted children are more likely to reach out to family and friends to satisfy their interpersonal needs in times of school closure. However, more research is needed to test this hypothesis.

As explained in the Study 1 discussion, results are mixed regarding the associations between Extraversion and Hyperactivity/Inattention. The positive relationship between Extraversion and Hyperactivity/Inattention could be explained in the context of the global pandemic, and more Extroverted children and adolescents might manifest their suppressed social energy (as a result of social restriction) as Hyperactivity and Inattention symptoms.

Our results also showed that Extraversion is negatively and significantly associated with Peer Relationship Problems. Our findings are in line with earlier studies finding that adolescents who score higher in Extraversion tend to form and maintain friendships and wider social networks, and to be socially competent (Selfhout et al., 2010). Extraversion is associated with peer acceptance and friendship (Jensen-Campbell et al., 2002), better social interactions (Cheng, Furnham, 2002), sociability, and social interest (Elphick, Halverson, & Marszal-Wisniewska, 1998).

### Conscientiousness

Conscientiousness predicted Total Difficulty and Hyperactivity/Inattention in 7–18-yearold children, as well as in preschoolers. This is in line with previous studies showing that Conscientiousness is associated with Inattention in children (Martel et al., 2008, 2009) and Hyperactivity-Impulsivity in adolescents (Martel et al., 2009). As explained in Study 1 discussion, a possible explanation could be that Hyperactivity/Inattention could be associated with executive control and Conscientiousness, indicative of underlying top-down regulatory processes (Nigg, 2010).

### Neuroticism

Neuroticism is positively associated with Total Difficulty score and Hyperactivity/Inattention in 7–18-year-olds. Overall, Neuroticism is directly related to psychopathology, and individuals who score higher in Neuroticism are more likely to develop Axis I psychopathology, particularly the common mental disorders including mood, anxiety, substance use disorders, and also schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and ADHD (Gale et al., 2016). Our results are consistent with previous studies showing associations between Neuroticism and Hyperactivity/Inattention (Martel 1t al., 2010; Krieger et al., 2020). High Neuroticism has also been linked with the persistence of hyperactivity and inattention during adolescence (Miller et al., 2008).

### Agreeableness

Agreeableness showed negative associations with Conduct Problems and Positive associations with Prosocial Behaviors. The concept of Prosocial Behavior overlaps substantially with the construct of Agreeableness and it is even sometimes considered a form of Agreeableness (Graziano, & Eisenberg, 1997). Prosocial tendencies contribute to responsible and helpful behavior, constructs defining Agreeableness (Caspi et al., 2005). Agreeableness has been consistently associated with Prosocial Behaviors during childhood (Graziano et al., 1997) and adolescence (Shiner, 2000). Our results regarding the negative associations of Agreeableness with Conduct Problems are in line with previous studies (Bollmer et al., 2006; Ehrler et al., 1999; Nigg et al., 2002). Some studies have also shown that Agreeableness in childhood could predict Aggressive behavior and Conduct symptoms in adolescence (Gleason et al., 2008; Shiner, 2000).

### **Openness to Experience**

Openness to Experience is negatively and significantly associated with Hyperactivity/Inattention in 6-18-year-olds. Openness to Experience refers to the degree to which an individual actively seeks out new experiences and accepts and explores new situations (Pervin, 2002). Generally, individuals who score higher on Openness to Experience are more likely to experience higher psychological well-being (Jacobsson et al., 2021). There are some studies in adults showing a negative relationship between Openness to Experience and Hyperactivity/Inattention (Blanken et al., 2021; Smith, & Martel, 2019), and some showing no associations (Nigg et al., 2002; Krieger et al., 2020). We only found one study on 8 -12-year-old children, showing that children with Hyperactivity/Inattention symptoms were consistently rated as having lower Openness to Experience (Casher, 2016). A possible explanation for this negative association is that Openness to Experience is generally related to higher performance of children in school and on cognitive tests and is also related to some elements of intellect (Nave et al., 2017).

### **General Conclusion**

As of today, more than 6.6 million people have died from the coronavirus COVID-19 outbreak (Worldometers, 2022) and the global COVID-19 pandemic and the consequent economic recession and social restrictions have adversely affected the mental health of many people including children. Studies have reported various mental health problems among children and adolescents exposed to the COVID-19 pandemic, including anxiety, stress, depression, panic, irritation, impulsivity, loneliness, fatigue, and confusion (Hossain et al., 2021, Jiao et al., 2020, Theberath et al., 2022).

There are some studies showing the contribution of personality traits to well-being of adults during the pandemic (Shokrkon & Nicoladis, 2021; Lo et al., 2022; Odachi et al., 2022), however, our study seems to be the first study investigating this relationship in children. The results of our two studies showed that personality traits in children and adolescents contribute to their mental health status during the pandemic. In preschoolers, Neuroticism and Agreeableness predicted the most Difficulty subscales of SDQ, and in 6-18-year-old children, Extraversion predicted the most Difficulty subscales of SDQ. Also, Openness to Experience was the weakest predictor of mental health status in Canadian youth. Moreover, in preschoolers among the mental
health subscales, the Total Difficulty score and Hyperactivity/Inattention seem to have the strongest associations with personality traits and Peer Relationship Problems have the weakest associations. In 7–18-year-olds, Total Difficulty scores and Conduct Problems are most strongly associated with personality traits, and Hyperactivity/Inattention is least strongly associated with personality traits.

In comparing the results of preschoolers and 7–18-year-old children, we can observe different patterns. Specifically, in 7–18-year-old children, Extraversion is associated negatively with 3 Difficulty subscales of SDQ, however, this association is not observed in preschool children. A possible explanation could be related to the experience of schooling that older children had. For example, it could be that more Extraverted school-aged children found more friends at school and maintained their friendships during the pandemic using the social media, as a result, they were able to better maintain their positive mental health compared to more Extraverted preschoolers who did not have the experience of schooling.

There are some limitations to the current study that should be considered. Despite aiming for participants from all over Canada, the majority of our sample resided in Alberta (the province where the study was conducted). The second limitation of this study is that our data were collected only at one point in time during the second year of COVID-19, and since it was summer, people were more likely to spend time outdoors which could affect the results of our study. These limitations could limit the generalizability of our results.

Regardless of the mentioned limitations, our study has important implications, as it is necessary to understand how personality traits contribute to the mental health and well-being of children in order to provide them with mental health care that is tailored to their personality traits. The results of our study could help public health services provide mental health services that are personality-appropriate during and after this pandemic. More individually appropriate child and adolescent mental health treatment at all phases of the pandemic is an unmet urgent need for long-term mental health impacts of children and adolescents. Chapter 5

Discussion, Implications, and Recommendations

This chapter's purpose is to follow up with the results by summarizing the results, drawing conclusions based on those results, identifying limitations of the study, and providing implications, and recommendations for future research.

## **Summary of the Results**

The COVID-19 pandemic and its consequences including social distancing measures, economic hardships, and disruptions to daily routines have profoundly impacted the lives of people around the world (Capaldi et al., 2021; Gan et al., 2022; Grover et al., 2020). Particularly, the mental health of individuals has been negatively impacted due to the pandemic, contributing to increased stress, anxiety, and depression around the world (Bao et al., 2019; WHO, 2020a,b). Certain populations, like children, may also be susceptible to psychological distress. Personality traits could play an important role in how individuals experience a crisis (a pandemic in this case), ultimately affecting their mental health.

Through this thesis, I sought to explore how personality traits (using FFM as a framework) impact the mental health of Canadian youth and adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. I found that Neuroticism and Extraversion personality traits were associated with the positive mental health of adults (Emotional, psychological, and social well-being) in the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic in the summer of 2020. We then replicated the results of our first study and found similar results a year later in the second year of the COVID-19 pandemic (summer of 2021). We also expanded our first study and found that personality traits of Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness were also positively and significantly related to the Emotional, psychological, and social well-being of adults in the second year of the pandemic.

Moreover, children and adolescents have also experienced a significant disruption of their routines due to school closures and restricted outdoor activities. Social distancing measures also significantly reduced students' interactions, which might have adverse effects on their mental health. Therefore, we explored the association of the Big Five personality traits with the mental health of 2-18-year-old children using SDQ measures. We found that Neuroticism was positively, while Agreeableness and Conscientiousness were negatively associated with the Total Difficulty score in preschoolers. In 6-18-year-old children, we found positive associations between Neuroticism and negative associations between Extraversion and Conscientiousness with the Total Difficulty score.

## Hypothesis 1 and 2

I found support for hypothesis 1: Neuroticism negatively impacts the well-being of Canadian adults and Extraversion positively impacts it during the first year of the pandemic. In agreement with my hypothesis, the results showed that after controlling for demographic variables, personality traits of Neuroticism and Extraversion were significantly associated with the mental health of Canadians during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, with Extraversion positively related to emotional, psychological, and social well-being and Neuroticism negatively related to them.

I also found support for hypothesis 2: the personality trait of Neuroticism was negatively and Extraversion was positively associated with the well-being of Canadian adults in the second year of the COVID-19 pandemic (2021). A year later into the pandemic, in 2021, our results still showed that Extraversion was positively and Neuroticism was negatively associated with the mental health of Canadian adults. Our results are in line with previous studies before (Albuquerque et al., 2012; Diener et al., 199; Kotov et al., 2010; Lahey et al., 2009; Otonari et al., 2012) and during the pandemic (Aschwanden et al., 2020; Modersitzki et al., 2020; ADD) showing that Neuroticism is negatively associated with mental health variables and Extraversion is positively associated with them.

## Hypothesis 3

I found support for hypothesis 3: Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are positively associated with the mental health of Canadians during the pandemic (after controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables).

Consistent with my hypothesis, the results showed that Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness were positively and significantly associated with the mental health of Canadians after controlling for demographics and Response to COVID-19 Stress variables. Our results are in line with studies before (Ahmad Marzuki, 2013; DeNeve & Cooper, 1998; Schmutte & Ryff, 1997; Steel et al., 2008) and after the pandemic (Anglim et al., 2020; Hölscher, 2021; Liu et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2021) showing the positive association between Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness with the positive mental health of adults.

# **Hypothesis 4**

I found partial support for hypothesis 4: Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are negatively associated with Total Difficulty score, Emotional Symptoms, Conduct Problems, Hyperactivity/Inattention, and Peer Relationship Problems (using SDQ measure) and Neuroticism is positively related to them (after controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables). Also, Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are positively associated with Prosocial Behaviour and Neuroticism is negatively associated with it in preschoolers.

Our results showed that, as hypothesized, after controlling for demographics and Response to COVID-19 Stress, Neuroticism was positively and Agreeableness and Conscientiousness were negatively associated with the Total Difficulty score in preschoolers. Among the Big 5 personality traits, only Neuroticism was associated with Emotional symptoms, Neuroticism was positively and Agreeableness was negatively associated with Conduct Problems, Agreeableness, and Conscientiousness were negatively associated with Hyperactivity/Inattention, and Extraversion was positively associated with prosocial behavior. In contradiction to my hypothesis, none of the Big 5 personality traits were significantly associated with Peer Relationship Problems. Also, inconsistent with our hypothesis, Extraversion was positively associated with Hyperactivity/Inattention in preschoolers.

# **Hypothesis 5**

I found partial support for hypothesis 5: Personality traits are associated with the mental health of 7–18-year-old children during the COVID-19 pandemic with Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness negatively associated with Total Difficulty score, Emotional Symptoms, Conduct Problems, Hyperactivity/Inattention, Peer Relationship Problems (using SDQ measure) and Neuroticism positively related to them (after controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables). Also, Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness are positively associated with Prosocial Behaviour and Neuroticism is negatively associated with it in 7–18-year-old children.

Our results showed that, as hypothesized, after controlling for demographics and Response to COVID-19 Stress, the Big 5 personality traits except for Openness to Experience and Agreeableness associated with Total Difficulty score, Agreeableness, and Extraversion were negatively associated with Conduct Problems, Neuroticism, and Extraversion were positively and, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness were negatively associated with Hyperactivity/Inattention, Extraversion was negatively associated with Peer Relationship Problems and only Agreeableness was positively associated with Prosocial behavior. Inconsistent with my hypothesis, none of the Big 5 personality traits were significantly associated with Emotional Problems. Also, in contradiction to my hypothesis (similar to preschoolers' study), Extraversion was positively associated with Hyperactivity/Inattention in 6-18-year-old children.

Results from the current study support the existing research in the area of mental health and personality, which identified similar associations between mental health and personality in preschoolers and older children (Mulder & van Aken, 2014; Tackett, 2006) and adults (Kotov et al., 2010; Shi et al., 2018;). However, the current findings extend the prior research by investigating these associations during a global health crisis.

#### Hypothesis 6

I found partial support for hypothesis 6: The relationship between personality traits (Neuroticism, Extraversion, Agreeableness, Openness to Experience, and Conscientiousness) and SDQ variables (Total Difficulty score, Emotional Symptoms, Conduct Problems, Hyperactivity/Inattention, Peer Relationship Problems and Prosocial Behavior) in 7–18-year-old

children is not moderated by age (while controlling for demographic variables and coping and response to COVID-19 stress variables).

Our results showed that age did not moderate the relationship between personality traits and SDQ variables in 7–18-year-old children except for a significant interaction effect between age and Extraversion on Hyperactivity/Inattention and a significant but weak interaction effect between age and Conscientiousness on Total Difficulty Score.

## Implications

The results of our study were consistent with previous research findings, which suggested that certain personality traits could be considered risk factors for mental health issues. The present study offers several implications for mental health research, prevention, and diagnosis, and also treatment of mental health issues in adults and children. Firstly, understanding the relationship between personality traits and mental health can assist in identifying individuals who might be at an increased risk of mental health issues and allow for earlier intervention. It could also assist with prevention efforts. By identifying individuals with certain personality types, it is possible to help them develop coping skills and skills they can use to manage their mental health better.

Secondly, since the results of our study showed that different individuals with different personality traits are experiencing the pandemic differently, thus, they may need mental health services that are more specifically tailored to their personality type. Our findings could help healthcare providers to develop more targeted interventions for prevention or treatment. Furthermore, an understanding of the relationship between personality traits and mental health may contribute to the improvement of treatment outcomes, since it is possible that individuals with certain personality traits respond better to certain types of therapies. Tailoring treatment plans based on the specific needs of each patient could lead to potentially enhancing treatment effectiveness and lowering the likelihood of relapse.

Thirdly, by identifying personality traits that could put children at risk for mental health problems, healthcare professionals and caregivers can take steps to intervene early and prevent the development of more severe mental health problems and also tailor treatment plans for children with mental health issues. As well, our results could be helpful for teachers since they can play an essential role in detecting early signs of mental health problems in children. With an understanding of the link between personality traits and mental health, teachers can be alert to the possibility that children with certain personality traits may be at risk for mental health problems.

Lastly, the results of this study could have important implications for the long-term mental health outcomes of the COVID-19 pandemic since it is possible that the mental health effects of the pandemic persist long after the pandemic is over. Personality traits could play a role in individuals' long-term mental health outcomes, with some individuals experiencing more significant and persistent effects due to their personality traits. Our results could help mental health professionals to consider personality traits when developing treatment plans for individuals who are struggling with the long-term effects of the pandemic.

## Limitations and future directions

There are some limitations to this research that need to be considered in interpreting the results of this study. Regarding the studies 1 and 2, despite our effort to recruit representative participants from a wide age range, occupations, and genders, the sample was not completely representative of the general population which may limit the generalizability of our findings.

Since around 41% of our participants were students in both studies with a mean age of 26.47 years for the first study and 24.02 years for the second study. Also, about 80% of our first study and 73% of our second study participants were female. Secondly, although the study was aimed at participants from across Canada, the majority of our sample resides in Alberta (where the study was conducted). The third limitation of our first and second studies is that the data of each study was gathered only at one point in time during the summer when people were more likely to spend time outside. During those times, outside gatherings were subject to fewer public health restrictions than inside gatherings, which could have contributed to better mental health during the summer months rather than during other seasons.

It is also important to note that the measurements used to assess personality and wellbeing in the first and second studies were the short version of the measurements. The short version of the tests was selected so that we could collect data from a large number of participants who completed the tests online. Approximately 75%- 79% of people who started answering the questions finished all the questions, and we believe many people would not have finished the questions if we had used the longer versions. Nevertheless, we ensured that our measurements had acceptable psychometric properties, for instance, MHC-SF had shown great internal consistency (> .80) and discriminant validity across different countries (Lamars et al., 2012; Keyes et al., 2008). Also, the IPIP Big-Five Factor Markers scale has been widely used and demonstrated good construct, criterion, convergent, and discriminant validity (Gow et al., 2005; Guenole & Chernyshenko, 2005; Lim & Ployhart, 2006). Regarding the third study on children and adolescents, the same concerns remain about the representativeness of the sample since most of our participants resided in Alberta. Also, the parent report questionnaires were mostly filled out by mothers (80% of preschoolers and 58% of 6-18-year-old children) which again might limit the generalizability of our findings.

Another limitation of our study is that we had to use different questionnaires to measure mental health in children and adults which makes the comparison of the results challenging. In adults, we measured mental health by investigating their psychological, emotional, and social well-being using the Mental Health Continuum (MHC-SF). Meanwhile, in children and adolescents, we used the parent report of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ), a behavioral screening questionnaire widely used to assess children's mental health. However, both tests have shown good validity and reliability (Croft et al., 2015; Lamers et al., 2010). A reason we chose SDQ to measure mental health for our youth population was that SDQ parent report covers a wide range of emotional and behavioral problems, including hyperactivity, emotional symptoms, conduct problems, and peer problems which makes this test a comprehensive tool for assessing a child's overall well-being. Also, since we were using parent reports, we wanted to measure external symptoms (such as hyperactivity or conduct problems) that are more observable and measurable, thus allowing parents to more accurately report their child's behavior.

There is also a limitation to our study in that we used self-report measurements to assess individuals' personality traits and mental health. Even though this is still the standard practice, we acknowledge the possibility of bias, measurement error, and social desirability effects. Furthermore, our study used a cross-sectional sample, preventing us from establishing causal relations. However, the associations between personality traits and mental health were roughly replicated in three samples (two adult samples and one youth sample), suggesting that these trends are consistent.

Despite these limitations, this study adds to the growing body of literature on the impact of COVID-19 on mental health and makes important contributions to a better understanding of the associations between the Big 5 personality traits and the mental health of children and adults in a time of global health crisis. Our results could also be a promising direction for future personality and mental health research. Future research should explore the longitudinal associations of personality traits and mental health outcomes during the pandemic and investigate the role of specific personality facets in mental health outcomes. Future research should also investigate personality and mental health in the context of the implementation of intervention and prevention programs aimed at mental health disorders, such as designing efficient mental health interventions more specific to each personality trait.

# Conclusion

We used a sample of Canadian youth and adults to investigate the relationship between the big five personality traits and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic since the pandemic and its consequences have had a significant impact on different aspects of people's lives including their mental health worldwide The results of our studies support previous research suggesting a relationship between personality traits and mental health in both children and adults before and during the pandemic.

This dissertation has provided evidence of a relationship between the Big Five personality traits and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic suggesting that using a fivefactor model of personality could help identify individuals at risk for mental health problems during a global pandemic. Our findings have considerable implications for mental health professionals and policymakers who are working to support individuals during the pandemic and its aftermath. By identifying the influence of certain personality traits on mental health outcomes, our findings have significant implications for the development of targeted interventions that could assist individuals in coping with the pandemic and its associated stressors. In addition, the results of this study add to the existing literature on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and its consequences on mental health outcomes. This study emphasizes the importance of considering personality traits in exploring how individuals respond to adversity and the role of individual differences in determining mental health outcomes.

Since our results are consistent with pre-pandemic research suggesting a relationship between personality traits and mental health, it is possible that the pandemic did not fundamentally change the underlying psychological processes that link personality traits to mental health outcomes. For instance, individuals who score high in Neuroticism might be more prone to experiencing negative emotions when under stress or uncertain circumstances, whether or not those stressors are related to the pandemic. Furthermore, individuals who score high in Conscientiousness are probably more likely to engage in adaptive coping strategies when facing stress, regardless of the source of that stress. There is still a need for further research to better understand the complex interplay between personality traits, mental health , and the COVID-19 pandemic.

Overall, this dissertation contributes to the growing body of research on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and highlights the importance of considering personality traits in exploring mental health outcomes during and after the pandemic. By understanding the role that personality traits play in mental health outcomes during the pandemic, this study offers

valuable insights into the development of effective interventions to support individuals during and after this challenging time.

#### References

- Abbasi, I. S. (2016). The role of Neuroticism in the maintenance of chronic baseline stress perception and negative affect. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, *19*, E9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/sjp.2016.7
- Abdelrahman, M. (2020). Personality traits, risk perception, and protective behaviors of Arab residents of Qatar during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 1-12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00352-7</u>
- Abe, J. A. A., & Izard, C. E. (1999). A longitudinal study of emotion expression and personality relations in early development. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(3), 566. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.77.3.566</u>
- Afshar, H., Roohafza, H. R., Keshteli, A. H., Mazaheri, M., Feizi, A., & Adibi, P. (2015). The association of personality traits and coping styles according to stress level. *Journal of research in medical sciences: the official Journal of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences*, 20(4), 353.
- Agh-Yousefi, A., & Maleki, B. (2011). Prediction of depression symptoms by personality traits in children. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 3(1), 9-17. <u>10.22075/JCP.2017.2042</u>
- Ahmad Marzuki, N. (2013). The impact of personality on employee well-being. *European Scientific Journal*, 9(20), 43-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2013.v9n20p%25p</u>
- Albuquerque, I., de Lima, M. P., Matos, M., & Figueiredo, C. (2012). Personality and subjective well-being: What hides behind global analyses? *Social Indicators Research*, 105(3), 447–460. 10.1007/s11205-010-9780-7
- Anglim, J., Horwood, S., Smillie, L. D., Marrero, R. J., & Wood, J. K. (2020). Predicting psychological and subjective well-being from personality: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 146(4), 279. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/bul0000226</u>

- Anglim, J., & Horwood, S. (2021). Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and big five personality on subjective and psychological well-being. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *12*(8), 1527-1537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550620983047</u>
- Ali, P., Rogers, M., & Heward-Belle, S. (2021). COVID-19 and domestic violence: impact on mental health. *Journal of Criminal Psychology*, 11 (3), 188-202. https://doi.org/10.1108/jcp-12-2020-0050
- Andrés, M. L., Richaud de Minzi, M. C., Castañeiras, C., Canet-Juric, L., & Rodríguez-Carvajal,
  R. (2016). Neuroticism and depression in children: The role of cognitive emotion
  regulation strategies. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *177*(2), 55-71.
  https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1080/00221325.2016.1148659
- Anglim, J., Horwood, S., Smillie, L. D., Marrero, R. J., & Wood, J. K. (2020). Predicting psychological and subjective well-being from personality: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 146(4), 279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000226</u>
- Angus Reid Institute (2020a). Worry, Gratitude & Boredom: As COVID-19 affects mental, financial health, who fares better; who is worse? Retrieved from: <u>http://angusreid.org/covid19-mental-health/</u>

Angus Reid Institute (2020b). Isolation, Loneliness, and COVID-19: Pandemic leads to sharp increase in mental health challenges, social woes. Retrieved from: http://angusreid.org/isolation-and-loneliness-covid19/

Araújo, L. A. D., Veloso, C. F., Souza, M. D. C., Azevedo, J. M. C. D., & Tarro, G. (2021). The potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on child growth and development: a

systematic review. Jornal de Pediatria, 97, 369-377.

#### https://doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.jped.2020.08.008

- Asendorpf, J. B., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2006). Predictive Validity of Personality Types Versus Personality Dimensions from Early Childhood to Adulthood: Implications for the Distinction between Core and Surface Traits. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 52(3), 486–513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/mpq.2006.0022</u>
- Aschwanden, D., Strickhouser, J. E., Sesker, A. A., Lee, J. H., Luchetti, M., Stephan, Y., ... & Terracciano, A. (2021). Psychological and behavioural responses to coronavirus disease 2019: The role of personality. *European Journal of Personality*, 35(1), 51-66. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2281
- Balhara, Y. P. S., Kattula, D., Singh, S., Chukkali, S., & Bhargava, R. (2020). Impact of lockdown following COVID-19 on the gaming behavior of college students. *Indian Journal of Public Health*, 64(6), 172. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/ijph.ijph\_465\_20</u>
- Bao, Y., Sun, Y., Meng, S., Shi, J., & Lu, L. (2020). 2019-nCoV epidemic: address mental health care to empower society. *The Lancet*, 395(10224), e37-e38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30309-3</u>
- Barańczuk, U. (2019). The five factor model of personality and emotion regulation: A metaanalysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 139, 217–227. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/j.paid.2018.11.025</u>
- Barbaranelli, C., Caprara, G. V., Rabasca, A., & Pastorelli, C. (2003). A questionnaire for measuring the Big Five in late childhood. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(4), 645-664. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00051-X</u>

Barrick, M. R., Mount, M. K., & Judge, T. A. (2001). Personality and performance at the beginning of the new millennium: What do we know and where do we go next?. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 9(1-2), 9-30. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1111/1468-2389.00160

- Bettis, A. H., Forehand, R., McKee, L., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., & Compas, B. E. (2016).
  Testing specificity: Associations of stress and coping with symptoms of anxiety and depression in youth. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 25(3), 949-958. <u>10.1007/s10826-015-0270-z</u>
- Biggs, A., Brough, P., & Drummond, S. (2017). Lazarus and Folkman's psychological stress and coping theory. *The handbook of stress and health: A guide to research and practice*, 351-364. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1002/9781118993811.ch21</u>
- Blanken, T. F., Courbet, O., Franc, N., Albajara Sáenz, A., Van Someren, E. J., Peigneux, P., & Villemonteix, T. (2021). Is an irritable ADHD profile traceable using personality dimensions? Replicability, stability, and predictive value over time of data-driven profiles. *European child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(4), 633-645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-</u>020-01546-z
- Blöte, A. W., Miers, A. C., & Westenberg, P. M. (2022). Concurrent and prospective associations between social anxiety and responses to stress in adolescence. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 50(5), 659-668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs10802-021-00880-3</u>
- Bloomberg (2020). *For Introverts, Quarantine Can Be a Liberation*. Available online at: <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2020-03-28/coronavirus-for-introverts-</u> <u>quarantine-can-be-a-liberation</u> (accessed May 13, 2020).

- Bollmer, J. M., Harris, M. J., & Milich, R. (2006). Reactions to bullying and peer victimization: Narratives, physiological arousal, and personality. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 40(5), 803-828. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2005.09.003</u>
- Borders, A. (2020). Rumination and related constructs: Causes, consequences, and treatment of thinking too much. Academic Press.
- Boyce, W. T., Chesney, M., Alkon, A., Tschann, J. M., Adams, S., Chesterman, B., ... & Wara, D. (1995). Psychobiologic reactivity to stress and childhood respiratory illnesses: Results of two prospective studies. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 57(5), 411-422.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-199509000-00001

- Brajša-Žganec, A., Ivanović, D., & Kaliterna Lipovčan, L. (2011). Personality traits and social desirability as predictors of subjective well-being. *Psihologijske Teme*, *20*(2), 261-276.
- Broeren, S., Muris, P., Bouwmeester, S., van der Heijden, K. B., & Abee, A. (2011). The role of repetitive negative thoughts in the vulnerability for emotional problems in non-clinical children. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 20*, 135–148.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-010-9380-9

- Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., & Rubin,
  G. J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet*, 395, 912-920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8</u>
- Brunier, A., & Drysdale, C. (2020). COVID-19 disrupting mental health services in most countries, WHO survey. *World Health Organization*, 2021-06.
- Bucher, M. A., Suzuki, T., & Samuel, D. B. (2019). A meta-analytic review of personality traits and their associations with mental health treatment outcomes. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 70, 51-63. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.04.002</u>

- Buecker, S., Maes, M., Denissen, J. J., Luhmann, M., & Laceulle, O. M. (2020). Loneliness and the Big Five Personality Traits: A Meta–Analysis. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(1), 8-28. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/per.2229</u>
- Buheji, M., Hassani, A., Ebrahim, A., Costa Cunha, K., Jahrami, H., Baloshi, M., & Hubail, S. (2020). Children and coping during COVID-19: A scoping review of bio-psycho-social factors. *International Journal of Applied Psychology*, 10(1), 8-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.5923/j.</u> <u>Ijap.20201001.02</u>
- Burešová, I., Jelínek, M., Dosedlová, J., & Klimusová, H. (2020). Predictors of mental health in adolescence: the role of personality, dispositional optimism, and social support. *Sage open*, 10(2). http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2158244020917963
- Cale, E. M. (2006). A quantitative review of the relations between the "Big 3" higher order personality dimensions and antisocial behavior. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 40(3), 250-284. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2005.01.001
- Canadian Institute of Health Information, (2022). Retrieved from:

https://www.cihi.ca/en/canadian-covid-19-intervention-timeline

Canadian Institute of Health Information, (2022). Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/news/hospitalizations-for-covid-19-among-canadas-youngest-</u> surged-by-more-than-600-in-the-second

Capaldi, C. A., Liu, L., & Dopko, R. L. (2021). Positive mental health and perceived change in mental health among adults in Canada during the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Promotion & Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada: Research, Policy & Practice,* 41(11). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.41.11.05</u>

- Carson, J., Gunda, A., Qasim, K., Allen, R., Bradley, M., & Prescott, J. (2021). Losing a loved one during the covid-19 pandemic: An on-line survey looking at the effects on traumatic stress, coping and post-traumatic growth. *OMEGA-Journal of Death and Dying*, https://doi.org/10.1177/0030222821104968
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: a theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(2), 267. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.56.2.267</u>
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2014). Dispositional optimism. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *18*(6), 293-299. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2014.02.003</u>
- Casher, G. A. (2016). *The Big Five and ADHD: An investigation of subtypes and emotional regulation*. Southern Illinois University at Carbondale.
- Caspi, A., & Moffitt, T. E. (1993). When do individual differences matter? A paradoxical theory of personality coherence. *Psychological Inquiry*, 4(4), 247-271. http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0404 1
- Caspi, A., Roberts, B. W., & Shiner, R. L. (2005). Personality development: Stability and change. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.*, *56*, 453-484.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141913

Cattell, R. B. (1988). *Handbook for the Sixteen Personality Factor Questionnaire*. Champaign, IL: Institute for Personality and Ability Testing.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). Coping with stress; 2020. Mental health and coping during COVID-19 j CDC", Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, available at: www. cdc. gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/daily-life-coping/managing-stress-anxiety. html (accessed 27 May 2021).

- Chamaa, F., Bahmad, H. F., Darwish, B., Kobeissi, J. M., Hoballah, M., Nassif, S. B., ... & Abou-Kheir, W. (2021). PTSD in the COVID-19 Era. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 19(12), 2164. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/1570159X19666210113152954</u>
- Cheng, H., & Furnham, A. (2002). Personality, peer relations, and self-confidence as predictors of happiness and loneliness. *Journal of Adolescence*, 25(3), 327-339. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/jado.2002.0475
- Clark, L. A., Watson, D., & Mineka, S. (1994). Temperament, personality, and mood and anxiety disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 103(1), 103. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.103.1.103</u>
- Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000).
   Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses.
   *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 976–992.
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976">http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976</a>
- Coiro, M. J., Watson, K. H., Ciriegio, A., Jones, M., Wolfson, A. R., Reisman, J., & Compas, B. E. (2021). Coping with COVID-19 stress: Associations with depression and anxiety in a diverse sample of US adults. *Current Psychology*, 1-13. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12144-</u>021-02444-6
- Compas, B. E., Connor, J., Osowiecki, D., & Welch, A. (1997). Effortful and involuntary responses to stress. In *Coping with chronic stress* (pp. 105-130). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analytic and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin, 143*, 939–991.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110">https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110</a>

Connor-Smith, J. K., & Compas, B. E. (2004). Coping as a moderator of relations between reactivity to interpersonal stress, health status, and internalizing problems. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *28*(3), 347-368.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/B:COTR.0000031806.25021.d5

Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *68*(6), 976. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976

- Corbett, B. A., Muscatello, R. A., Klemencic, M. E., & Schwartzman, J. M. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on stress, anxiety, and coping in youth with and without autism and their parents. *Autism Research*, 14(7), 1496-1511. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aur.2521</u>
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1980). Influence of extraversion and Neuroticism on subjective well-being: happy and unhappy people. *Journal of Personality and Social psychology*, 38(4), 668. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.38.4.668</u>
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1992). Normal personality assessment in clinical practice: The NEO Personality Inventory. *Psychological Assessment*, 4(1), 5-13. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.4.1.5</u>

Costa, P. T., Jr., & McCrae, R. R. (2008). The Revised NEO Personality Inventory (NEO-PI-R). In
G. J. Boyle, G. Matthews, & D. H. Saklofske (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of personality theory and assessment, Vol. 2. Personality measurement and testing* (pp. 179–198). Sage
Publications, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849200479.n9</u>

Costello, E. J., Compton, S. N., Keeler, G., & Angold, A. (2003). Relationships between poverty and psychopathology: A natural experiment. *Jama*, *290*(15), 2023-2029.

COVID-19 Tracker (2021). https://covid19tracker.ca/vaccinationtracker.html

- Croft, S., Stride, C., Maughan, B., & Rowe, R. (2015). Validity of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire in preschool-aged children. *Pediatrics*, 135(5), e1210-e1219. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-2920
- Cukrowicz, K. C., Taylor, J., Schatschneider, C., & Iacono, W. G. (2006). Personality differences in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, conduct disorder, and controls. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(2), 151-159. http://dx.doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-2920
- Cullen, W., Gulati, G., & Kelly, B. D. (2020). Mental health in the COVID-19 pandemic. *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine*, *113*(5), 311-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcaa110</u>
- Davies, S., & Aurini, J. (2021). Estimate of student learning losses from Covid-19 school closures. Royal Society of Canada.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Self-determination theory: A macrotheory of human motivation, development, and health. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne*, 49(3), 182. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0012801</u>
- Deoni, S. C., Beauchemin, J., Volpe, A., D'Sa, V., & RESONANCE Consortium. (2022). The COVID-19 pandemic and early child cognitive development: a comparison of development in children born during the pandemic and historical references. *medRxiv*, 2021-08. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.08.10.21261846</u>
- De Pauw, S. S., & Mervielde, I. (2011). The role of temperament and personality in problem behaviors of children with ADHD. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 39(2), 277-291. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10802-010-9459-1</u>

d'Ettorre, G., Ceccarelli, G., Santinelli, L., Vassalini, P., Innocenti, G. P., Alessandri, F., ... & Tarsitani, L. (2021). Post-traumatic stress symptoms in healthcare workers dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(2), 601. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020601

- de Miquel, C., Domènech-Abella, J., Felez-Nobrega, M., Cristóbal-Narváez, P., Mortier, P., Vilagut, G., ... & Haro, J. M. (2022). The mental health of employees with job loss and income loss during the COVID-19 pandemic: The mediating role of perceived financial stress. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(6), 3158. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063158">http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063158</a>
- DeNeve, K. M., & Cooper, H. (1998). The happy personality: a meta-analysis of 137 personality traits and subjective well-being. *Psychological Bulletin*, 124(2), 197. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.124.2.197</u>
- Denissen, J. J., & Penke, L. (2008). Motivational individual reaction norms underlying the Five-Factor model of personality: First steps towards a theory-based conceptual framework. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(5), 1285-1302. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.04.002
- DeYoung, C. G. (2010). Personality neuroscience and the biology of traits. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 4(12), 1165-1180. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-</u> 9004.2010.00327.x
- Diener, E., & Lucas, R. E. (1999). 11 personality and subjective well-being. *Well-being: Foundations of Hedonic Psychology*, 213.

- Diener, E., Suh, E. M., Lucas, R. E., & Smith, H. L. (1999). Subjective well-being: Three decades of progress. *Psychological Bulletin*, 125(2), 276. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 2909.125.2.276
- Diener, E. (2000). Subjective well-being: The science of happiness and a proposal for a national index. *American Psychologist*, *55*(1), 34. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.34</u>
- Dong, R., & Ni, S. G. (2020). Openness to experience, extraversion, and subjective well-being among Chinese college students: The mediating role of dispositional awe. *Psychological Reports*, 123(3), 903-928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294119826884</u>
- Doré, I., O'Loughlin, J. L., Sabiston, C. M., & Fournier, L. (2017). Psychometric evaluation of the mental health continuum–short form in French Canadian young adults. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 62(4), 286-294. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0033294119826884</u>
- Dufton, L. M., Dunn, M. J., Slosky, L. S., & Compas, B. E. (2010). Self-reported and laboratorybased responses to stress in children with recurrent pain and anxiety. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 36(1), 95-105. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsq070</u>
- Egan, S. M., Pope, J., Moloney, M., Hoyne, C., & Beatty, C. (2021). Missing early education and care during the pandemic: The socio-emotional impact of the COVID-19 crisis on young children. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *49*(5), 925-934.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10643-021-01193-2

Ehrler, D. J., Evans, J. G., & McGhee, R. L. (1999). Extending Big-Five theory into childhood: A preliminary investigation into the relationship between Big-Five personality traits and behavior problems in children. *Psychology in the Schools*, *36*(6), 451-458.
 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6807(199911)36:6%3C451::AID-</u>
 PITS1%3E3.0.CO;2-E

- Elliot, A. J., & Thrash, T. M. (2002). Approach-avoidance motivation in personality: approach and avoidance temperaments and goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(5), 804. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.5.804</u>
- Ellis, L., Hoskin, A. W., & Ratnasingam, M. (2018). *Handbook of social status correlates*. Academic Press.
- Emmons, R. A., & Diener, E. (1985). Personality correlates of subjective well-being. *Personality* and Social Psychology Bulletin, 11(1), 89-97. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0146167285111008</u>
- Evans, L. D., Kouros, C., Frankel, S. A., McCauley, E., Diamond, G. S., Schloredt, K. A., & Garber, J. (2015). Longitudinal relations between stress and depressive symptoms in youth: Coping as a mediator. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *43*(2), 355-368. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10802-014-9906-5
- Eysenck, H. J. (1963). Biological basis of personality. *Nature*, *199*(4898), 1031-1034. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/1991031a0</u>
- Eysenck, H. J. (1992). Four ways five factors are not basic. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *13*(6), 667-673. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(92)90237-J</u>
- Eysenck, H. J., & Eysenck, S. B. G. (1964). *Manual for the Eysenck Personality Inventory*. London: University of London Press.
- Fadda, D., & Scalas, L. F. (2016). Neuroticism as a moderator of direct and mediated relationships between introversion-extraversion and well-being. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, *12*(1), 49. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v12i1.985</u>
- Fitzpatrick, K. M., Harris, C., & Drawve, G. (2020). Fear of COVID-19 and the mental health consequences in America. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, *12*(S1), S17. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/tra0000924</u>

- Folk, D., Okabe-Miyamoto, K., Dunn, E., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2020). Did social connection decline during the first wave of COVID-19?: <u>the</u> role of extraversion. *Collabra: Psychology*, 6(1). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1525/collabra.365</u>
- Fonseca, A. C., & Yule, W. (1995). Personality and antisocial behavior in children and adolescents: An enquiry into Eysenck's and Gray's theories. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 23(6), 767-781. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01447476
- Friedman, H. S., Kern, M. L., & Reynolds, C. A. (2010). Personality and health, subjective wellbeing, and longevity. *Journal of Personality*, 78(1), 179-216. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00613.x
- Gale, C. R., Booth, T., Mõttus, R., Kuh, D., & Deary, I. J. (2013). Neuroticism and Extraversion in youth predict mental wellbeing and life satisfaction 40 years later. *Journal of research in Personality*, 47(6), 687-697. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2013.06.005
- Gadermann, A. C., Thomson, K. C., Richardson, C. G., Gagné, M., McAuliffe, C., Hirani, S., & Jenkins, E. (2021). Examining the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on family mental health in Canada: findings from a national cross-sectional study. *BMJ open*, *11*(1), e042871. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042871</u>
- Gale, C. R., Hagenaars, S. P., Davies, G., Hill, W. D., Liewald, D. C., Cullen, B., ... & Harris, S. E. (2016). Pleiotropy between Neuroticism and physical and mental health: findings from 108 038 men and women in UK Biobank. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6(4), e791-e791. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.56
- Gan, Y., Ma, J., Wu, J., Chen, Y., Zhu, H., & Hall, B. J. (2022). Immediate and delayed psychological effects of province-wide lockdown and personal quarantine during the

COVID-19 outbreak in China. *Psychological Medicine*, 52(7), 1321-1332.

#### http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0033291720003116

- Gelernter, J., & Cubells, J. F. (2015). The genetics of major depressive disorder. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *17*(3), 351-359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.01.027
- George, J. C., & Tittler, B. I. (1984). Openness-to-experience and mental health. *Psychological Reports*, 54(2), 651-654. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1984.54.2.651</u>
- Gleason, K. A., Jensen-Campbell, L. A., & South Richardson, D. (2004). Agreeableness as a predictor of aggression in adolescence. *Aggressive Behavior: Official Journal of the International Society for Research on Aggression*, 30(1), 43-61.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ab.20002

- Goldberg, L. R. (1971). Five models of clinical judgment: An empirical comparison between linear and nonlinear representations of the human inference process. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 6(4), 458-479. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(71)90028-6</u>
- Goldberg, L. R. (1992). The development of markers for the Big-Five factor structure. *Psychological Assessment*, 4(1), 26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.4.1.26</u>
- Goldberg, L. R. (1993). The structure of phenotypic personality traits. *American Psychologist*, 48(1), 26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.48.1.26</u>
- Gomez, R., & Corr, P. J. (2014). ADHD and personality: a meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *34*(5), 376-388. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2014.05.002</u>
- Gómez Tabares, A. S., & Narvaez Marin, M. (2022). Dimensiones de la personalidad y su relación con las tendencias prosociales y la empatía en niños (as) y adolescentes en vulnerabilidad psicosocial. *Revista de Psicología (PUCP)*, 40(1), 37-72.
  http://dx.doi.org/10.18800/psico.202201.002

 Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a research note. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 38(5), 581-586. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> <u>7610.1997.tb01545.x</u>

Goodwin, R., & Engstrom, G. (2002). Personality and the perception of health in the general population. *Psychological Medicine*, *32*(2), 325.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0033291701005104

- Gori, A., Topino, E., Palazzeschi, L., & Di Fabio, A. (2021). Which personality traits can mitigate the impact of the pandemic? Assessment of the relationship between personality traits and traumatic events in the COVID-19 pandemic as mediated by defense mechanisms. *PloS One*, *16*(5), e0251984. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251984</u>
- Gostin, L. O., & Wiley, L. F. (2020). Governmental public health powers during the COVID-19 pandemic: stay-at-home orders, business closures, and travel restrictions. *Jama*, 323(21), 2137-2138. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.5460</u>
- Government of Canada (2020a). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Canada's response. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/diseases/2019-novel-coronavirus-</u> infection/canadas-reponse.html.
- Government of Canada (2020b). Physical distancing: How to slow the spread of COVID-19. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/social-distancing.html</u>.

Government of Canada (2023). Retrieved from https://health-infobase.canada.ca/covid-19/#a2

Grist, C. L., & McCord, D. M. (2010). Individual differences in preschool children: temperament or personality? *Infant and Child Development: An International Journal of Research and Practice*, 19(3), 264-274. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/icd.663</u>

- Gray, J. A. (1990). Brain systems that mediate both emotion and cognition. *Cognition & emotion*, 4(3), 269-288. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02699939008410799</u>
- Graziano, W. G., & Eisenberg, N. (1997). Agreeableness: A dimension of personality. In the Handbook *of personality psychology* (pp. 795-824). Academic Press.
- Graziano, W. G., & Tobin, R. M. (2009). Agreeableness. In M. R. Leary & R. H. Hoyle (Eds.), Handbook of individual differences in social behavior (pp. 46–61). The Guilford Press.
- Grist, C. L., & McCord, D. M. (2010). Individual differences in preschool children: temperament or personality? *Infant and Child Development: An International Journal of Research and Practice*, 19(3), 264-274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.663</u>
- Grist, C. L., Socha, A., & McCord, D. M. (2012). The M5–PS–35: A five-factor personality questionnaire for preschool children. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 94(3), 287-295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2011.653063</u>
- Grover, S., Sahoo, S., Mehra, A., Avasthi, A., Tripathi, A., Subramanyan, A., ... & Reddy, Y. J. (2020). Psychological impact of COVID-19 lockdown: An online survey from India. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, 62(4), 354-362.

http://dx.doi.org/10.4103/psychiatry.IndianJPsychiatry 427 20

- Guenole, N., & Chernyshenko, O. S. (2005). The Suitability of Goldberg's Big Five IPIP Personality Markers in New Zealand: A Dimensionality, Bias, and Criterion Validity Evaluation. New Zealand Journal of Psychology, 34(2).
- Gupta, K., & Parimal, B. S. (2020). Relationship between personality dimensions and psychological well-being among university students during pandemic lockdown. *Journal of Global Resources Volume*, 6(01a). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.46587/JGR.2020.v06si01.002</u>

- Hakulinen, C., Elovainio, M., Pulkki-Råback, L., Virtanen, M., Kivimäki, M., & Jokela, M.
  (2015). Personality and depressive symptoms: Individual participant meta-analysis of 10 cohort studies. *Depression and Anxiety*, 32(7), 461-470. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/da.22376</u>
- Halverson, C. F., Jr., Kohnstamm, G. A., & Martin, R. P. (Eds.). (1994). The developing structure of temperament and personality from infancy to adulthood. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9781315806853</u>
- Halverson, C. F., Havill, V. L., Deal, J., Baker, S. R., Victor, J. B., Pavlopoulos, V., ... & Wen, L. (2003). Personality structure as derived from parental ratings of free descriptions of children: The Inventory of Child Individual Differences. *Journal of Personality*, *71*(6), 995-1026. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.7106005
- Hulsey, J., Mellis, A., & Kelly, B. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic impact on patients, families and individuals in recovery from substance use disorders. In *Addiction Policy Forum*.
- Harris, K., English, T., Harms, P. D., Gross, J. J., Jackson, J. J., & Back, M. (2017). Why Are Extraverts More Satisfied? Personality, Social Experiences, and Subjective Well–Being in College. *European Journal of Personality*, 31(2), 170-186.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/per.2101

Hoffmann, M. D., Lang, J. J., Guerrero, M. D., Cameron, J. D., Goldfield, G. S., Orpana, H. M., & De Groh, M. (2020). Evaluating the psychometric properties of the parent-rated Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire in a nationally representative sample of Canadian children and adolescents aged 6 to 17 years. *Health Rep*, *31*, 13-20.

https://www.doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x202000800002-eng

Holingue, C., Badillo-Goicoechea, E., Riehm, K. E., Veldhuis, C. B., Thrul, J., Johnson, R. M., ...& Kalb, L. G. (2020). Mental distress during the COVID-19 pandemic among US adults

without a pre-existing mental health condition: findings from American trend panel survey. *Preventive Medicine*, *139*, 106231. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106231

- Hölscher, A. (2021). The Relationship between Openness to Experience and Well-being in times of Corona (Master's thesis, University of Twente).
- Homann, J. (2019). An Investigation into the Role of Risk Opportunity in the Relationship between Delinquency and Extraversion (Bachelor's thesis, University of Twente).
- Hossain, M. M., Tasnim, S., Sultana, A., Faizah, F., Mazumder, H., Zou, L., ... & Ma, P. (2020). Epidemiology of mental health problems in COVID-19: a review. *F1000Research*, 9. http://dx.doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.24457.1
- Hudek-Knežević, J., & Kardum, I. (2009). Five-factor personality dimensions and 3 health-related personality constructs as predictors of health. *Croatian Medical Journal*, 50(4), 394-402. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3325/cmj.2009.50.394</u>
- Hwang, T. J., Rabheru, K., Peisah, C., Reichman, W., & Ikeda, M. (2020). Loneliness and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 32(10), 1217-1220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610220000988</u>
- IBM Corp. (2020). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows (Version 26.0) [Computer software]. IBM Corp.
- IBM Corp. (2021). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows (Version 27.0) [Computer software]. IBM Corp.
- Idoiaga, N., Berasategi, N., Eiguren, A., & Picaza, M. (2020). Exploring children's social and emotional representations of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1952. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2020.01952</u>

- Jacobsson, P., Hopwood, C. J., Söderpalm, B., & Nilsson, T. (2021). Adult ADHD and emerging models of maladaptive personality: a meta-analytic review. *BMC psychiatry*, 21(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-021-03284-1</u>
- Janowsky, D. S. (2001). Introversion and Extraversion: implications for depression and suicidality. Current Psychiatry Reports, 3(6), 444-450. DOI: 10.1007/s11920-001-0037-7
- Jensen-Campbell, L. A., Adams, R., Perry, D. G., Workman, K. A., Furdella, J. Q., & Egan, S. K. (2002). Agreeableness, extraversion, and peer relations in early adolescence: Winning friends and deflecting aggression. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 36(3), 224-251. https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.2002.2348
- Jiao, W. Y., Wang, L. N., Liu, J., Fang, S. F., Jiao, F. Y., Pettoello-Mantovani, M., & Somekh, E.
  (2020). Behavioral and emotional disorders in children during the COVID-19 epidemic. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 221, 264-266. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.03.013</u>
- John, O. P., Naumann, L. P., & Soto, C. J. (2008). Paradigm shift to the integrative big five trait taxonomy. *Handbook of personality: Theory and research*, *3*(2), 114-158.
- John, O. P., & Srivastava, S. (1999). The Big-Five trait taxonomy: History, measurement, and theoretical perspectives.102-138.
- Jorm, A. F., Christensen, H., Henderson, A. S., Jacomb, P. A., Korten, A. E., & Rodgers, B. (2000). Predicting anxiety and depression from personality: Is there a synergistic effect of Neuroticism and Extraversion? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 109(1), 145. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.109.1.145</u>
- Jylhä, P., & Isometsä, E. (2006). The relationship of Neuroticism and extraversion to symptoms of anxiety and depression in the general population. *Depression and Anxiety*, 23(5), 281–289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20167</u>

- Jylhä, P., Melartin, T., & Isometsä, E. (2009). Relationships of Neuroticism and extraversion with axis I and II comorbidity among patients with DSM-IV major depressive disorder. *Journal* of Affective Disorders, 114(1-3), 110-121. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.06.011</u>
- Kang, S., Sun, Y., Zhang, X., Sun, F., Wang, B., & Zhu, W. (2021). Is physical activity associated with mental health among Chinese adolescents during isolation in COVID-19 pandemic? *Journal of Epidemiology and Global Health*, 11(1), 26.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2991/jegh.k.200908.001

- Kaufman, S. B. (2013). Opening up Openness to experience: A four-factor model and relations to creative achievement in the arts and sciences. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 47(4), 233-255. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jocb.33</u>
- Kendler, K. S., Myers, J., & Zisook, S. (2011). The genetic epidemiology of major depression: review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 168(10), 833-845. http://dx.doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.157.10.1552
- Keyes, C. L. M. (1998). Social well-being. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 61(2), 121–140. https://doi.org/10.2307/2787065
- Keyes, C. L. (2005). Mental illness and/or mental health? Investigating axioms of the complete state model of health. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73(3), 539. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.539
- Keyes, C. L., Shmotkin, D., & Ryff, C. D. (2002). Optimizing well-being: the empirical encounter of two traditions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(6), 1007. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.6.1007</u>
- Keyes, C. L., Wissing, M., Potgieter, J. P., Temane, M., Kruger, A., & Van Rooy, S. (2008). Evaluation of the mental health continuum–short form (MHC–SF) in setswana-speaking
South Africans. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *15*(3), 181-192. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cpp.572

- Kim, M., Chen, J. L., Kools, S., & Weiss, S. (2016). The impact of personality traits and acculturation on the mental health of Korean American adolescents. *Psychology*, 7(09), 1256. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/psych.2016.79128</u>
- Khosravi, M. (2020). Neuroticism as a Marker of Vulnerability to COVID-19 Infection. *Psychiatry Investigation*, *17*(7), 710. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.30773/pi.2020.0199</u>
- Knouse, L. E., Traeger, L., O'Cleirigh, C., & Safren, S. A. (2013). Adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms and five-factor model traits in a clinical sample: a structural equation modeling approach. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 201(10), 848-854. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0b013e3182a5bf33</u>
- Kochanska, G., & Kim, S. (2020). Children's early difficulty and Agreeableness in adolescence: Testing a developmental model of interplay of parent and child effects. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(8), 1556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0001023</u>
- Kohnstamm, G. A., Halverson Jr, C. F., Mervielde, I., & Havill, V. L. (Eds.). (1998). Parental descriptions of child personality: Developmental antecedents of the Big Five? Psychology Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410601223</u>
- Komulainen, K. (2015). Association of personality with adolescent delinquency in a context of deviant socialization: Persoonallisuuden yhteys nuorisorikollisuuteen rikollisen sosialisaation kontekstissa (Doctoral dissertation, University of Helsinki).
- Kooraki, S., Hosseiny, M., Myers, L., & Gholamrezanezhad, A. (2020). Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak: what the department of radiology should know. *Journal of the American College* of Radiology, 17(4), 447-451. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2020.02.008</u>

- Kotov, R., Gamez, W., Schmidt, F., & Watson, D. (2010). Linking "big" personality traits to anxiety, depressive, and substance use disorders: a meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(5), 768. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020327</u>
- Kourti, A., Stavridou, A., Panagouli, E., Psaltopoulou, T., Spiliopoulou, C., Tsolia, M., ... & Tsitsika, A. (2021). Domestic violence during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 24(2), 719-745.
  http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/15248380211038690
- Krishna, U. (1993). Adolescent's delinquent behavior and personality. *Indian Journal of Criminology*, *21*(3), 90-94.
- Kroencke, L., Geukes, K., Utesch, T., Kuper, N., & Back, M. D. (2020). Neuroticism and emotional risk during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 89,

104038. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2020.104038

- Kumar, A., & Nayar, K. R. (2021). COVID 19 and its mental health consequences. Journal of Mental Health, 30(1), 1-2. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2020.1757052
- Lahey, B. B. (2009). Public health significance of Neuroticism. *American Psychologist*, 64(4), 241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015309</u>
- Laursen, B., Hafen, C. A., Rubin, K. H., Booth-LaForce, C., & Rose-Krasnor, L. (2010). The distinctive difficulties of disagreeable youth. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly (1982-)*, 80-103. doi: <u>10.1353/mpq.0.0040</u>
- Laursen, B, Pulkkinen L, & Adams R (2002). The antecedents and correlates of Agreeableness in adulthood. *Developmental Psychology*, 38(4), 591–603. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0012-</u> <u>1649.38.4.591</u>

- Lamers, S. M., Westerhof, G. J., Bohlmeijer, E. T., ten Klooster, P. M., & Keyes, C. L. (2011).
   Evaluating the psychometric properties of the mental health continuum-short form (MHC-SF). *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 67(1), 99-110. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20741</u>
- Lamers, S. M., Westerhof, G. J., Kovács, V., & Bohlmeijer, E. T. (2012). Differential relationships in the association of the Big Five personality traits with positive mental health and psychopathology. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 46(5), 517-524. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2012.05.012
- Lang, F. R., Staudinger, U. M., & Carstensen, L. L. (1998). Perspectives on socioemotional selectivity in late life: How personality and social context do (and do not) make a difference. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 53(1), P21-P30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/53B.1.P21</u>
- Lasky-Su, J. A., Faraone, S. V., Glatt, S. J., & Tsuang, M. T. (2005). Meta-analysis of the association between two polymorphisms in the serotonin transporter gene and affective disorders. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics*, *133*(1), 110-115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30104</u>
- Leary, M. R., & Hoyle, R. H. (Eds.). (2009). *Handbook of individual differences in social behavior*. Guilford Press.
- Lee, R. M., Dean, B. L., & Jung, K. R. (2008). Social connectedness, extraversion, and subjective well-being: Testing a mediation model. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 45(5), 414-419. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2008.05.017</u>
- Lee, S. A., Jobe, M. C., Mathis, A. A., & Gibbons, J. A. (2020). Incremental validity of coronaphobia: Coronavirus anxiety explains depression, generalized anxiety, and death

anxiety. Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 74, 102268.

## http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102268

- LePine, J. A. (2003). Team adaptation and postchange performance: effects of team composition in terms of members' cognitive ability and personality. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 27. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.1.27</u>
- Lei, L., Huang, X., Zhang, S., Yang, J., Yang, L., & Xu, M. (2020). Comparison of prevalence and associated factors of anxiety and depression among people affected by versus people unaffected by quarantine during the COVID-19 epidemic in Southwestern China. *Medical Science Monitor: International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research*, 26, e924609-1. http://dx.doi.org/10.12659/MSM.924609
- Li, M., Ahmed, M. Z., Hiramoni, F. A., Zhou, A., Ahmed, O., & Griffiths, M. D. (2021). Mental health and personality traits during COVID-19 in China: a latent profile analysis. *International journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(16), 8693. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18168693</u>
- Lim, B. C., & Ployhart, R. E. (2006). Assessing the convergent and discriminant validity of Goldberg's International Personality Item Pool: A multitrait-multimethod examination.
   Organizational Research Methods, 9(1), 29-54.
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1094428105283193">http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1094428105283193</a>
- Liu, S., Lithopoulos, A., Zhang, C. Q., Garcia-Barrera, M. A., & Rhodes, R. E. (2020). Personality and perceived stress during COVID-19 pandemic: Testing the mediating role of perceived threat and efficacy. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 168, 110351. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110351

Liu, T., Liu, Z., Zhang, L., & Mu, S. (2022). Dispositional mindfulness mediates the relationship between Conscientiousness and mental health-related issues in adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 184, 111223. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2021.111223</u>

Lo, C. F., Leung, F. K. Y., Lui, C. P. F., & Ng, E. C. B. (2022). Predictive Effect of Extraversion and Neuroticism on Mental Health during the Covid-19 Pandemic in Hong Kong: The Mediating Role of Coping Strategies. *Psychology*, *13*(9), 1391-1412. http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/psych.2022.139089

- Lucas, R. E., Le, K., & Dyrenforth, P. S. (2008). Explaining the extraversion/positive affect relation: Sociability cannot account for extraverts' greater happiness. *Journal of Personality*, 76(3), 385-414. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2008.00490.x</u>
- Lynam, D. R., & Miller, J. D. (2019). On the ubiquity and importance of antagonism. In *The Handbook of Antagonism* (pp. 1-24). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-</u> 814627-9.00001-3
- Magnus, K., Diener, E., Fujita, F., & Pavot, W. (1993). Extraversion and Neuroticism as predictors of objective life events: a longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65(5), 1046. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.65.5.1046</u>
- Malouff, J. M., Thorsteinsson, E. B., & Schutte, N. S. (2005). The relationship between the fivefactor model of personality and symptoms of clinical disorders: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 27(2), 101-114.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10862-005-5384-y

Marchand-Senécal, X., Kozak, R., Mubareka, S., Salt, N., Gubbay, J. B., Eshaghi, A., ... & Leis, J. A. (2020). Diagnosis and management of first case of COVID-19 in Canada: lessons

applied from SARS-CoV-1. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 71(16), 2207-2210. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa227

Martel, M. M. (2009). Research review: A new perspective on attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Emotion dysregulation and trait models. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 50(9), 1042-1051. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02105.x</u>

Martel, M. M., Nigg, J. T., & Von Eye, A. (2009). How do trait dimensions map onto ADHD symptom domains? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 37(3), 337-348. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10802-008-9255-3</u>

- Martel, M. M., Nigg, J. T., & Lucas, R. E. (2008). Trait mechanisms in youth with and without attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(4), 895-913. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2007.12.004</u>
- Martel, M. M., Nikolas, M., Jernigan, K., Friderici, K., & Nigg, J. T. (2010). Personality mediation of genetic effects on attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 38(5), 633-643. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10802-010-9392-3
- Matthews, G., Deary, I. J., & Whiteman, M. C. (2003). *Personality traits*. Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511812736</u>
- Mervielde, I., & Asendorpf, J. B. (2014). Variable-centred and person centred approaches to childhood personality. In *Advances in personality psychology* (pp. 37-76). Psychology Press.
- Matthews, K. A., Hall, M. H., Cousins, J., & Lee, L. (2016). Getting a good night's sleep in adolescence: Do strategies for coping with stress matter? *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, *14*(4), 367-377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2015.1007994</u>

- McCabe, K. O., & Fleeson, W. (2012). What is extraversion for? Integrating trait and motivational perspectives and identifying the purpose of extraversion. *Psychological Science*, 23(12), 1498-1505. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0956797612444904</u>
- McCrae, R. R. (1987). Creativity, divergent thinking, and Openness to experience. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 52(6), 1258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> 3514.52.6.1258
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T. (1987). Validation of the five-factor model of personality across instruments and observers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(1), 81. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.1.81
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T. (1991). The NEO Personality Inventory: Using the Five-Factor Model in counseling. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 69(4), 367–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1991.tb01524.x
- McCrae, R. R. (1993). Openness to experience as a basic dimension of personality. Imagination, Cognition and Personality, 13(1), 39-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/H8H6-QYKR-KEU8-GAQ0</u>
- McCrae, R. R. & Costa Jr, P. T. (1997). Personality trait structure as a human universal. *American Psychologist*, 52(5), 509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.52.5.509</u>
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T., Jr. (2008). The five-factor theory of personality. In O. P. John, R.
  W. Robins, & L. A. Pervin (Eds.), *Handbook of personality: Theory and research* (pp. 159–181). The Guilford Press.
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. J. (2013). Introduction to the empirical and theoretical status of the five-factor model of personality traits. In T. A. Widiger, P. J. Costa, T. A. Widiger, P. J. 41 Costa (Eds.), Personality disorders and the five-factor model of personality (3rd ed.)(pp.

15-27). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association.

DOI: 10.4135/9781849200462.n13

- McNamara, L. (2021). Redesigning the recess experience: Lessons from COVID-19. *Royal Society* of Canada. https://doi.org/10.1139/facets-2021-0081
- Michinov, E., & Michinov, N. (2021). Stay at home! When personality profiles influence mental health and creativity during the COVID-19 lockdown. *Current Psychology*, 1-12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-01885-3</u>
- Miller, C. J., Miller, S. R., Newcorn, J. H., & Halperin, J. M. (2008). Personality characteristics associated with persistent ADHD in late adolescence. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 36(2), 165-173. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9167-7</u>
- Mitchell, L. L., Zmora, R., Finlay, J. M., Jutkowitz, E., & Gaugler, J. E. (2021). Do Big Five Personality Traits Moderate the Effects of Stressful Life Events on Health Trajectories? Evidence From the Health and Retirement Study. *The journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 76(1), 44–55.

https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbaa075

- Modersitzki, N., Phan, L. V., Kuper, N., & Rauthmann, J. F. (2020). Who is impacted? Personality predicts individual differences in psychological consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 1948550620952576. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1948550620952576
- Moore, S. A., Faulkner, G., Rhodes, R. E., Brussoni, M., Chulak-Bozzer, T., Ferguson, L. J., ... & Tremblay, M. S. (2020). Impact of the COVID-19 virus outbreak on movement and play behaviours of Canadian children and youth: a national survey. *International Journal of*

*Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *17*(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30307-2</u>

- Moos, R. H., & Holahan, C. J. (2003). Dispositional and contextual perspectives on coping: Toward an integrative framework. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59(12), 1387-1403. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jclp.10229
- Moreno, C., Wykes, T., Galderisi, S., Nordentoft, M., Crossley, N., Jones, N., ... & Arango, C. (2020). How mental health care should change as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(9), 813-824.
- Morin, C. M., Bjorvatn, B., Chung, F., Holzinger, B., Partinen, M., Penzel, T., ... & Espie, C. A. (2021). Insomnia, anxiety, and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic: an international collaborative study. *Sleep Medicine*, 87, 38-45.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2021.07.035

- Morizot, J. (2015). The Contribution of Temperament and Personality Traits to Criminal and Antisocial Behavior Development and Desistance. *The Development of Criminal and Antisocial Behavior*, 137-165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08720-7\_10</u>
- Morrone, J. V., Depue, R. A., Scherer, A. J., & White, T. L. (2000). Film-induced incentive motivation and positive activation in relation to agentic and affiliative components of extraversion. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 29(2), 199-216. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00187-7
- Mõttus, R., Realo, A., Allik, J., Esko, T., & Metspalu, A. (2012). History of the diagnosis of a sexually transmitted disease is linked to normal variation in personality traits. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 9(11), 2861-2867. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2012.02891.x

- Mulder, S. F., & van Aken, M. A. (2014). Socially anxious children at risk for victimization: The role of personality. *Social Development*, 23(4), 719-733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.10.053
- Murray, G., Gottlieb, J., & Swartz, H. A. (2021). Maintaining daily routines to stabilize mood: theory, data, and potential intervention for circadian consequences of COVID-19. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 66(1), 9-13. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0706743720957825</u>
- Nave, C. S., Edmonds, G. W., Hampson, S. E., Murzyn, T., & Sauerberger, K. S. (2017). From elementary school to midlife: Childhood personality predicts behavior during cognitive testing over four decades later. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 67, 183-189. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2016.10.001
- Nikčević, A. V., Marino, C., Kolubinski, D. C., Leach, D., & Spada, M. M. (2020). Modelling the contribution of the Big Five personality traits, health anxiety, and COVID-19 psychological distress to generalised anxiety and depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 279, 578-584.
- Ng, W., & Kang, S. H. (2022). Predictors of well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic: The importance of financial satisfaction and Neuroticism. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 50(7), 2771-2789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22795</u>
- Nigg, J. T. (2010). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Endophenotypes, structure, and etiological pathways. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 19(1), 24-29. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0963721409359282</u>
- Nigg, J. T., John, O. P., Blaskey, L. G., Huang-Pollock, C. L., Willcutt, E. G., Hinshaw, S. P., & Pennington, B. (2002). Big five dimensions and ADHD symptoms: links between personality

traits and clinical symptoms. Journal of personality and social psychology, 83(2), 451. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.2.451

Nguyen, H. V., Koo, K. H., Granato, H. F., & George, W. H. (2013). Understanding individual variation in student alcohol use. In *Interventions for addiction*. Academic Press. 955-965.

## http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-398338-1.00096-8

- O'connor, M., & Cuevas, J. (1982). The relationship of children's prosocial behavior to social responsibility, prosocial reasoning, and personality. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *140*(1), 33-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.1982.10534173</u>
- Odachi, R., Takahashi, S., Sugawara, D., Tabata, M., Kajiwara, T., Hironishi, M., & Buyo, M. (2022). The Big Five personality traits and the fear of COVID-19 in predicting depression and anxiety among Japanese nurses caring for COVID-19 patients: A cross-sectional study in Wakayama prefecture. *Plos one*, *17*(10), e0276803. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276803
- Oshio, A., Taku, K., Hirano, M., & Saeed, G. (2018). Resilience and Big Five personality traits: A meta-analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 127, 54-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.01.048
- Otonari, J., Nagano, J., Morita, M., Budhathoki, S., Tashiro, N., Toyomura, K., Takayanagi, R. (2012). Neuroticism and extraversion personality traits, health behaviours, and subjective well-being: The Fukuoka Study (Japan). Quality of Life Research, 21(10), 1847–1855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-011-0098-y</u>
- Ozer, D. J., & Benet-Martinez, V. (2006). Personality and the prediction of consequential outcomes. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.*, 57, 401-421. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.57.102904.190127

- Page, J., Hinshaw, D., & McKay, B. (2021). In Hunt for Covid-19 Origin, Patient Zero Points to Second Wuhan Market–The man with the first confirmed infection of the new coronavirus told the WHO team that his parents had shopped there. *The Wall Street Journal*, *26*.
  Retrieved from: <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/in-hunt-for-covid-19-origin-patient-zero-</u> points-to-second-wuhan-market-11614335404
- Patel, N. A. (2020). Pediatric COVID-19: Systematic review of the literature. American Journal of Otolaryngology, 41(5), 102573. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjoto.2020.102573</u>
- Pavot, W., Diener, E. D., & Fujita, F. (1990). Extraversion and happiness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 11(12), 1299-1306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(90)90157-M</u>
- Pennington, B. (2002). Big five dimensions and ADHD symptoms: links between personality traits and clinical symptoms. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83(2), 451. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.2.451
- Perugini, M. L. L., de la Iglesia, G., Solano, A. C., & Keyes, C. L. M. (2017). The mental health continuum–short form (MHC–SF) in the Argentinean context: Confirmatory factor analysis and measurement invariance. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, 13(1), 93. https://doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v13i1.1163
- Pervin, L. A. (2003). The science of personality. Oxford university press.
- Petrillo, G., Capone, V., Caso, D., & Keyes, C. L. (2015). The Mental Health Continuum–Short Form (MHC–SF) as a measure of well-being in the Italian context. *Social Indicators Research*, 121(1), 291-312. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11205-014-0629-3</u>
- Prati, G., & Mancini, A. D. (2021). The psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns: a review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies and natural experiments. *Psychological Medicine*, 51(2), 201-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291721000015</u>

- Proto, E., & Zhang, A. (2021). COVID-19 and mental health of individuals with different personalities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(37), e2109282118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2109282118</u>
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/cycle-2-symptoms-anxiety-depression-covid-19-pandemic.html</u>
- Ramaswamy, S., & Seshadri, S. (2020). Children on the brink: Risks for child protection, sexual abuse, and related mental health problems in the COVID-19 pandemic. Indian Journal of Psychiatry, 62(3), S404. DOI: 10.4103/psychiatry.IndianJPsychiatry 1032 20
- Rettew, D. C., McGinnis, E. W., Copeland, W., Nardone, H. Y., Bai, Y., Rettew, J., ... & Hudziak,J. J. (2021). Personality trait predictors of adjustment during the COVID pandemic among college students. *PLoS One*, *16*(3), e0248895.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248895

- Reuters (2020). *No parties, no problem: Introverts don't mind sheltering at home.* Available online at: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-usa-introverts/no-parties-no-</u> <u>problem-introverts-dont-mind-sheltering-at-home-idUSKBN21N0D4</u> (accessed May 13, 2020).
- Roberti, J. W. (2004). A review of behavioral and biological correlates of sensation seeking. *Journal* of Research in Personality, 38(3), 256-279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-6566(03)00067-</u> <u>9</u>
- Roberts, B. W., Chernyshenko, O. S., Stark, S., & Goldberg, L. R. (2005). The structure of Conscientiousness: An empirical investigation based on seven major personality

questionnaires. *Personnel Psychology*, 58(1), 103-139. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2005.00301.x</u>

- Rosenberg, H. J., Jankowski, M. K., Fortuna, L. R., Rosenberg, S. D., & Mueser, K. T. (2011). A pilot study of a cognitive restructuring program for treating posttraumatic disorders in adolescents. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 3(1), 94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019889</u>
- Rosmalen, J. G., Neeleman, J., Gans, R. O., & de Jonge, P. (2007). The association between Neuroticism and self-reported common somatic symptoms in a population cohort. *Journal* of Psychosomatic Research, 62(3), 305-311.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.10.014

- Rothbart, M. K., Ahadi, S. A., & Evans, D. E. (2000). Temperament and personality: origins and outcomes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(1), 122. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.1.122</u>
- Ruiz, M. A., Pincus, A. L., & Schinka, J. A. (2008). Externalizing pathology and the five-factor model: A meta-analysis of personality traits associated with antisocial personality disorder, substance use disorder, and their co-occurrence. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 22(4), 365-388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2008.22.4.365</u>
- Ryff, C. D. (1989). Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 57(6), 1069. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069</u>
- Ryff, C. D., & Keyes, C. L. M. (1995). The structure of psychological well-being revisited. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 69(4), 719. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> <u>3514.69.4.719</u>

Salmon, C. (2012). Birth order, effect on personality, and behavior. *Encyclopedia of Human Behavior*, 353-359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28099-8\_1364-2</u>

- Saniasiaya, J., Islam, M. A., & Abdullah, B. (2021). Prevalence of olfactory dysfunction in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a meta-analysis of 27,492 patients. *The Laryngoscope*, 131(4), 865-878. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lary.29286</u>
- Sauer-Zavala, S., Wilner, J. G., & Barlow, D. H. (2017). Addressing Neuroticism in psychological treatment. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment, 8*(3), 191–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/per0000224</u>
- Schmutte, P. S., & Ryff, C. D. (1997). Personality and well-being: reexamining methods and meanings. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 73(3), 549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.73.3.549</u>
- Selfhout, M., Burk, W., Branje, S., Denissen, J., Van Aken, M., & Meeus, W. (2010). Emerging late adolescent friendship networks and Big Five personality traits: A social network approach. *Journal of Personality*, 78(2), 509-538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2010.00625.x</u>
- Serafini, G., Parmigiani, B., Amerio, A., Aguglia, A., Sher, L., & Amore, M. (2020 Aug). The psychological impact of COVID-19 on the mental health in the general population. *QJM Int J Med.*, 113(8), 531–537. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcaa201</u>
- Sexton, K. A., Norton, P. J., Walker, J. R., & Norton, G. R. (2003). Hierarchical model of generalized and specific vulnerabilities in anxiety. *Cognitive Behavior Therapy*, 32, 82–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16506070302321</u>

- Singer, A. J., Glenwick, D. S., & Danyko, S. (2000). Stress responses of adolescents in residential treatment: A research note. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*, 17(4), 67-82. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J007v17n04\_06</u>
- She, J., Liu, L., & Liu, W. (2020). COVID-19 epidemic: disease characteristics in children. Journal of Medical Virology, 92(7), 747-754. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25807</u>
- Shiner, R. L. (2000). Linking childhood personality with adaptation: evidence for continuity and change across time into late adolescence. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 78(2), 310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.2.310</u>
- Shokrkon, A., & Nicoladis, E. (2021). How personality traits of Neuroticism and Extroversion predict the effects of the COVID-19 on the mental health of Canadians. *Plos one*, 16(5), e0251097. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251097</u>
- Smillie, LD, Kern, ML, & Uljarevic, M. Extraversion (2019). Description, development, and mechanisms. In McAdams D. P., Shiner R. L., & Tackett J. L. (Eds.), Handbook of personality development. New York: Guilford Press.118–136.
- Smits, D. J., & Boeck, P. D. (2006). From BIS/BAS to the big five. European Journal of Personality, 20(4), 255-270. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/per.583
- Smith, J., Guimond, F. A., Bergeron, J., St-Amand, J., Fitzpatrick, C., & Gagnon, M. (2021). Changes in students' achievement motivation in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic: A function of extraversion/introversion? *Education Sciences*, 11(1), 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11010030</u>
- Smith, T. E., & Martel, M. M. (2019). Trait-based profiles of ADHD in adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 48(3), 440-454. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2018.1491004</u>

- Spinhoven, P., Elzinga, B. M., van Hemert, A. M., de Rooij, M., & Penninx, B. W. (2014). A longitudinal study of facets of extraversion in depression and social anxiety. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 71, 39-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.07.014</u>
- Sprang, G., & Silman, M. (2013). Posttraumatic stress disorder in parents and youth after healthrelated disasters. *Disaster medicine and public health preparedness*, 7(1), 105-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2013.22</u>
- Statistic Canada (2021). Survey on COVID-19 and Mental Health, February to May 2021. Retrievd from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210927/dq210927a-eng.htm</u>
- Statistics Canada (2021). Retrieved from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-631-x/11-631-x/11-631-x/2021001-eng.htm</u>
- Statistics Canada (2022). Retrieved from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-</u> <u>quotidien/220204/dq220204a-eng.htm</u>
- Steel, P., Schmidt, J., & Shultz, J. (2008). Refining the relationship between personality and subjective well-being. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(1), 138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.1.138</u>
- Strickhouser, J. E., Zell, E., & Krizan, Z. (2017). Does personality predict health and well-being?
  A metasynthesis. *Health Psychology*, 36(8), 797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000475</u>
- Stone, L. L., Janssens, J. M., Vermulst, A. A., Van Der Maten, M., Engels, R. C., & Otten, R. (2015). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: psychometric properties of the parent and teacher version in children aged 4–7. *BMC Psychology*, 3(1), 1-12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40359-015-0061-8</u>

- Sutin, A. R., Luchetti, M., Aschwanden, D., Lee, J. H., Sesker, A. A., Strickhouser, J. E., ... & Terracciano, A. (2020). Change in five-factor model personality traits during the acute phase of the coronavirus pandemic. *PloS One*, *15*(8), e0237056. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237056</u>
- Swickert, R. J., Rosentreter, C. J., Hittner, J. B., & Mushrush, J. E. (2002). Extraversion, social support processes, and stress. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 32(5), 877-891. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00093-9</u>
- Tackett, J. L., Martel, M. M., & Kushner, S. C. (2015). Temperament, Externalizing Disorders, and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. In M. Zentner, & R. L. Shiner (Eds.), *Handbook of Temperament* (pp. 562-580). The Guilford Press.
- Tan, C. S., Krishnan, S. A. P., & Lee, Q. W. (2017). The role of self-esteem and social support in the relationship between extraversion and happiness: A serial mediation model. *Current Psychology*, 36, 556-564. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12144-016-9444-0
- Tariq, F. T., & Naqvi, I. (2020). Relationship between personality traits and prosocial behavior among adolescents. Foundation University Journal of Psychology, 4(2), 54-63.
- Taylor, S. E., & Broffman, J. I. (2011). Psychosocial resources: Functions, origins, and links to mental and physical health. In J. M. Olson & M. P. Zanna (Eds.), *Advances in experimental social psychology*, Vol. 44, pp. 1–57). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-</u> 385522-0.00001-9
- Tett, R. P., & Guterman, H. A. (2000). Situation trait relevance, trait expression, and crosssituational consistency: Testing a principle of trait activation. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 34(4), 397-423. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.2000.2292</u>

- Theberath, M., Bauer, D., Chen, W., Salinas, M., Mohabbat, A. B., Yang, J., ... & Wahner-Roedler, D. L. (2022). Effects of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health of children and adolescents: A systematic review of survey studies. *SAGE Open Medicine*, *10*, 20503121221086712. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/20503121221086712</u>
- Tiet, Q. Q., Bird, H. R., Hoven, C. W., Moore, R., Wu, P., Wicks, J., ... & Cohen, P. (2001).
   Relationship between specific adverse life events and psychiatric disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 29, 153-164. DOI: <u>10.1023/A:1005288130494</u>
- Thibaut, F., & van Wijngaarden-Cremers, P. J. (2020). Women's mental health in the time of Covid-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Global Women's Health*, *1*, 588372.
- The Conversation (2020). *Personalities that thrive in isolation and what we can all learn from time alone*. Available online at: <u>https://theconversation.com/personalities-that-thrive-in-isolation-and-what-we-can-all-learn-from-time-alone-135307 (accessed May 13, 2020).</u>
- Thompson, E. R. (2008). Development and validation of an international English big-five minimarkers. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 45(6), 542-548.
  <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2008.06.013</u>
- Tran, U. S., Wasserbauer, J., & Voracek, M. (2020). Testing the incremental validity of dispositional mindfulness over and above the Big Five in accounting for mental health: A facet-level structural-equation modeling and predictor communality and dominance approach.
   *Personality* and Individual Differences, 156, 109769.
   <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.109769</u>

Usher, K., Durkin, J., & Bhullar, N. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic and mental health impacts. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 29(3), 315. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/inm.12726</u>

Vahia, I. V., Jeste, D. V., & Reynolds, C. F. (2020). Older adults and the mental health effects of COVID-19. *Jama*, 324(22), 2253-2254. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.21753</u>

Vaillancourt, T., Szatmari, P., Georgiades, K., & Krygsman, A. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on the mental health of Canadian children and youth. *Facets*, 6(1), 1628-1648. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/facets-2021-0078</u>

- Van Berkel, H. K. (2009). The relationship between personality, coping styles and stress, anxiety and depression (Master's thesis in Psychology, the University of Canterbury).
- Viner, R. M., Russell, S. J., Croker, H., Packer, J., Ward, J., Stansfield, C., ... & Booy, R. (2020).
  School closure and management practices during coronavirus outbreaks including COVID-19: a rapid systematic review. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(5), 397-404.
  <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30095-X">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30095-X</a>
- Vollrath, M., & Torgersen, S. (2000). Personality types and coping. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 29(2), 367-378. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00199-3</u>
- Wade, M., Prime, H., Johnson, D., May, S. S., Jenkins, J. M., & Browne, D. T. (2021). The disparate impact of COVID-19 on the mental health of female and male caregivers. *Social Science & Medicine*, 275, 113801. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113801</u>
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., McIntyre, C. W., & Hamaker, S. (1992). Affect, personality, and social activity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63(6), 1011. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.63.6.1011</u>

- Watson, D., & Clark, L. A. (1997). Extraversion and its positive emotional core. In the Handbook of personality psychology (pp. 767-793). Academic Press. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-012134645-4/50030-5</u>
- Walker, D. L. (2020). Extraversion–introversion. The Wiley Encyclopedia of Personality and Individual Differences: Models and Theories, 159-163. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9781118970843.ch28
- Wang, C., Horby, P. W., Hayden, F. G., & Gao, G. F. (2020). A novel coronavirus outbreak of global health concern. *The Lancet*, 395(10223), 470-473. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-</u> 6736(20)30185-9
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., McIntyre, C. W., & Hamaker, S. (1992). Affect, personality, and social activity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63(6), 1011. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.63.6.1011</u>
- Wehner, C., Schils, T., & Borghans, L. (2016). Personality and mental health: The role and substitution effect of emotional stability and Conscientiousness. SSRN. 10337. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2864838</u>
- Wei, M. (2020). Social Distancing and Lockdown–An Introvert's Paradise? An Empirical Investigation on the Association Between Introversion and the Psychological Impact of COVID19-Related Circumstantial Changes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 2440. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.561609
- Westerhof, G. J., & Keyes, C. L. (2010). Mental illness and mental health: The two continua model across the lifespan. *Journal of Adult Development*, 17, 110-119. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10804-009-9082-y</u>

- Widiger, T. A., & Oltmanns, J. R. (2017). Neuroticism is a fundamental domain of personality with enormous public health implications. *World Psychiatry*, 16(2), 144. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/wps.20411</u>
- Wijngaards, I., de Zilwa, S. C. S., & Burger, M. J. (2020). Extraversion moderates the relationship between the stringency of COVID-19 protective measures and depressive symptoms. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.568907</u>
- Williams, P. G. (2004). The psychopathology of self-assessed health: A cognitive approach to health anxiety and hypochondriasis. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 28(5), 629-644. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/B:COTR.0000045569.25096.44
- Williams, S. N., Armitage, C. J., Tampe, T., & Dienes, K. (2020). Public perceptions and experiences of social distancing and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic: A UK-based focus group study. *BMJ open*, 10(7), e039334.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039334

- Wilson, R. E., Harris, K., & Vazire, S. (2015). Personality and friendship satisfaction in daily life:
  Do every day social interactions account for individual differences in friendship
  satisfaction? *European Journal of Personality*, 29(2), 173-186.
  http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/per.1996
- Woodcock, A., Graziano, W. G., Branch, S. E., Habashi, M. M., Ngambeki, I., & Evangelou, D.
  (2013). Person and thing orientations: Psychological correlates and predictive utility. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 4(1), 116-123.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1948550612444320

World Health Organization. (2005a). Promoting mental health: concepts, emerging evidence, practice: a report of the World Health Organization, Department of Mental Health and

Substance Abuse in collaboration with the Victorian Health Promotion Foundation and the University of Melbourne.

- World Health Organization. Emergency Committee. Statement on the second meeting of the International Health Regulations (2005b) Emergency Committee regarding the outbreak of novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV). Geneva: WHO; 30 January 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/30-01-2020-statement-on-the-second-meeting-of-</u> <u>the-international-health-regulations-(2005)-emergency-committee-regarding-the-outbreak-</u> <u>of-novel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov)</u>
- World Health Organization (2005c). *Mental health atlas 2005*. Department of Mental Health, Substance Abuse. Mental Health Evidence, & Research Team.
- World Health Organization. (2018). Mental health: strengthening our response. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-</u> <u>response</u>
- World Health Organization. (2020a). Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak, 18 March 2020 (No. WHO/2019-nCoV/MentalHealth/2020.1). World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2020b). *Helping children cope with stress during the 2019 n-CoV outbreak*. World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland.
- World Health Organization. (2020). Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak, 18 March 2020 (No. WHO/2019-nCoV/MentalHealth/2020.1). World Health Organization.

 World Health Organization (2020). WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 March 11, 2020. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.who.int/dg/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-</u> media-briefing-on-covid-19%2D%2D-11-march-2020. (13 Oct 2022)

- Wolff, B. C., Santiago, C. D., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2009). Poverty and involuntary engagement stress responses: Examining the link to anxiety and aggression within low-income families. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 22(3), 309-325. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10615800802430933
- Yeo, Z. Z., & Suárez, L. (2022). Validation of the mental health continuum-short form: The bifactor model of emotional, social, and psychological well-being. *Plos One*, 17(5), e0268. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0268232
- Xie, X., Xue, Q., Zhou, Y., Zhu, K., Liu, Q., Zhang, J., & Song, R. (2020). Mental health status among children in home confinement during the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak in Hubei Province, China. JAMA Pediatrics, 174(9), 898-900.

10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.1619

- Zajenkowski, M., Jonason, P. K., Leniarska, M., & Kozakiewicz, Z. (2020). Who complies with the restrictions to reduce the spread of COVID-19? Personality and perceptions of the COVID-19 situation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *166*, 110199. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110199
- Zelenski, J. M., Sobocko, K., & Whelan, D. C. (2014). Introversion, solitude, and subjective wellbeing. *The handbook of solitude: Psychological perspectives on social isolation, social withdrawal, and being alone*, 184-201. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9781118427378.ch11</u>
- Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Lyu, H., Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., & Luo, J. (2021). The influence of COVID-19 on the well-being of people: big data methods for capturing the well-being of working

adults and protective factors nationwide. Frontiers in Psychology, 12, 2327.

http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.681091